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The Director General,
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Date: November 25, 2024

Subject: Power supply agreement - between SECI and the AP State Government -
bribery involved - registering case under PC Act and investigate - request - reg.

Respected Sir,

I am Nalamotu Chakravarthy, President of Centre for Liberty, a civil society organization
dedicated to promoting transparency, low taxation, and limited government regulation. | am submitting
this complaint to seek a thorough and impartial investigation into a matter of grave public concern.

On December 1, 2021, the Government of Andhra Pradesh and its distribution companies
(DISCOMSs) entered into a Power Sale Agreement with the Solar Energy Corporation of India (SECI) to
purchase electricity at a rate of Rs. 2.42/kWh, with an additional trading margin of Rs. 0.07/kWh, for a
period of 25 years. Around the same time, the Gujarat government secured an agreement for solar
power at a significantly lower rate of Rs. 1.99/kWh.

Though it was evident at the time that the people of Andhra Pradesh were being forced to pay
higher prices for solar power purchases, no evidence of corruption was found. However, recent
revelations have shed new light on the matter, prompting this complaint.

On November 20, 2024, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filed a complaint
in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York, alleging that Gautam Adani, founder of
Adani Green, bribed the then Chief Minister of Andhra Pradesh (Shri Y. S. Jagan Mohan Reddy), to
secure favorable terms for the solar power deal. According to the SEC's complaint (Civil Action No. 24-
CV-8081), it was revealed that Rs. 1,750 crore (approximately $200 million) was paid as bribes in
connection with the 7,000 MW power purchase agreement. The two complaints filed by SEC are
available online at_https://www.sec.gov/files/litigation/complaints/2024/comp-pr2024-181.pdf and at

https://www.sec.gov/files/litigation/complaints/2024/comp-pr2024-181-1.pdf.



https://www.sec.gov/files/litigation/complaints/2024/comp-pr2024-181.pdf

The SEC complaint (enclosed herewith) states, in paragraph 54:
"For example, Andhra Pradesh negotiated to purchase 7,000 MW of power from SECI under a PSA. As
part of that agreement—and consistent with what was communicated to Azure executives during in-
person meetings in Ahmedabad—the rate of 25 lakh (or "25L," with one lakh equal to 100,000 rupees)
per megawatt was used to calculate the amounts promised or paid to officials in Andhra Pradesh. That
is, 7,000 megawatts multiplied by 25 lakh, which equals 17.5 billion rupees, or 1,750 crore (a multiple of
ten billion rupees)—i.e., more than $200 million. As the record indicates, these Andhra Pradesh officials
included the Chief Minister (or "CM")."

Further, the Department of Justice in the U.S. has filed a criminal case (Cr. No. 24-CR-433)
against Gautam Adani, Sagar Adani, and several of their associates, accusing them of violating U.S. law.
The same is available online, the relevant link being https://www.justice.gov/usao-
edny/media/1377806/dI?inline

Mr.Gautam Adani met the then Chief Minister Sri Y.S.Jagan Mohan Reddy in 2021 for
negotiations on PSAs. After such negotiations, taking into consideration of demand by the then CM and
the officials concerned, the Adani group for gaining undue advantage by entering into PSAs for purchase
of power, has made a payment of Rs.1,750 Crores to the officials of Andhra Pradesh which includes Sri
Jagan Mohan Reddy and others.

As per the findings of U.S. investigative agencies, $2 billion in profits over a 20-year period were
projected to accrue to Azure alone under this agreement.

The then Chief Minister of Andhra Pradesh, Sri Jagan Mohan Reddy, being a public servant
accepted a bribe to provide undue benefits to Adani Green and Azure Power. This clearly demonstrates
that the then Chief Minister has indulged in obtaining illegal gratification of Rs.1,750 Crores for entering
into PSA with SECI to provide undue advantage to Adani and his associates, thereby causing loss to the
exchequer.

Further, Sri Balineni Srinivas Reddy, the former Energy Minister, has publicly alleged that he was
coerced to sign this tainted agreement in the middle of the night by Sri N. Srikanth, the then Energy
secretary. This has been widely reported, including by the prominent newspaper Eenadu, with a relevant
clip from November 23, 2024, attached herewith. Sufficient video graphic evidence is also available in
public domain in this regard, wherein Sri Balineni Srinivasa Reddy substantiates the illegalities that
occurred in execution of the said PSAs.

This constitutes a breach of public trust and is in direct violation of the Prevention of Corruption Act,
1988, and other relevant laws.


https://www.justice.gov/usao-edny/media/1377806/dl?inline
https://www.justice.gov/usao-edny/media/1377806/dl?inline

In light of these serious allegations, | respectfully request the Anti-Corruption Bureau to conduct a
transparent and impartial investigation into the following individuals, whose role in this matter appear to
be central to the corruption and misconduct in the solar power deal:

Sri Y. S. Jagan Mohan Reddy — Former Chief Minister of Andhra Pradesh
Sri Gautam Adani — Chairman of Adani Group

Sri N. Srikanth IAS — Former Energy Secretary

Sri Balineni Srinivasa Reddy — Former Minister of Energy

Any other person you may come across during your investigation
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As per the Hon’ble Supreme Court’s ruling in Vineet Narain v. Union of India (1998), corruption
undermines democracy and must be promptly addressed. The Court emphasized that investigative
agencies have a duty to act on credible allegations brought to their attention. Therefore, | urge the ACB
to initiate an investigation under the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1988, to ensure accountability and
safeguard public trust.

| also request that this complaint be formally registered under Section 173 of the Bharatiya Nagarik
Suraksha Sanhita (BNSS) as an FIR and that a thorough investigation is conducted. A copy of the FIR
may kindly be provided for my records.

| have attached all relevant documents and evidence to substantiate my complaint. | look forward to
your prompt action in this matter, which is of significant public interest.

Thank you for your attention to this critical issue.
Sincerely,

Nalamotu Chakravarthy
President, Centre for Liberty
Ph.No - 98850 11456
8-3-1029, Gayatri Nest,
Srinagar Colony, Hyderabad

Enclosures :
1. SEC Complaint: Civil Action. No. 24-CV-8081
Grand Jury charges: Cr. No. 24-CR-433
SEC Complaint: 1:24 Civ. 8080
Power Sale Agreement dated December 1st, 2021
Newspaper clips of Sri Balineni Srinivas Reddy’s statement
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Enclosure 1:

SEC Complaint: Civil Action. No.
24-CV-8081
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action. No. 24-CV-8081
CYRIL SEBASTIEN DOMINIQUE CABANES, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant. :

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission” or “SEC”) alleges the
following against defendant Cyril Sebastien Dominique Cabanes (“Cabanes” or the
“Defendant”):

SUMMARY

1. Defendant Cabanes violated the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (“FCPA”),
a law that generally prohibits companies whose stock is publicly traded in the United States, and
individuals associated with those companies, from paying bribes to foreign officials in order to
secure business in foreign countries; here, the Republic of India. Cabanes, formerly and at all
times relevant herein, served as a Director on the Board of U.S. issuer Azure Power Global
Limited (“Azure”), as a representative of the company’s largest stockholder, Caisse de dépot et
placement du Québec (“CDPQ”). CDPQ is a Montreal, Canada-based pension fund company
established by the National Assembly of Quebec, and one of the world’s largest infrastructure

Investors.
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2. While serving as an Azure Director, Cabanes, and others, schemed to make
payments to state government officials in India as part of a massive bribery scheme (the “Bribery
Scheme”) to secure multi-billion-dollar energy projects for Azure and for another company,
Adani Green Energy Limited (“Adani Green”). Both Azure and Adani Green are renewable
energy companies based in India that, respectively, own and operate power resources and sell the
power those resources generate to the government of India.

3. The genesis of the bribery scheme is in December 2019, when the Solar Energy
Corporation of India, Ltd. (“SECI”), an arm of the Indian national government, awarded Azure
and Adani Green contracts for a twelve-gigawatt (12 GW) solar energy project (the
“Manufacturing Linked Projects”). During 2021 through 2023, Azure and Adani Green, and
executives and agents of the companies, engaged in a scheme pursuant to which Adani Green
paid or promised approximately $250 million in bribes to Indian state officials to secure
contracts necessary to move forward with the Manufacturing Linked Projects, i.e., the Bribery
Scheme. Cabanes became aware of and actively participated in the Bribery Scheme, including
via the means of U.S. interstate commerce, no later than May 6, 2022.

4. Beginning no later than May 2022 Cabanes communicated with Azure officials
through various means, including WhatsApp messages that were sent and received in the United
States using the means of interstate commerce, along with other electronic communications,
about the Bribery Scheme. As a result of, and reflected in these communications, Cabanes knew
that executives of Adani Green had met with Azure representatives, including the Chairman of
Azure’s Board of Directors (the “Azure Chairman™), to pursue payment from Azure for its
agreed upon one-third share of bribes that the executives from Adani Green had paid or promised

to pay state government officials in India. Cabanes also sent and received WhatsApp
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communications, and other communications, to and from the United States, using means of
interstate commerce, to advance Azure’s participation in the Bribery Scheme.

5. With full knowledge of the agreement that Azure executives, including the Azure
Chairman, had entered into with Adani Green and its executives and officials to pay Azure’s
share of the corrupt payments, Cabanes took steps in furtherance of the authorization of bribes to
state government officials in India by directing the Azure Chairman, and others at Azure and
CDPQ, to find a “commercially doable deal” that would enable the Adani executives and
officials and Adani Green to collect from Azure.

6. In furtherance of the scheme Cabanes also participated in efforts with the Azure
Chairman to conceal information about the Bribery Scheme from the Azure Board of Directors
and Azure’s attorneys, among others.

7. By virtue of the foregoing conduct and as alleged herein, Cabanes violated the
Anti-Bribery Provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Exchange Act Section 30A, 15
U.S.C. §78dd-1.

8. Unless restrained and enjoined Cabanes will engage in the acts, practices,
transactions, and courses of business set forth in this Complaint or in similar acts, practices,
transactions, and courses of business.

AUTHORITY, JURISDICTION AND VENUE

0. The Commission brings this action pursuant to enforcement authority conferred
by Section 21(d)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C.
§§78u(d) (1)]. The Commission seeks imposition of a civil penalty against Cabanes pursuant to
Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(d)(3)], an officer and director bar

pursuant to Section 21(d)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(d)(5)], and such other and
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further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

10. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e) and
27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa].

11. Venue is appropriate in this Court under Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. §§78aa] because certain acts or transactions constituting the violations of the federal
securities laws detailed herein occurred in this district, including travel through the district and
the transmission of electronic messages in and through the district, all in connection with those
violations.

12. Cabanes directly or indirectly made use of the means and instrumentalities of
United States interstate commerce in connection with the acts, practices, and courses of business
alleged herein.

DEFENDANT

13. Cyril Sebastien Dominique Cabanes (“Cabanes”), age 50, is a citizen of France and
resident of Singapore. He previously was a member of Azure’s Board of Directors and was
employed by CDPQ as its Head of Infrastructure for the Asia-Pacific region.

RELATED ENTITIES AND INDIVIDUALS

14. Azure Power Global Limited (“Azure”) is a limited company organized under the
laws of Mauritius with its principal place of business in New Delhi, India. During the relevant
period Azure was a publicly traded company, with a class of common stock previously registered
with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, trading under the symbol
“AZREF” on the New York Stock Exchange. On November 13, 2023, Azure’s stock was
delisted for failure to file reports with the Commission. On April 3, 2024, Azure filed a Form 15

suspending its Exchange Act reporting obligations. Azure is a renewable energy company that
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develops, owns and operates utility-scale grid-connected solar farm projects. Azure specializes
in building and operating solar farms, thereby producing and selling solar power in India.

15. Caisse de dépot et placement du Québec (“CDPQ”) is a Montreal, Canada-based
pension fund company established by the National Assembly of Quebec and one of the world’s
largest infrastructure investors. It is the parent company of Azure’s largest shareholder and
controls four seats on its Board of Directors, including appointment of the chairperson and three
others.

16. “Azure Chairman” is a citizen and resident of the United Kingdom. He
previously was the Chairman of Azure’s Board of Directors and briefly served as its interim
Chief Executive Officer.

17. “Azure CEO” was the Chief Executive Officer of Azure at the time of the Azure
and Adani Green contract awards and related negotiations in 2019 through 2022. He resigned at
the company’s request in April 2022.

18. “Azure COO” was a senior executive officer of Azure at the time of the Azure
and Adani Green contract awards and related negotiations in 2019 through 2022, first holding the
title of President and then Chief Operating Officer before resigning at the company’s request in
April 2022.

19. Adani Group is an Indian multinational energy and infrastructure conglomerate
headquartered in Ahmedabad, India. Adani Group’s holdings currently have a market
capitalization of approximately $208 billion.

20. Adani Green Energy Limited (“Adani Green”) is a public limited company
organized under the laws of India with its principal place of business in Ahmedabad, India.

Adani Green is a publicly traded company majority-owned by Gautam Adani, the Adani Group,
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and other Adani family members. Adani Green is a renewable energy company that develops,
owns and operates utility-scale grid-connected solar farm projects.

21. Gautam Adani is a citizen of India believed to reside in Ahmedabad, India. He is
the founder of both the Adani Group and Adani Green. Since 2015, Gautam Adani has served
on Adani Green’s Board of Directors. He currently serves as a member of its four-person
Management Committee.

22. Sagar Adani is a citizen of India believed to reside in Ahmedabad, India. Sagar
Adani is Gautam Adani’s nephew. Since October 2018 he has been the Executive Director of
Adani Green’s Board of Directors. He is currently Chairman of Adani Green’s four-person
Management Committee.

23. Solar Energy Corporation of India, Ltd. (“SECI”) is a company of the Ministry of
New and Renewable Energy (“MNRE”), Government of India. SECI is responsible for
implementing Indian central government programs related to renewable energy, including
funding large solar projects like those Azure and Adani Green build and operate.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Azure and Adani Green Promised or Paid Bribes to State Government Officials
in India to Obtain Lucrative Contracts for Manufacturing Linked Projects.

The Manufacturing Linked Projects

24.  In 2014, the Indian central government announced a goal of achieving 175
gigawatts (“GW”) of renewable energy production capacity in India, including at least 100 GW
of solar energy production capacity by 2022. At the time, renewable energy accounted for
approximately 17 percent of all energy production capacity in India. The Indian central
government sought to more than double that number.

25.  In anticipation of this effort the Indian central government previously had
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instituted Renewable Energy Purchase Obligations that required Indian state-owned energy
distribution companies (“DISCOMs”)—which are responsible for buying power and transmitting
it to consumers within their respective regions—to buy and distribute to consumers certain
minimum amounts of renewable energy.

26. Azure and Adani Green are renewable energy companies based in India. Azure
specializes in building and operating solar farms, which generate electricity that is then supplied
to the power grid. Adani Green develops, owns and operates utility-scale grid-connected solar
and wind farm projects. Azure, like Adani Green, primarily derives its revenue by selling
electricity to Indian central government agencies and to DISCOMs, typically under long-term
fixed-price Power Purchase Agreements (or “PPAs”) that set the price (or “tariff”) that the
purchaser will pay for power for the duration of the contract.

27. In June 2019, SECI, a renewable energy agency of the Indian government,
announced a Request for Selection (“RfS”) seeking bids from solar power developers for the
construction of a solar cell and module manufacturing plant that would be linked to SECI’s
agreement to purchase power from the developer(s) with the winning bid(s).

28. Broadly described, SECI sought solar power developers to construct a plant or
plants in India capable of producing solar power component parts domestically (like cells,
modules, or wafers) and, in exchange for that construction and manufacturing, SECI would
contract to purchase power from the developer(s) in an amount equal to a multiple of the power
generating capacity of the solar components manufactured. The related projects became known
as the Manufacturing Linked Projects.

29. Multiple companies, including Azure and Adani Green, submitted responses to

what became an amended RfS. On December 10, 2019, as part of a government tender, SECI



Case 1:24-cv-08081 Document1l Filed 11/20/24  Page 8 of 23 PagelD #: 8

jointly awarded Azure and Adani Green contracts for the Manufacturing Linked Projects.
Pursuant to Letters of Award issued by SECI, a) Adani Green would be responsible for and stood
to benefit from two-thirds of the Manufacturing Linked Projects, and b) Azure would be
responsible for and stood to benefit from one-third. Both Azure and Adani Green were projected
to earn billions in revenue from the Projects.

30. Azure announced that it had won a portion of the RfS at an investor presentation
on January 16, 2020, disclosing that SECI had awarded it a portion of the projects for the
construction of a manufacturing plant or plants to produce solar power components with 1 GW
capacity. In turn, SECI would contract to buy 4 GWs of solar power from Azure.

31. Five months later, on June 9, 2020, Adani Green followed suit, issuing a press
release titled, “Adani Green Energy Wins The World’s Largest Solar Award; Leapfrogs Towards
Goal Of 25 GW Of Installed Capacity By 2025.” The announcement noted that SECI had
selected Adani Green to be awarded a portion of the projects associated with the RfS, and that it
would build a manufacturing plant or plants to produce solar components with 2 GW capacity.

In turn, SECI would contract to buy 8 GW of solar power from Adani Green.

32. Despite the announcements, SECI’s Letters of Award to Azure and Adani Green
did not guarantee that SECI would purchase any power from them or that they would earn any
revenue or profits. More needed to be done. At minimum, two additional contractual steps were
required. First, SECI needed to enter into Power Supply Agreements (“PSAs”) with the
DISCOMs (the Indian state-owned energy distribution companies) under which the DISCOMs
would agree to buy energy from SECI at solar power prices consistent with those SECI had
agreed to pay Azure and Adani Green in the Letters of Award. Second, after contracting with

the DISCOMSs, SECI needed to enter into PPAs, (again, Power Purchase Agreements) with
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Azure and Adani Green, respectively, pursuant to which SECI would buy power from each of
them (which SECI would then resell to the DISCOMs under the PSAs).

33. Under the terms of the RfS, SECI was expected to enter into PPAs with Azure
and Adani Green within 90 days of issuing the Letters of Award. That did not happen. Instead,
the PPAs took more than 18 months—and were executed by SECI only after Azure and Adani
Green, acting through various senior executives and officials, undertook a massive bribery
scheme.

34, The problem was economics. The price SECI accepted for Azure and Adani
Green to sell power related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects turned out to be too high.
When SECI attempted to contract with Indian state governments and DISCOMs to offload power
at prices consistent with the amounts to be paid to Azure and Adani Green, the Indian state
governments refused. Their refusals were overcome only when Azure and Adani Green, acting
through various senior executives and officials, paid or promised to pay, in aggregate, hundreds
of millions of dollars of bribes to state government officials in India.

The First Stage of the Bribery Scheme

35. After SECI issued Letters of Award to Azure and Adani Green for the
Manufacturing Linked Projects, and accepted their proposed tariffs as amounts at which SECI
would buy solar power from them for the next twenty-five years, SECI attempted to enter into
PSAs to sell that power to Indian state governments and state DISCOMs at prices consistent with
the Letters of Award.

36. The Indian state governments and DISCOMs, however, refused to contract with
SECI, mainly because certain aspects of the Indian renewable energy market had shifted and

caused downward pressure on solar power prices. Without those PSAs the Letters of Award held
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by Azure and Adani Green were virtually worthless.

37. Meanwhile, between the December 10, 2019, award and June 2020, Azure and
Adani Green negotiated with SECI as to, among other things, contract options and amendments
that would increase the size of the overall award. The ultimate size of the award was twelve
gigawatts (billions of watts) of power (i.e., 12GW).

38. Azure’s share of the award corresponded to four gigawatts of power (i.e., 4 GW);
Adani Green’s was 8 GW. Azure estimated that it would garner approximately $2 billion in
profits over a 20-year period from the award and its work on the Manufacturing Linked Projects.
But only if SECI was able to enter into the hoped-for PSAs with Indian state governments and
DISCOMs.

39. But Indian state governments and DISCOMS continued to balk at entering into
PSAs with SECI to purchase energy at the prices in the contracts awarded to Azure and Adani
Green. Because of energy markets fluctuations and renewable energy auctions in India after the
2019 tender that resulted in lower pricing, the state governments and DISCOMs rightfully
believed they would be able to purchase power less expensively elsewhere. Without PSAs there
would be no PPAs, and without the PPAs, the Manufacturing Linked Projects were not
commercially viable. Further pressure came when SECI’s parent within the Indian government,
the MNRP, threatened to cancel the awarded contracts due to the pricing challenges.

40. The bottom line for both Azure and Adani Green was that they each stood to lose
billions of dollars of potential revenue unless Indian state governments and their related
DISCOMs entered into PSAs with SECI.

41. These developments prompted Azure and Adani Green to renegotiate the contract

pricing with SECI and, on December 25, 2020, the companies agreed to price reductions.

10
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Despite the reductions, however, SECI still was not able to secure the necessary PSAs.

42. Contemporaneous with these legitimate efforts, senior executives and officials of
Azure and Adani Green schemed to pressure and to propose to pay “incentives” directly to state
government officials in India (i.e., bribes) to cause Indian state government entities and the
related DISCOMs to enter into PSAs with SECI at prices favorable to Azure and Adani Green.

43, For instance, on November 24, 2020, Sagar Adani wrote to the Azure CEO via
WhatsApp regarding efforts to place the Manufacturing Linked Projects power and related
discussions with CDPQ: “Yes sir, of course we will push hard to get it through to the finish
line.” The Azure CEO responded: “[T]he advantage we have is that the discoms are being
motivated . . ..” Sagar Adani replied: “Yup ... but the optics are very difficult to cover.”

44. On February 25, 2021, in a subsequent WhatsApp exchange regarding the Indian
states of Jammu and Kashmir and Chhattisgarh as potential purchasers of the Manufacturing
Linked Projects power, Sagar Adani wrote to the Azure CEO: “Just so you know, we have
doubled the incentives to push for these acceptances.” The motivation and incentives referred to
in the WhatsApp messages were bribes payments to state government officials in India.

45. By June 2021—a year after SECI issued a Letter of Award to Adani Green and
fifteen months after Azure had announced that it had been selected for the Manufacturing Linked
Projects—SECI had still not entered into Power Supply Agreements with Indian state
governments related to the Letters of Award and Manufacturing Linked Projects.

46. That month, Azure stated publicly that its potential profits related to the
Manufacturing Linked Projects were at risk:

[SECI] has informed us that so far there has not been adequate response from the state

electricity distribution companies (‘DISCOMs’) for SECI to be able to sign the Power

Sale Agreement (‘PSA’) at this stage even though we have a [Letter of Award]. SECI
has mentioned that they will be unable to sign PPAs until PSAs have been signed, and

11
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they have committed to inform Azure Power of developments in their efforts with the

DISCOMS. Capital costs, interest rates and foreign exchange rates have improved since

Azure Power won the 4 GW auction in December 2019 which have resulted in lower

tariffs in other recent SECI auctions. . . . We expect a tariff markdown from the price

achieved in the auction, which will facilitate signing of PSAs. We will continue our
discussions with SECI towards signing PPAs in respect of the 4GW tender and believe
the PPAs to be signed in tranches over a period of time.

47. Soon thereafter, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani increased the pressure on Indian
state government officials. Through their personal involvement and promises to pay or actual
payment of hundreds of millions of dollars of bribes, some DISCOMs began to enter into PSAs
with SECIL.

48.  Adani Green executives and kept track of the bribes, creating and maintaining
records of bribes that had been paid or promised to numerous Indian states and Indian state
officials to induce them to cause the Indian states to buy renewable energy from SECI.

49.  For instance, according to an Adani Green record, a bribe equal to hundreds of
thousands of dollars was paid or promised to government officials in the Indian state of Odisha
to cause Odisha to enter into a PSA with SECI for the purchase of 500 MW of power.

50.  Consistent with the Adani Green record, SECI announced its first Power Supply
Agreement related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects in July 2021, pursuant to which the
Grid Corporation of Odisha agreed to buy 500 MW of power capacity from SECI.

51. In August 2021, Gautam Adani met with the Chief Minister of a second Indian
state, Andhra Pradesh, about the fact that Andhra Pradesh had not entered into a Power Supply
Agreement with SECI and the “incentives” needed to cause Andhra Pradesh to do so. Sagar
Adani had a subsequent meeting with the Chief Minister on September 12, 2021.

52. At or in connection with these meetings, the Adanis (Gautam and Sagar) paid or

promised a bribe to Andhra Pradesh government officials to cause the relevant Andhra Pradesh

12
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government entities to enter into PSAs with SECI for the purchase of 7,000 MW of power
capacity. Adani Green records and later statements by Adani Green executives to the Azure
Chairman indicated that the Andhra Pradesh bribe payment was approximately $200 million.
Shortly after these meetings Andhra Pradesh agreed in principle to execute a PSA with SECI that
would directly benefit Adani Green and Azure.

53. Within weeks, the Andhra Pradesh government was quoted as saying, “[i]n the
Cabinet meeting held last month, it was decided to accept SECI’s offer. After deliberation, the
State decided to tap 7,000 MW in the first phase.”

54. In other words, the “incentives” worked. A contemporaneous Adani Green record
lists particular Indian states (Odisha, [Jammu and Kashmir], Tamil Nadu, Chhattisgarh,
Maharashtra, Kerala, [Andhra Pradesh], and Bihar) and the accompanying amount of power to
be purchased by the respective states from SECI. The same record lists, for each state, the
amount of a bribe to be paid and, in some cases, the recipient. For example, Andhra Pradesh
negotiated to purchase 7,000 MW of power from SECI under a PSA. As part of that
agreement—and consistent with what was communicated to Azure executives during in-person
meetings in Ahmedabad—the rate of 25 lakh (or “25L,” with one lakh equal to 100,000 rupees)
per megawatt was used to calculate the amounts promised or paid to officials in Andhra Pradesh.
That is, 7,000 megawatts multiplied by 25 lakh, which equals 17.5 billion rupees, or 1,750 crore
(a multiple of ten billion rupees)—i.e., more than $200 million. As the record indicates, these
Andhra Pradesh officials included the Chief Minister (or “CM”).

55. Once it gathered steam, the Bribery Scheme worked quickly and effectively.
Between July 22, 2021, and December 1, 2021, SECI entered into PSAs with DISCOMs in

Odisha, Chhattisgarh, Tamil Nadu, and Andhra Pradesh. In later meetings in the spring and
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summer of 2022, the Adanis outlined to the Azure Chairman how the Bribery Scheme worked
and how it successfully generated these PSAs. The Adanis also explained that Azure’s recently
deposed CEO and COO were willing participants in the scheme and that they had assured the
Adanis that Azure would pay its fair share of the bribes.

56. Those PSAs allowed SECI to enter into Power Purchase Agreements (the PPAs)
with Azure and Adani Green that implemented the terms of the Letters of Award and under
which those two companies stood to earn billions of dollars from the Manufacturing Linked
Projects.

57. On December 14, 2021, Adani Green issued a press release titled, “Adani Signs
World’s Largest Green PPA With SECI,” announcing that SECI had contracted to buy nearly 5
GW of power from Adani Green related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects. The sudden good
fortune for Azure and Adani Green prompted speculation in the marketplace about the contract
awards.

58. On December 6, 2021, the Azure CEO and Azure COO attended a meeting at a
coffee shop with CDPQ’s Country Head for India and CDPQ’s Director of Infrastructure for
South Asia, who also was a member of Azure’s Board of Directors, at which they discussed
market rumors that the Adanis had somehow facilitated signing of the PSAs.

59. One of the attendees at this coffee shop meeting, CDPQ’s Director of
Infrastructure for South Asia, subsequently wrote “FYI” and forwarded to Cabanes an email
summarizing the December 6 meeting in which he referenced “the rumor ... regarding potential
third party involvement (i.e. corrupt and/or unethical practices) behind the signing of the
remaining manufacturing linked PPAs with the state of Andhra Pradesh. We appreciate you

2

raising the concern . ...’

14



Case 1:24-cv-08081 Document1l Filed 11/20/24 Page 15 of 23 PagelD #: 15

60. On December 15, 2021, the Azure CEO and the Azure COO met with Gautam
Adani in Ahmedabad. The same day the Azure COO created an Excel file named “sale value of
manu ppa” reflecting possible transactions that would result in Adani Green acquiring some
portion of Azure’s assets related to the Manufacturing Linked Project’s PPAs.

61. On December 16, 2021, Azure signed PPAs with SECI for 2.3 GW of power
mapped to the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh.

IL. Cabanes Joins the Bribery Scheme When Azure’s CEO and COO Resign and
Coordinates an Extensive Cover-Up Within Azure.

The Adanis Seek to Collect Azure’s Share of the Bribes

62. On September 30, 2021, CDPQ, with Cabanes participating, appointed the Azure
Chairman as Chairman of Azure’s Board of Directors. The Azure Chairman had had no
substantive involvement with the contract awards for the Manufacturing Linked Projects, or with
any discussions or negotiations involving any Adani Green officials. That changed in spring
2022.

63. A meeting between Adani Green executives—including Gautam Adani—and
Azure executives was scheduled to occur in India on April 25, 2022. The plans for the meeting
were affected when the Azure CEO (and the Azure COO) resigned shortly before the meeting on
request of the company.

64. Shortly thereafter, Gautam Adani requested that the Azure Chairman attend a
rescheduled meeting four days later, on April 29, 2022. A more junior Azure executive
accompanied him. During the meeting Gautam Adani described to the Azure Chairman the steps
that he had personally taken to overcome the unwillingness of Indian state government and
DISCOM officials to enter into PSAs with SECI. Those steps included his incurring

“expenditures,” which in the context of the discussion the Azure Chairman understood to refer to
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bribes the Adanis and Adani Green had promised or paid to secure the PSAs. Gautam Adani
also explained that previous Azure executives, specifically the recently resigned Azure CEO and
COO, were complicit in the scheme and had agreed to pay Azure’s share of the bribes.

65. Gautam Adani sought to collect Azure’s share of the bribes, which meant tens of
millions of dollars. To punctuate the discussion an Adani Green record that detailed Azure’s
share of the bribes promised or made to state government officials in India by the Adanis and
Adani Green was read aloud to the Azure Chairman and the more junior Azure executive present
at the meeting.

66. Within days of the April 29 meeting, which was on a Friday, the Azure Chairman
updated Cabanes. Cabanes, as a Director on Azure’s Board and a senior executive employed by
Azure’s primary stockholder, CDPQ, had the authority to direct the actions of certain CDPQ
personnel who reported to him—including other members of Azure’s board—as well as the
actions of Azure’s executive team. In addition, as the CDPQ executive who had hired the Azure
Chairman and appointed him as Chairman of Azure’s Board on September 30, 2021, Cabanes
held significant professional influence over him.

67. On Monday, May 1, 2022, the Azure Chairman wrote to Cabanes via WhatsApp:
“It was an interesting week, and Friday [April 29, 2022] was particularly interesting. I met on
Friday night for a debrief. My suggestion is that we brief you on some of the detail once we
have done more work on it and have a proposed way forward. . . . We are working on
understanding exactly what the issues are and what our options might be, then will craft a way
forward. Free to catch up on the phone any time.” Cabanes responded: “Can I call you late
tonight when I get to the airport (10pm)?” : “Sure — for you 24/7 . . . But keep some distance on

some of the details.”
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68. Later the same day the Azure Chairman spoke with Cabanes by telephone and
described in detail his April 29 meeting with Gautam Adani. He told Cabanes that Adani had
sought to collect Azure’s share of the bribes to state government officials in India relating to the
Manufacturing Linked Projects, both for the 2.3 GW PPAs and a 650 megawatt (MW) PPA. The
Azure Chairman recounted that Gautam Adani stated, in summary, that Azure owed
approximately one-third of the total bribes promised or paid and that Azure’s share was the
equivalent of approximately $83 million. Cabanes was aware of a high probability that the bribe
payments promised by Gautam Adani and other Adani Green executives were incomplete; that
is, some of the promised bribes had been paid and others were still owed.

69. Cabanes directly or indirectly made use of the means and instrumentalities of
United States interstate commerce in connection with the acts, practices, and courses of business
he engaged in to further the Bribery Scheme. Cabanes, knowing that Adani Green executives
had told Azure executives that Adani Green needed to collect Azure’s one-third share of the
bribes in furtherance of their agreement to pay off the government officials who had facilitated
signing of the PSAs underlying the 2.3 GW and 650 MW PPAs, took steps while physically
present in the U.S. in furtherance of the authorization of a transaction to fund these bribe
payments.

70. Between April and June 2022, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani, together with
Vneet Jaain, Adani Green’s CEO and a member of its Management Committee, met in person in
India multiple times with the Azure Chairman and other Azure officials and discussed how
Gautam Adani, with Sagar Adani’s assistance, had promised or paid bribes to state government
officials in India to procure contracts between the Indian states and SECI. The Adanis

repeatedly sought to collect from Azure its agreed-upon share of those bribes.
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71. In those meetings, Gautam Adani detailed, among many other things, how, in
mid-to-late 2021, Indian state governments had been reluctant to enter into PSAs with SECI,
how he personally intervened, and how he paid or promised bribes to state government officials
in India to persuade them to enter into PSAs.

72. Gautam Adani detailed how his efforts had succeeded in winning business for
both Adani Green and Azure, who would benefit from their respective shares of the
Manufacturing Linked Projects.

73. Gautam Adani further insisted that Azure pay one-third of the bribes paid or
promised to Indian state government officials, an amount equal to tens of millions of dollars.

74. Following the meetings with the Adanis, the Azure Chairman and Cabanes
routinely strategized various transaction structures to pay Azure’s one-third share of the bribes
that the Adanis had paid or promised to Indian state government officials.

75. When Azure representatives informed Gautam Adani that Azure might not be
able to directly pay the amount it owed, Gautam Adani proposed that Azure satisfy its one-third
portion of the bribes through non-cash transactions.

76. Among other things, Gautam Adani proposed that, to satisfy part of Azure’s
obligation to pay one-third of the bribes, Azure cede control of its rights to the most valuable
aspect of the Manufacturing Linked Projects—its right to sell 2.3 GW of power to SECI related
to Andhra Pradesh—to Adani Green.

77. To that end, during a visit to the United States between May 5 and May 8, 2022,
Cabanes participated in a WhatsApp exchange with the Azure Chairman during which they used
the codename “SAG” or “Super Aggregator” to conceal references to Gautam Adani, while

discussing how to pay Azure’s share of the bribes. Cabanes queried: “Is there a commercially
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doable deal here?”” — which, in the context of their ongoing discussions, the Azure Chairman
understood that Cabanes meant a transaction that would compensate Adani Green and the Adanis
for Azure’s share of the bribery payments.

78. On May 31, 2022, the Azure Chairman updated Cabanes via WhatsApp on the
status of ongoing efforts to identify a transaction that Azure could execute to compensate Adani
Green and the Adanis for Azure’s portion of the bribes that had been paid or were promised,
writing that CDPQ and Azure executives were “talking now on fleshing out our options.”
Cabanes advocated doing a transaction with Adani: “Sounds good. So we have a potential deal
on the table?”

79. Throughout June and July 2022, Cabanes and the Azure Chairman regularly
communicated by telephone and other electronic means regarding their efforts to identify and
consummate a transaction that, directly or indirectly, would compensate Adani Green and the
Adanis for Azure’s share of the bribes. They also discussed the need to conceal aspects of their
involvement in any potential transaction from others at Azure. Cabanes repeatedly directed the
Azure Chairman and others to withhold information related to the potential deal with Adani from
others, including other members of Azure’s Board of Directors.

80. On June 18, 2022, after consultation with and direction from Cabanes, the Azure
Chairman sent a deliberately misleading email to Azure’s full Board of Directors, including
Cabanes. The email misleadingly stated that “the economics have deteriorated significantly” as
to the Manufacturing Linked Projects, and that Azure “should probably go talk to SECI
regarding the vice [sic]we are in.” This and related communications laid the groundwork for the
“commercially doable deal” that Azure ultimately fashioned. The deal involved transferring the

most valuable PPA in Azure’s portfolio—the 2.3 GW contract—back to SECI under the guise of
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“deteriorated” economics. The manner and timing of the transfer by Azure was designed to
ensure that Adani Green and the Adanis would receive the valuable PPA.

81. In a series of communications between late June 2022 and August 4, 2022,
Cabanes took steps himself and directed others, including the Azure Chairman, to withhold
information regarding their bribery payment plans from senior personnel at Azure and CDPQ,
and from a Special Committee of the Azure Board of Directors that had been created to
investigate the Manufacturing Linked Projects.

82. On September 30, 2022, shortly before scheduled interviews by the Special
Committee of Cabanes, the Azure Chairman, and other Azure and CDPQ executives, Cabanes
and the Azure Chairman convened a telephone call with the other executives being interviewed.
The purpose of the call was for everyone to align their stories and agree that they would not fully
disclose all relevant aspects of the agreement with Adani Green and the Adanis. All participants
on the call agreed to withhold certain information from the Special Committee and its
investigators.

83. On December 7, 2022, Azure sent a letter to SECI initiating withdrawal from its
largest portion of the Manufacturing Linked Project’s PPAs. Cabanes and the Azure Chairman
were responsible for the letter and its contents. The letter stated that because the portion of the
awards is “unbankable and unviable, we are impaired to proceed . . . “ These reasons were
pretextual. The real purpose of returning the portion of the PPAs was so that the Adanis and
Adani Green could have it as satisfaction of part of Azure’s portion of the bribery payments.

84. On February 21, 2023, Azure sent a further letter to SECI seeking to return the
largest portion of its PPAs to SECI under similarly pretextual reasons, summarizing purported

“regulatory uncertainties” that left the Manufacturing Linked Project “untenable” and stating that
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Azure was “unable to proceed” with the project. Cabanes and the Azure Chairman were
responsible for the letter and its contents. The pretext worked. On December 25, 2023, Adani
Green publicly announced that it had signed a PPA for the majority of the 2.3 GW portion of the
Azure award that Azure had returned to SECI, bringing Adani Green’s total PPA total under the
2019 tender to 8,000 MW (8 GW).

85. The end result of these maneuvers was that Azure did not directly pay any money
to Adani Green or the Adanis in satisfaction of Azure’s share of the bribe payments. Instead,
Cabanes and Azure elected to meet part of Azure’s obligation by facilitating the indirect transfer
of this lucrative corporate asset—the 2.3 GW PPA—to Adani Green and the Adanis, by first
ceding it back to SECI under pretextual reasons. Cabanes acted in furtherance of that transfer
while knowing that the Azure Chairman was actively working to facilitate Gautam Adani’s
efforts to collect Azure’s share of the bribes. The transaction that resulted had the economic
effect of transferring significant value to Adani Green and the Adanis from Azure.

86. Cabanes devised and directed a coordinated cover-up of the efforts to compensate
Adani Green and the Adanis for the bribery payments or promises that included: withholding
information about the Adani deal from non-CDPQ executives at Azure, including other members
of the Board of Directors; lying to investigators, including Cabanes’s and the company’s own
lawyers; lying to attorneys and investigators; withholding information about the Adani
transactions from certain other Azure executives; colluding with others at CDPQ and Azure to
align false narratives; and, scheming with others at CDPQ and Azure to conceal their misconduct
behind a compromised “Special Committee” of the Azure Board of Directors that was deprived
of full and accurate information regarding the Adani transactions.

87. Despite retaining valuable PPAs related to the Manufacturing Linked Project,
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albeit substantially reduced by the transfers to Adani Green, Azure never received any profits
tied to the Bribery Scheme because it was interrupted by investigations related to the

Manufacturing Linked Project and its contracts.

FIRST CLAIM

Cabanes Violated the Anti-Bribery Provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
Exchange Act Section 30A, 15 U.S.C. §78dd-1

88. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every
allegation contained in paragraphs 1 through 87 above as if set forth fully herein.

89. By engaging in the corrupt transactions described above, Cabanes, who was a
Director of Azure, a United States issuer, made use of the mails or other means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to
pay, or authorization of the payment of, any money, offer, gift, promise to give, or authorization
of the giving of anything of value to foreign officials for the purpose of influencing their acts or
decisions in their official capacity, inducing them to do or omit to do any action in violation of
their lawful duties, securing an improper advantage, or inducing such foreign officials to use
their influence with foreign governments or instrumentalities thereof to affect or influence any
act or decision of such government or instrumentality, in order to assist Azure in obtaining or
retaining business.

90. By reason of the foregoing, Cabanes violated Section 30A of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. §78dd-1].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission requests that the Court enter a Final Judgment that:
A. Permanently restrains and enjoins Cabanes and each of his agents, servants, employees

and attorneys and those persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual

22



Case 1:24-cv-08081 Document1l Filed 11/20/24 Page 23 of 23 PagelD #: 23

notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise, including facsimile transmission or
overnight delivery service, from directly or indirectly engaging in the conduct described above,
or in conduct of similar purport and effect, in violation of: Exchange Act Section 30A [15 U.S.C.
§78dd-1];

B. Permanently prohibits Cabanes from serving as an officer or director of any company that
has a class of securities registered under Exchange Act Section 12 [15 U.S.C. § 78l] or that is
required to file reports under Exchange Act Section 15(d) [15 U.S.C. § 780(d)], pursuant to
Exchange Act Section 21(d)(5) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(5)];

C. Orders Cabanes to pay appropriate civil penalties pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(d)(3)];

D. Retains jurisdiction over this action to implement and carry out the terms of all orders
and decrees that may be entered; and,

E. Grants such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

The Commission hereby demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: November 20, 2024 On behalf of the Commission,

/s/ Amy Harman Burkart

Amy Harman Burkart

Eric Heining*

Martin F. Healey*

Paul Block*

Attorneys for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Boston Regional Office

33 Arch Street, 24th Floor

Boston, Massachusetts 02110

(617) 573-8952 (Healey direct)

(617) 573-4590 (fax)
heininge@sec.gov; healeym@sec.gov
*Not admitted in E.D.N.Y.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
- against -

GAUTAM S. ADANI,
SAGAR R. ADANI,
VNEET S. JAAIN,

RANIJIT GUPTA,

CYRIL CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL,
DEEPAK MALHOTRA and
RUPESH AGARWAL,

Defendants.

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

FILED
IN CLERK’S OFFICE U.S.
DISTRICT COURT
E.D.N.Y.
*OCTOBER 24, 2024 *
BROOKLYN OFFICE

| ICTMENT

Cr. No. 24-CR433

(T. 15, US.C., §§ 78j(b) and 78ff; T. 18,
U.S.C.,, §§ 371, 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(2)(A),
982(b)(1), 1349, 1512(k), 2, 3238 and 3551 et
seq.; T.21,US.C, § 853(p); T. 28, U.S.C.,
§ 2461(c))

Judge Nicholas G. Garaufis

Magistrate Judge James R. Cho

At all times relevant to this Indictment, unless otherwise stated:

I. Background

A. Overview
| In or about and between 2020 and 2024, senior executives of (i) an Indian
renewable-energy company, which was a portfolio company of an Indian conglomerate; (ii) an
issuer company that operated in the renewable-energy sector whose securities were traded on a
United States exchange; and (iii) that issuer’s largest shareholder, a Canadian institutional
investor, participated in a scheme to bribe Indian government officials to ensure the execution of
lucrative solar energy supply contracts with Indian government entities. During the same period,

senior executives of the Indian renewable-energy company (i) conspired to misrepresent the



company’s anti-bribery practices to United States-based investors and international financial
institutions and (ii) concealed from those same investors and institutions their bribery of Indian
government officials to obtain billions of dollars in financing for green energy projects, including
the corrupt solar energy supply contracts. In addition, senior executives of the issuer company
and its Canadian institutional investor conspired to obstruct the United States government’s
investigations into the bribery scheme.

B. Entities Associated with the Defendants

2. The “Conglomerate™! was a diversified, multinational organization, which
had its corporate offices in India. The Conglomerate was one of India’s largest business
organizations and was comprised of portfolio companies, including the “Indian Energy
Company.”

3. The “Indian Energy Company” was a renewable-energy company
operating and headquartered in India. The Indian Energy Company was a portfolio company of
the Conglomerate, and its securities were publicly traded in India.

4. The “U.S. Issuer” was a renewable-energy company incorporated in
Mauritius. The U.S. Issuer had securities that were registered pursuant to Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Title 15, United States Code, Section 781) and traded on the
New York Stock Exchange until approximately November 2023. The U.S. Issuer was required

to file periodic reports with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)

! The identity of the Conglomerate and all other anonymized entities and individuals

discussed herein are known to the Grand Jury.
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until approximately April 2024. The U.S. Issuer was an “issuer,” as that term is used in the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1(a).

5. The “U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary” was a majority-ownéd and controlled
subsidiary of the U.S. Issuer headquartered in India that built and operated renewable-energy
projects in India. The U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary was an “agent” of an issuer, the U.S. Issuer, as
that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1(a), until
approximately April 2024. For purposes of sections IV through V of this Indictment only, the
term “U.S. Issuer” encompasses the “U.S. Issuer,” the “U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary” and the other
wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries of the two entities.

6. The “Canadian Investor” was an institutional investor headquartered in
Canada that managed funds for Canadian public retirement and insurance plans.

7. The “Canadian Investor’s Subsidiary” was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Canadian Investor. The Canadian Investor’s Subsidiary was the U.S. Issuer’s majority
stockholder.

C. The Defendants

8. The defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI was a citizen of India who resided in
India. GAUTAM S. ADANI was the Founder of the Conglomerate. The Conglomerate included
numerous portfolio companies, including the Indian Energy Company. GAUTAM S. ADANI
served as the Chairman and as a Non-Executive Director of the Indian Energy Company’s Board
of Directors.

9. The defendant SAGAR R. ADANI was a citizen of India who resided in

India and was the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI’s nephew. From approximately October



2018 through the present, SAGAR R. ADANI was the Executive Director of the Indian Energy
Company’s Board of Directors.

10.  The defendant VNEET S. JAAIN was a citizen of India who resided in
India. From approximately July 2020 through May 2023, JAAIN was the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”) of the Indian Energy Company. From approximately July 2020 through the
present, JAAIN was the Managing Director of the Indian Energy Company’s Board of Directors.

11.  The defendant RANJIT GUPTA was a citizen of India who resided in
India. From approximately July 2019 through April 2022, GUPTA was the CEO of the U.S.
Issuer and the CEO and Managing Director of the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. GUPTA was an
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“officer,” “employee” and “agent” of an issuer, the U.S. Issuer, as those terms are used in the
FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1(a).

12.  The defendant CYRIL CABANES was a citizen of Australia and France
who resided in Singapore. From approximately February 2016 through October 2023,
CABANES was employed by a company associated with the Canadian Investor and, from
approximately January 2017 through October 2023, was a Non-Executive Director of the Boards
of Directors of the U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. CABANES was a “director” of
an issuer, the U.S. Issuer, as that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section
78dd-1(a).

13.  The defendant SAURABH AGARWAL was a citizen of India who
resided in India. From approximately May 2017 through July 2023, SAURABH AGARWAL

was employed by a company associated with the Canadian Investor and reported to the defendant



CYRIL CABANES. SAURABH AGARWAL was a “person,” as that term is used in the FCPA,
Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-3(a).

14.  The defendant DEEPAK MALHOTRA was a citizen of India who resided
in India. From approximately September 2018 through October 2023, MALHOTRA was
employed by a company associated with the Canadian Investor and, from approximately
November 2019 through October 2023, was a Non-Executive Director of the Boards of Directors
of the U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. MALHOTRA was a “director” of an issuer,
the U.S. Issuer, as that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-
1(a).

15.  The defendant RUPESH AGARWAL was a citizen of India who resided
in India. From approximately the spring of 2022 to July 2022, RUPESH AGARWAL was a
consultant for the U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. From approximately July 2022 to
August 2022, RUPESH AGARWAL was the Chief Strategy and Commercial Officer for the
U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. From approximately August 2022 through July
2023, RUPESH AGARWAL was the acting CEO of the U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s
Subsidiary. RUPESH AGARWAL was an “officer,” “employee” and “agent” of an issuer, the
U.S. Issuer, as those terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-
1(a).

D. Relevant Individuals and Entities

16.  Co-Conspirator #1 was a citizen of the United Kingdom who resided in
Hong Kong. From approximately October 2021 through October 2023, Co-Conspirator #1 was

the Non-Executive Chairman of the U.S. Issuer’s and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary’s Boards of



Directors. Co-Conspirator #1 was a “director” and “agent” of an issuer, the U.S. Issuer, as those
terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1(a).

17.  Co-Conspirator #2 was a citizen of India who resided in India. From
approximately July 2019 through April 2022, Co-Conspirator #2 held high-ranking executive
positions at the U.S. Issuer and the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary. Co-Conspirator #2 was an
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“officer,” “employee” and “agent” of an issuer, the U.S. Issuer, as those terms are used in the
FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1(a).

18.  Foreign Official #1 was a citizen of India who resided in India. From
approximately May 2019 through June 2024, Foreign Official #1 served as a high-ranking
government official of Andhra Pradesh, India. Foreign Official #1 was a “foreign official,” as
that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-1(f)(1)(A) and 78dd-
3(D2)A).

19.  The Solar Energy Corporation of India (“SECI”) was a company of the
Ministry of New and Renewable Energy under the central government of India whose mission
was, among other things, to increase the use of renewable-energy in India. SECI was state-
owned and state-controlled and performed a function that India treated as its own. SECI was an
“instrumentality” of the Indian government, and SECT’s officers and employees were “foreign
officials,” as those terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-
1(£)(1)(A) and 78dd-3(H)(2)(A).

20.  The country of India was comprised of numerous states and regions (also
referred to as union territories), including Chhattisgarh, Tamil Nadu, Odisha, Jammu and

Kashmir and Andhra Pradesh, which were governed by their own respective state and union



governments. Generally, the governing bodies of the states and union territories included a chief
minister and council of ministers. These governing bodies were “department[s]” and
“agenc[ies]” of the Indian government, and the officers and employees of these governing bodies
were “foreign officials,” as those terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code,
Sections 78dd-1(f)(1)(A) and 78dd-3(f)(2)(A).

21.  The Chhattisgarh State Power Distribution Company Limited, Tamil Nadu
Generation and Distribution Corporation Limited, GRIDCO Limited, Jammu Kashmir Power
Corporation Limited, Andhra Pradesh Central Power Distribution Corporation Limited, Andhra
Pradesh Eastern Power Distribution Company Limited and Andhra Pradesh Southern Power
Distribution Company Limited (collectively, the “State Distribution Companies”) were
electricity distribution companies in India that were state-owned and state-controlled and
performed functions that the state governments in India treated as their own. The State
Distribution Companies were “instrumentalities” of the Indian government, and their officers and
employees were “foreign officials,” as those terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States
Code, Sections 78dd-1(f)(1)(A) and 78dd-3(f)(2)(A).
1L Terms and Definitions

22. A Power Sale Agreement (“PSA™) was an agreement between an
electricity distribution company and SECI, pursuant to which the electricity distribution
company agreed to purchase solar power from SECI at certain negotiated rates.

23. A Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) was an agreement between SECI
and an energy producer, pursuant to which the energy producer agreed to supply energy to SECI

at certain negotiated rates.



24.  The Indian rupee (“INR”) was the domestic currency of India.

25. A “lakh” was equivalent to 100,000 under Indian numbering conventions.

26. A “crore” was equivalent to 10 million, or 100 lakhs, under Indian
numbering conventions.

27. A “security” was, among other things, any note, stock, bond, debenture,
evidence of indebtedness, investment contract or participation in any profit-sharing agreement.

28. A “syndicated loan” was a loan arranged by one or more banks on behalf
of a group of lenders, referred to as a syndicate, who worked together to provide funds for a
single borrower.

29. A “facility agreement” was a loan agreement between a borrowing
company and a lender or group of lenders that allowed the borrowing company to take out
money from the loan periodically over an extended period of time.

30. A “bond” was a fixed-income instrument and investment product where
investors lent money to a government or company at a certain interest rate for an amount of time.
The entity repaid investors interest in addition to repaying the original face value of the bond.

31.  Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933 provided a mechanism for the
sale of securities, such as bonds (“Rule 144A Bonds™), that were privately placed to qualified
institutional buyers (“QIBs”) in the United States and elsewhere.

32.  An “offering circular” was a detailed document provided by an issuer of

securities to potential investors containing important information about the issuer, its affiliates

and the offered securities.



33. A “bookrunner” was a financial institution responsible for managing and
coordinating the issuance and sale of securities. In the context of Rule 144A Bonds, a
bookrunner, among other things, collaborated with the issuer to determine the appropriate price
and structure of the securities being offered, helped the issuer market the offering to potential
investors, including through roadshows, and participated in allocating the securities to investors.
Multiple bookrunners on a transaction were referred to as “joint bookrunners.”

34. A “subscription agreement” was a legal document used in the process of
issuing securities. In the context of Rule 144A Bonds, a subscription agreement served as a
contract between an issuer and a bookrunner or joint bookrunners, outlining the terms and
conditions under which the bookrunners agree to market and distribute the issuer’s securities.

35.  An “integrated annual report” was a comprehensive report that included
financial and non-financial information about an organization to provide an overall view of the
organization’s performance, strategy, governance and future prospects. Investors and potential
investors used annual reports to evaluate a company’s financial performance and to make
investment decisions.
II.  The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

36.  The FCPA was enacted by Congress for the purpose of, among other
things, making it unlawful for certain classes of persons and entities to act corruptly in
furtherance of an offer, promise, authorization or payment of money or anything of value,
directly or indirectly, to a foreign official for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business for,

or directing business to, any person.



V. Overview of the Criminal Schemes

A. The Bribery and Obstruction Schemes

37.  Beginning in or about 2020, defendant RANJIT GUPTA and Co-
Conspirator #2, while acting within the scope of their employment as officers, employees and
agents of the U.S. Issuer, knowingly and willfully conspired and agreed with each other and
others, including but not limited to the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI
and VNEET S. JAAIN, to corruptly offer, authorize, promise to pay and to pay bribes to and for
the benefit of government officials in India to cause Indian state electricity distribution
companies to enter into contracts with SECI in order for the Indian Energy Company, the Indian
Energy Company’s subsidiaries and the U.S. Issuer to obtain and retain business. At various
times in or about and between 2021 and 2022, other individuals, including but not limited to the
defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA, RUPESH
AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1, knowingly and willfully joined the conspiracy.

38.  To accomplish the objectives of the then ongoing illegal bribery scheme,
the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA,
RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1, together with others, also agreed knowingly and
corruptly to conceal the scheme from the United States government, including by obstructing an
investigation by a grand jury in the Eastern District of New York (the “Grand Jury
Investigation™), an investigation by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (the “FBI Investigation™)
and an investigation by the SEC (the “SEC Investigation™) (collectively, the “Government
Investigations™). As part of that scheme, beginning in approximately 2022, CABANES,

SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 agreed
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with each other and others to destroy and suppress documents and communications and provide
false information to the United States government in connection with the Government
Investigations.
B. The Securities Fraud and Wire Fraud Schemes

39.  Inor about and between 2020 and 2024, in order to fund its operations, the
Indian Energy Company and certain of its subsidiaries engaged in a series of financial
transactions, including: (i) obtaining more than $2 billion of United States-dollar denominated
bank loans from international financial institutions and United States-based asset management
companies; and (ii) offering more than $1 billion in securities underwritten by international
financial institutions and marketed and sold to investors in the United States, among other places.
In connection with these financial transactions, investors irrevocably committed themselves in
the United States to invest millions of dollars in the securities of the Indian Energy Company.

40.  In connection with these transactions, the Indian Energy Company and its
directors, management team and employees, including the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI,
SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, made or caused others to make false and misleading
statements, and omitted material facts that rendered certain statements misleading, to investors,
Jjoint bookrunners and lenders regarding the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery commitments
and practices and the bribery scheme described herein.

41. The Indian Energy Company and its directors, management team and
employees, including the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S.
JAAIN, relied on the United States financial system to perpetuate this fraudulent scheme by,

among other things, seeking and securing investors and potential investors physically located in
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the United States and causing wires to be sent and received that passed through the United
States, including through the Eastern District of New York.

V. The Conspiracies to Violate the FCPA and Obstruct Justice

A. The Corrupt Solar Project

42. In or about and between December 2019 and July 2020, the U.S. Issuer
and the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary won and were issued letters of award (“LOAs”) for
a manufacturing-linked solar tender offered by SECI (the “Manufacturing Linked Project™). As
part of that award, the U.S. Issuer agreed to supply four gigawatts of solar power to SECI,
and the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary agreed to supply eight gigawatts of solar power to
SECI. SECI, in turn, was responsible for finding state electricity distribution companies that
would purchase the 12 gigawatts of power that the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary and the
U.S. Issuer had agreed to supply.

43.  The terms of the LOAs and amended LOAs obligated SECI to purchase
solar power from the U.S. Issuer and the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries at a fixed rate.

44. At the time of its award, the size and scope of the Manufacturing Linked
Project was among the largest global solar energy projects. The Manufacturing Linked Project
more than doubled the capacity of renewable-power under the Indian Energy Company’s and the
U.S. Issuer’s portfolios. After the award, the Indian Energy Company issued a media release
titled, “[the Indian Energy Company] Wins the World’s Largest Solar Award,” which included a
statement from the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI that the Indian Energy Company was
“honoured to be selected by SECI for this landmark solar award.” Similarly, following the

award, the U.S. Issuer published a media release announcing its four-gigawatt award as a part of
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“one of the largest solar projects ever awarded globally,” which included a statement from the
defendant RANJIT GUPTA that “[w]ith this award, [the U.S. Issuer] will have a large pipeline of
over 4 GW for an extended period of time.”

45.  The Manufacturing Linked Project was anticipated to generate
considerable profits for its energy producers. For example, the U.S. Issuer anticipated that, over
approximately 20 years, the Manufacturing Linked Project would generate more than $2 billion
in profits after tax.

B. The Mechanics of the Bribery Scheme

i. GAUTAM S. ADANI. SAGAR R. ADANI, VNEET S. JAAIN, RANJIT

GUPTA and Co-Conspirator #2 Promise to Pay Bribes to Government
Officials

46.  The high energy prices contemplated in the LOAs made it difficult for
SECI to find Indian state buyers of energy under the Manufacturing Linked Project. After the
award of the Manufacturing Linked Project, SECI unsuccessfully sought out Indian state and
union governments to purchase the 12 gigawatts of solar power pursuant to PSAs. Without
PSAs to sell the energy to a state buyer, SECI would not enter into corresponding PPAs to
purchase power from the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries or the U.S. Issuer.

47.  SECP’s inability to find purchasers jeopardized the lucrative LOAs, and
corresponding revenue, that the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary and the U.S. Issuer
anticipated receiving from the Manufacturing Linked Project. As a result, in or about 2020, the
defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI, VNEET S. JAAIN, RANJIT GUPTA
and Co-Conspirator #2, among others, devised a scheme to offer, authorize, make and promise to

make bribe payments to Indian government officials in exchange for the government officials
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causing state electricity distribution companies to enter into PSAs with SECI, which would allow
the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries and the U.S. Issuer to secure PPAs with SECI (the
“Bribery Scheme™). GUPTA and Co-Conspirator #2 agreed that the U.S. Issuer would pay for a
portion of the promised bribes.

48.  During the course of the Bribery Scheme, the co-conspirators undertook
extensive efforts to corruptly persuade government officials to cause state electricity distribution
companies to execute PSAs and frequently discussed those efforts amongst themselves,
including through the use of an electronic messaging application. In addition, the defendant
GAUTAM S. ADANI personally met with Foreign Official #1 in Andhra Pradesh to advance the
execution of a PSA between SECI and Andhra Pradesh’s state electricity distribution companies,
including on or about August 7, 2021, on or about September 12, 2021 and on or about
November 20, 2021.

49. In furtherance of the Bribery Scheme, the co-conspirators, through
GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI, VNEET S. JAAIN and others, had offered and
promised to Indian government officials approximately 2,029 crore rupees (approximately $265
million)? in bribes in exchange for Indian government officials causing the state electricity
distribution companies to execute PSAs under the Manufacturing Linked Project, which would
benefit the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries and the U.S. Issuer. Approximately 1,750
crore rupees (approximately $228 million) of the corrupt payments was offered to Foreign

Official #1 in exchange for Foreign Official #1 causing Andhra Pradesh’s state electricity

2 Unless otherwise noted, all U.S. Dollar conversions from INR are based on the

approximate value of the INR to the U.S. Dollar in or about April 2022.
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distribution companies to agree to purchase seven gigawatts of solar power from SECI under the
Manufacturing Linked Project.

50.  Following the promise of bribes to Indian government officials, in or
about and between July 2021 and February 2022, electricity distribution companies for the states
and regions of Odisha, Jammu and Kashmir, Tamil Nadu, Chhattisgarh and Andhra Pradesh
entered into PSAs with SECI under the Manufacturing Linked Project. Andhra Pradesh’s
electricity distribution companies entered into a PSA with SECI on or about December 1, 2021,
pursuant to which the state agreed to purchase approximately seven gigawatts of solar power—
by far the largest amount of any Indian state or region.

51.  With executed PSAs under the Manufacturing Linked Project, SECI could
enter into corresponding PPAs to purchase solar power from the Indian Energy Company’s
subsidiaries and the U.S. Issuer. In or about and between October 2021 and February 2022, the
U.S. Issuer and the Indian Energy Company, through subsidiaries, executed PPAs with SECI.
Pursuant to the PPAs, the U.S. Issuer agreed to supply SECI with approximately 650 megawatts
of solar power for the Indian states and region of Chhattisgarh, Tamil Nadu, Odisha and Jammu
and Kashmir (collectively, the “650 MW PPAs”) and approximately 2.3 gigawatts of solar power
for the Indian state of Andhra Pradesh (the “2.3 GW PPAs”). Subsidiaries for the Indian Energy
Company, likewise, executed their own PPAs with SECI under which the subsidiaries agreed to
supply SECI with solar power for the Indian states and region of Chhattisgarh, Tamil Nadu,
Odisha, Jammu and Kashmir and Andhra Pradesh. Following the execution of the Andhra

Pradesh-linked PPAs by the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries, the Indian Energy Company
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issued a press release quoting GAUTAM S. ADANI, who touted the signing of “the world’s
largest PPA with SECL.”

52.  During and in furtherance of the Bribery Scheme, the defendant SAGAR
R. ADANI used his cellular phone to track specific details of the bribes offered and promised to
government officials (the “Bribe Notes”). The Bribe Notes identified: (i) the state or region for
which government officials had been offered a bribe; (ii) the total amount of the offered bribe;
and (iii) the approximate amount of solar power the state or region would agree to purchase in
exchange for the bribe. In most instances, the Bribe Notes also identified the per megawatt rate
for the total bribe amount offered, the abbreviated titles of the government officials who would
receive the bribes, and/or the allocation of the total bribe amount among government officials
within each state and region.

ii. CYRIL CABANES., SAURABH AGARWAL and DEEPAK
MALHOTRA Learn of the Bribery Scheme

53.  Before the U.S. Issuer entered into the 2.3 GW PPAs to supply solar
power for Andhra Pradesh, during a meeting in India, the defendants SAURABH AGARWAL
and DEEPAK MALHOTRA learned from the defendant RANJIT GUPTA and Co-Conspirator
#2 about payments to be made to secure the Andhra Pradesh-linked PPAs for the U.S. Issuer and
subsidiaries of the Indian Energy Company. SAURABH AGARWAL and MALHOTRA shared
that information with the defendant CYRIL CABANES.

54, Approximately five days later, on or about December 16, 2021, the U.S.

Issuer executed the 2.3 GW PPAs.
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ii. The Co-Conspirators’ Corrupt Efforts to Pay the Indian Energy Company

55.  Onor about April 25, 2022, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI,
VNEET S. JAAIN, RANJIT GUPTA and Co-Conspirator #2 were scheduled to meet in New
Delhi, Delhi, India to discuss the Bribery Scheme. In anticipation of the meeting, JAAIN used
his cellular phone to photograph a document summarizing the amounts the U.S. Issuer owed the
Indian Energy Company for its respective portion of the bribes promised by the Indian Energy
Company on behalf of the U.S. Issuer. The summary reflected that the U.S. Issuer owed the
Indian Energy Company: (i) 55 crore rupees (approximately $7 million) for the bribes that were
promised to secure the 650 MW PPAs; and (ii) 583 crore rupees (approximately $76 million) for
the bribes that were promised to secure the 2.3 GW PPAs.

56. However, also on or about April 25, 2022, the U.S. Issuer’s Board of
Directors asked the defendant RANJIT GUPTA and Co-Conspirator #2 to resign from their
positions, which they did. The next day, on or about April 26, 2022, the U.S. Issuer publicly
announced RANJIT GUPTA’s and Co-Conspirator #2’s resignations from their executive
positions.

57. On or about April 27, 2022, the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI
contacted the defendant SAURABH AGARWAL to request a meeting with the U.S. Issuer’s
new leadership. Foilowing his communications with GAUTAM S. ADANI, the defendants
CYRIL CABANES and SAURABH AGARWAL directed the defendant RUPESH AGARWAL
and Co-Conspirator #1 to attend' a meeting with GAUTAM S. ADANI in Ahmedabad, Gujarat,

India on behalf of the U.S. Issuer.
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58.  On or about April 29, 2022, the defendant RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 met with the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN at the Conglomerate’s corporate office in Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India. During the
meeting, GAUTAM S. ADANI detailed aspects of the Bribery Scheme, including, among others:
(1) the corrupt agreement with the defendant RANJIT GUPTA and Co-Conspirator #2 to secure
relevant contracts under the Manufacturing Linked Project through bribe payments to Indian
government officials; (ii) that the Canadian Investor had approved the corrupt agreement; (iii)
that, for its share of the bribe payments, the U.S. Issuer owed GAUTAM S. ADANI 25 lakh
rupees per megawatt of power for securing the 2.3 GW PPAs and 55 crore rupees for securing
the 650 MW PPAs; and (iv) steps GAUTAM S. ADANI personally took to offer bribes to Indian
government officials. In addition, GAUTAM S. ADANI presented multiple options by which
the U.S. Issuer could conceal satisfaction of its portion of the bribe payments, including by
transferring the 2.3 GW PPAs from the U.S. Issuer to the Indian Energy Company or its
subsidiaries.

59.  Following the April 29, 2022 meeting, the defendants CYRIL CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 planned how the U.S. Issuer would pay for the portion of bribe payments that the
Indian Energy Company had promised to make on the U.S. Issuer’s behalf. As discussed further
below, to further the Bribery Scheme, CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA,
RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 also agreed to hide their own involvement in the

Bribery Scheme.

18



60. To help the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL,
DEEPAK MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 determine which
corrupt payment option was best, RUPESH AGARWAL prepared multiple analyses using
PowerPoint and Excel. One of the PowerPoints prepared by RUPESH AGARWAL summarized
the options, described as “Commercial proposal[s],” that the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI
had suggested, including the U.S. Issuer: (i) directly paying the Indian Energy Company the
amounts owed to GAUTAM S. ADANI, described as a “Development Fee™; (ii) transferring all
of its Manufacturing Linked Project PPAs to the Indian Energy Companys; (iii) transferring only
the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy Company; and (iv) entering into a joint venture with the
Indian Energy Company whereby the Indian Energy Company would build and operate the U.S.
Issuer’s projects. That PowerPoint also contemplated transferring the 2.3 GW PPAs to the
Indian Energy Company and paying the Indian Energy Company a $7.3 million “fee” in
connection with the 650 MW PPAs, which PPAs the U.S. Issuer would continue to retain and
develop under the Manufacturing Linked Project.

61.  The corrupt payment analyses prepared by the defendant RUPESH
AGARWAL described a coordinated effort by the Indian Energy Company and the U.S. Issuer to
facilitate the transfer of the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy Company and stated that, where
regulatory approval was required from SECI, the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI would obtain
the approval.

62.  During the course of the Bribery Scheme, the defendants CYRIL
CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and

Co-Conspirator #1, regularly communicated about and in furtherance of the corrupt scheme,
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including via electronic messaging, some of which communications occurred while CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 were in the United States.

63.  When communicating about the Bribery Scheme, the defendants CYRIL
CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 often referred to the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN by
code names. Specifically, among other things, CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL,
MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 referred to GAUTAM S. ADANI
as “SAG,” “Mr[.] A,” “Numero uno” and “the big man,” and referred to JAAIN as “V,” “snake”
and “Numero uno minus one.”

64. On or about June 14, 2022, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR
R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN met with the defendant RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 at the Conglomerate’s corporate office in Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India. Prior to
the meeting, Co-Conspirator #1 discussed with the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH
AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL a plan to return the 2.3 GW
PPAs to SECI as a way to transfer value to the Indian Energy Company to satisfy a portion of the
U.S. Issuer’s bribes. As a result, at the meeting, Co-Conspirator #1 told GAUTAM S. ADANI
that the U.S. Issuer would return the 2.3 GW PPAs to SECI, with the understanding that the
Indian Energy Company or its subsidiary would acquire the project for itself, thereby satisfying a
portion of the U.S. Issuer’s bribes. Co-Conspirator #1 also agreed that the U.S. Issuer would pay
the Indian Energy Company its portion—approximately $7 million—of the bribe payments

promised by the Indian Energy Company to Indian government officials to secure the 650 MW
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PPAs, which corrupt payment would facilitate the U.S. Issuer’s retention of the remaining
portions of the Manufacturing Linked Project.

65. Thereafter, the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL,
DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and Co-Conspirator #1, worked to
implement the transfer of the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy Company and to identify a
means to transfer millions of dollars to the Indian Energy Company while the U.S. Issuer

retained the 650 MW PPAs.

iv. The Corrupt Transfer of the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy
Company’s Subsidiary

66.  The defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK
MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and Co-Conspirator #1, needed approval from the
U.S. Issuer’s Boards of Directors to transfer the valuable 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy
Company and/or its subsidiary. To do so, they contrived pretextual reasons to return the 2.3 GW
PPAs to SECI, which they presented to the U.S. Issuer’s Boards of Directors. Specifically,
CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator # 1 claimed that the need to return the 2.3 GW PPAs to SECI was based on then-
ongoing litigation regarding the project and deteriorating economics, which reasons were meant
to obfuscate the true reason the U.S. Issuer was returning the projects to SECI. CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 also
concealed from the Boards of Directors and others to whom they reported the corrupt monies
they had agreed to pay to the Indian Energy Company for the bribes promised to secure the 650

MW PPAs. On or about November 22, 2022, the U.S. Issuer’s Board of Directors authorized
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sending a letter to SECI to begin discussions about the U.S. Issuer withdrawing from the 2.3 GW
PPAs.

67.  The defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN, who were secretly directing the U.S. Issuer’s return of the 2.3 GW PPAs to SECI,
kept each other apprised of the progress on the project’s return. The same day that the U.S.
Issuer’s Board of Directors authorized the letter to SECI, on or about November 22, 2022,
SAGAR R. ADANI sent an electronic message to GAUTAM S. ADANI stating that “24th
(Thursday) there is [a] board meeting in [the U.S. Issuer] where they are expected to approve the
final letter to be sent to SECI. We will keep close track and chase it up properly.” GAUTAM S.
ADANI responded to the message, “Ok.”

68. On or about December 7, 2022, the U.S. Issuer sent a letter to SECI
requesting a meeting with SECI to discuss the 2.3 GW PPAs.

69. The following day, on or about December 8, 2022, SAGAR R. ADANI
sent an electronic message to GAUTAM S. ADANI stating that the U.S. Issuer “has finally
submitted letter to SECI today . . . . Will follow for next steps closely.”

70.  The defendants SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN and other
Indian Energy Company personnel also secretly influenced the SECI process for reallocation of
the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary, including by directing the U.S.
Issuer’s submissions to SECI and by obtaining and revising internal SECI documents.

71.  On or about March 18, 2024, SECI sent letters to the U.S. Issuer

terminating the 2.3 GW PPAs, authorizing reallocation of the 2.3 GW PPAs to the Indian Energy
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Company’s subsidiary and affirming the U.S. Issuer’s obligation to continue developing the
650 MW PPAs.

72.  On or about March 28, 2024, as of which time the defendants RANJIT
GUPTA, CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA, and RUPESH
AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 and Co-Conspirator #2 were no longer employed by the
U.S. Issuer and companies associated with the Canadian Investor, the U.S. Issuer publicly
announced, among other things, that it was withdrawing from the 650 MW PPAs.

C. The Obstruction Scheme

73.  On or about March 17, 2022, as part of the SEC Investigation, the SEC
sent a “general inquiry” request to the U.S. Issuer, which included requests for information about
all contracts the U.S. Issuer had bid on and/or won since 2018, FCPA complaints and
investigations and the solicitation of anything of value by or on behalf of foreign government
officials.

74.  On or about March 25, 2022, Co-Conspirator #1 sent an electronic
message to the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL and DEEPAK
MALHOTRA alerting them that the U.S. Issuer had received an “SEC enquiry .. . about what
we have bid for/ won/ agents/ any compliance enquiry and any FCPA enquiry.” Several days
later, on or about March 29, 2022, the defendant RANJIT GUPTA also sent an electronic
message to MALHOTRA attaching the SEC’s inquiry to the U.S. Issuer, which letter
MALHOTRA then sent to CABANES and SAURABH AGARWAL. SAURABH AGARWAL
responded to the message, in part, “We need the management to confirm the FCPA related

statements that will be released as a response.”
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75.  To accomplish the objectives of the ongoing Bribery Scheme, beginning
in or about 2022, the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK
MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and Co-Conspirator #1, agreed to suppress
documents, conceal information and provide false information to the United States government
for the purpose of obstructing, influencing and interfering with the Government Investigations
(the “Obstruction Scheme™).

76. To create the false appearance of transparency and good governance, in
or about August 2022, the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK
MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and Co-Conspirator #1, caused the U.S. Issuer’s
Board of Directors to initiate an internal investigation run by a law firm headquartered in the
United States and supervised by a sub-committee of the Board of Directors. Part of the
Obstruction Scheme was to withhold key information about the Bribery Scheme, including the
plan to pay millions of dollars to the Indian Energy Company in connection with the 650 MW
PPAs that were to be retained by the U.S. Issuer, from the internal investigation and the
Government Investigations. In addition, CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA,
RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 made and agreed to make certain selective
disclosures in connection with the internal investigation and the Government Investigations—
namely, revealing the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI’s, SAGAR R. ADANI’s and VNEET S.
JAAIN’s requests for bribe money but concealing their own participation in the Bribery Scheme.
This strategy was designed to create the appearance that the co-conspirators were reporting

misconduct rather than perpetrating misconduct, which, in turn, aided the co-conspirators’
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continued efforts to further the ongoing Bribery Scheme and to conceal the true nature of the
Bribery Scheme from the Board of Directors and the Government Investigations.

77. In or about and between 2022 and the present, the defendants CYRIL
CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, and
Co-Conspirator #1, took numerous additional steps to conceal their participation in the Bribery
Scheme and interfere with the Government Investigations. Specifically, CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1
destroyed and otherwise concealed evidence, including a PowerPoint analysis and electronic
communications, thereby impairing the availability of records, documents, objects and other
things for use in the Government Investigations. In furtherance of the Obstruction Scheme:

(a) In or about June 2022, SAURABH AGARWAL and CABANES
agreed to delete electronic messages they had exchanged about what they would report to the
Canadian Investor and the Canadian Investor’s Subsidiary about the Bribery Scheme.

(b)  Inorabout early August 2022, Co-Conspirator #1 discussed with
MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL the deletion of incriminating electronic materials,
including emails, electronic messages and a PowerPoint analysis detailing options for how the
U.S. Issuer could compensate the Indian Energy Company for its portion of the bribes.

(c) On or about September 30, 2022, CABANES, SAURABH
AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 agreed to conceal
their agreement to pay the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI in connection with Bribery Scheme.

78.  Inor about and between March 2023 and July 2023, CABANES,

SAURABH AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 met
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with representatives from the FBI, Department of Justice (“DOJ”), and SEC in Brooklyn, New
York and, in furtherance of the Bribery Scheme, falsely denied their participation in the Bribery
Scheme.
VI.  The Fraud Scheme

79.  Inor about and between 2020 and 2024, while engaged in the Bribery
Scheme, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN were
simultaneously engaged in a scheme to obtain United States dollar-denominated financing for the
Indian Energy Company and its subsidiaries, including from investors located in the United
States, on the basis of false and misleading statements, as well as material omissions that
rendered certain statements misleading, regarding the Indian Energy Company’s involvement in
the Bribery Scheme and its anti-bribery commitments and practices (the “Fraud Scheme”).

80. To obtain such financing, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR
R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN approved financial transactions entered into by the Indian
Energy Company and its subsidiaries, including: (i) United States dollar-denominated syndicate
loans from lender groups comprised of international financial institutions and United States-
based investors; and (ii) Rule 144A bond offerings underwritten by international financial
institutions, which were marketed and sold to investors in the United States, among other places.
Necessary documents for each of these financings contained false and misleading statements
about whether the Indian Energy Company engaged in bribery and the Indian Energy Company’s
overall commitment to anti-corruption principles and good governance.

81.  The false statements, misrepresentations and material omissions that the

defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN made and caused
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others to make induced investors to purchase bonds and financial institutions to lend money
pursuant to terms and at prices that did not account for the true risk associated with the
transactions, among other potential consequences of providing capital to the Indian Energy
Company or its subsidiaries, when the Indian Energy Company and its principals were engaged
in the Bribery Scheme.

82. The defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN had direct control over the Indian Energy Company’s ability to raise capital. On or
about July 10, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Indian Energy Company passed a resolution
reconstituting its “Management Committee” and vesting certain powers in the Management
Committee (the “Indian Energy Company Board Resolution™). The four-member Management
Committee included GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and JAAIN. Powers vested in
the Management Committee included, among others, the powers to borrow funds from banks
and/or other financial institutions, make investments in subsidiary or joint venture companies
and issue securities.

83.  In addition to authorizing fraudulent financial transactions, the defendants
GAUTAM S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI took other actions in furtherance of the Fraud
Scheme. For example, in or about and between 2020 and 2023, GAUTAM S. ADANI and
SAGAR R. ADANI traveled to the United States to meet with prospective financial partners and
investors for the purpose of maintaining and improving the Conglomerate’s and the Indian
Energy Company’s access to United States-based capital.

84.  Additionally, in connection with the publication of news articles regarding

the United States government’s investigation into the Bribery Scheme, the defendants GAUTAM
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S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI made or caused others to make false and misleading
statements publicly and privately to financial institutions about the Bribery Scheme and the
Indian Energy Company’s knowledge and awareness of the United States government’s
investigation into the Bribery Scheme.

A. The 2021 Fraudulent Financial Transactions

i The 2021 Syndicate Loan

85. On or about March 5, 2021, four wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Indian
Energy Company (“the 2021 Project Companies™), which were established to develop certain of
the Indian Energy Company’s renewable-energy projects, raised a total of $1.35 billion in a
United States-dollar denominated senior secured debt facility (the “2021 Syndicate Loan™) from
the international branches of a group of global financial institutions (the “2021 Lenders™).

86. In connection with the 2021 Syndicate Loan, on or about March 5, 2021,
the 2021 Project Companies entered into a facility agreement with the 2021 Lenders (the “2021
Facility Agreement”). The 2021 Facility Agreement contained false and misleading statements
about the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices and policies. For example, the 2021
Facility Agreement included a false and misleading representation that neither the 2021 Project
Companies, nor any affiliates, which included the Indian Energy Company, or their
representatives had taken or would take any action in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise
to pay, or authorization or approval of the payment or giving of money, property, gifts or
anything else of value, directly or indirectly, to any government official to influence official

action or secure an improper advantage.
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87.  The defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN authorized the 2021 Syndicate Loan while engaged in the Bribery Scheme, which, as
described above, included promises to pay government officials to influence official action
and/or secure an improper advantage. On or about March 1, 2021, just prior to finalizing the
2021 Syndicate Loan, Individual #1, the company secretary of the Indian Energy Company,
certified a copy of the operative July 2020 Indian Energy Company Board Resolution,
demonstrating that GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and JAAIN maintained the
authority to approve the 2021 Syndicate Loan, which resolution was provided to the 2021
Lenders in connection with the loan.

88. On or about December 6, 2021, one of the 2021 Lenders (“Financial
Institution #1”) sold from its Hong Kong branch approximately $70 million of its $325 million
commitment of the 2021 Syndicate Loan through two asset management companies, one of
which was headquartered in New York (the “Asset Managers™).

89.  Prior to the sale, the Asset Managers undertook a due diligence process,
which included a review of the 2021 Facility Agreement containing the false and misleading
statements about the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices and policies described
above.

90.  Access to the U.S. dollar-denominated loan funds required collecting,
sending and receiving wires within and through the United States, including through the Eastern
District of New York. To access the 2021 Syndicate Loan funds, the 2021 Project Companies
issued utilization requests to a financial institution designated as the “agent” bank among the

2021 Lenders (“Financial Institution #2”). Financial Institution #2 collected loan funds from the
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2021 Lenders in a bank account at the New York branch of Financial Institution #2 and
subsequently wired the funds to another financial institution in the United States for onward
remittance to the 2021 Project Companies.

ii. The 2021 144A Bond

91.  On or about September 8, 2021, the Indian Energy Company issued $750
million in senior secured notes due 2024 (the “2021 144A Bond™). The 2021 144A Bond was
marketed and offered to QIBs in the United States pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of
1933. In connection with the 2021 144A Bond, potential investors electronically received an
offering circular (“the 2021 Bond Circular”), a document that included information about, among
other things, the Conglomerate, the Indian Energy Company, the 2021 144A Bond, identified
risk factors, the 2021 Syndicate Loan, the Indian Energy Company’s Board of Directors and
senior management, the Indian Energy Company’s principal shareholders and a description of
the Indian Energy Company’s approximate 20 gigawatt portfolio, eight gigawatts of which was
the corrupt Manufacturing Linked Project.

92.  The 2021 144A Bond raised money for the Indian Energy Company’s
ongoing projects, including the corrupt Manufacturing Linked Project. In the 2021 Bond
Circular and in marketing materials, the Indian Energy Company identified to investors the use
of proceeds for the 2021 144A Bond as capital expenditure requirements for the Indian Energy
Company’s under-construction projects at various stages of development, including the corrupt
Manufacturing Linked Project.

93.  The defendants SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN reviewed and

approved the 2021 Bond Circular, which contained false and misleading assurances about the
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Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices and policies and its commitment to such
principles, purportedly backed by robust internal compliance measures. For example, the
2021 Bond Circular touted the Indian Energy Company’s risk management committee’s
oversight of anti-corruption and anti-bribery related matters. SAGAR R. ADANI and JAAIN,
who at the time of the 2021 144A Bond offering were engaged in the Bribery Scheme, were
members of the Indian Energy Company’s risk management committee and were senior directors
of the Indian Energy Company.

94.  To market and sell the 2021 144A Bond to investors, the Indian Energy
Company engaged a group of global financial institutions as joint bookrunners (the “2021 Joint
Bookrunners™). The Indian Energy Company and the 2021 Joint Bookrunners entered into a
subscription agreement dated September 1, 2021 (the “2021 Subscription Agreement”). That
2021 Subscription Agreement included false and misleading representations regarding the Indian
Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices, including the false statement that the Indian Energy
Company and its representatives had not taken and would not take any action in furtherance of
an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization or approval of the payment or giving of
money, property, gifts or anything else of value, directly or indirectly, to any government official
to influence official action or secure an improper advantage. In the leadup to the bond pricing,
the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI was included on multiple emails containing the draft and
execution versions of the 2021 Subscription Agreement, as well as an email confirming the

Indian Energy Company’s signoff on the execution version of the 2021 Subscription Agreement.
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95.  While actively engaged in the Bribery Scheme, the defendants GAUTAM
S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN authorized the Indian Energy Company
to issue the 2021 144A Bond and make use of the proceeds.

96. On or about August 26, 2021, the defendants SAGAR R. ADANI and
VNEET S. JAAIN, as members of the Management Committee of the Indian Energy Company,
passed a resolution authorizing the Indian Energy Company to issue securities in the amount of
$750 million. This resolution also set forth certain authorized signatories, including SAGAR R.
ADANI and JAAIN, who were permitted to, among other things, execute all relevant transaction
documents in furtherance of the 2021 144A Bond offering on behalf of the Indian Energy
Company.

97. Following the 2021 144A Bond issuance, in or about November 2021, the
defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN each approved a
formal Indian Energy Company “Note for Approval” authorizing the Indian Energy Company to
make use of the 2021 144A Bond proceeds and pass any necessary Board of Director resolutions.

98.  The defendant SAGAR R. ADANI also played a key role in managing the
2021 144A Bond offering process and concealed the ongoing Bribery Scheme from the 2021
Joint Bookrunners and investors. For example, on or about July 30, 2021, the 2021 Joint
Bookrunners conducted a due diligence session with the Indian Energy Company management to
assist in the preparation of the 2021 Bond Circular and ensure that all material disclosures were
made. The 2021 Joint Bookrunners emailed a due diligence questionnaire in advance of the
session to SAGAR R. ADANI, among others. The questionnaire included queries about FCPA

compliance and whether the Indian Energy Company and its directors or officers, among others,
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had made any unlawful payments to government officials. Following the session, the 2021 Joint
Bookrunners concluded that the 2021 144A Bond posed no anti-bribery-related issues and
proceeded with the 2021 144A Bond issuance. Additional due diligence sessions were
conducted on or about August 27, 2021 and on or about September 1, 2021.

99, On or about September 8, 2021, in connection with final pre-launch due
diligence efforts, counsel for the 2021 Joint Bookrunners emailed the defendant SAGAR R.
ADANI, among others, seeking confirmation that none of the responses to the questions
discussed during the due diligence sessions had changed and that the 2021 Bond Circular
contained all information regarding the Indian Energy Company that was material. On the same
day, Individual #1 responded affirmatively, copying the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI, and
further noting that there was “nothing else that the {2021 Joint Bookrunners], legal counsels or
investors in the Notes should know that is not disclosed in the [2021 Bond Circular].”

100. The defendant SAGAR R. ADANI was also involved in the marketing of
the bond to investors. He received draft roadshow presentations, represented the Indian Energy
Company during telephonic roadshow meetings with investors and otherwise participated in the
Indian Energy Company’s engagement with potential investors in the United States and
elsewhere.

101. Numerous wires, such as electronic messages and financial wires, passed
within and through the United States, including through the Eastern District of New York, in
connection with the 2021 144A Bond. For example, salespeople employed by the 2021 Joint

Bookrunners and located in New York City sent and received electronic messages in connection
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with marketing the bond. Ultimately, approximately one quarter of the $750 million 2021 144A
Bond was allocated to United States-based investors.

B. GAUTAM S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI Learn of the United States
Government’s Investigation

102. In or about March 2023, FBI special agents took steps in furtherance of
the FBI Investigation and the Grand Jury Investigation that revealed the existence of those
investigations, as well as certain crimes and individuals under investigation, to the defendant
SAGAR R. ADANI, which information was shared with the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI.
Thereafter, in furtherance of the Fraud Scheme, SAGAR R. ADANI and GAUTAM S. ADANI
made or caused others to make false and misleading statements regarding the Bribery Scheme to
investors, potential investors and financial institutions.

103.  Specifically, on or about March 17, 2023, FBI special agents approached
the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI in the United States and, pursuant to a judicially authorized
search warrant, took custody of electronic devices in his possession. At the same time, FBI
special agents provided SAGAR R. ADANI with a copy of the search warrant and served him
with a grand jury subpoena. The search warrant identified offenses, individuals and entities
under investigation by the United States government, specifically: violations of the FCPA,
securities fraud, wire fraud and related conspiracies involving SAGAR R. ADANI and the
defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, as well as the Indian Energy
Company. The search warrant further described certain evidence subject to seizure, including
evidence “related to the payment of or an offer to pay, bribes, kickbacks or provide or offer to
provide any other thing of value to Indian government officials in order to obtain or retain

business advantages.”
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104. On or about March 18, 2023, the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI emailed
himself photographs of each page of the search warrant executed and grand jury subpoena served
on the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI.

105. Thereafter, as discussed further below, despite knowing certain of the
subject offenses and individuals under investigation by the United States government, the
defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI not only concealed the Bribery
Scheme from financial institutions and investors in the United States and elsewhere but also
caused others to make false and misleading statements regarding their awareness and knowledge
of the United States government’s investigation and its subjects.

C. The 2023-2024 Fraudulent Transactions

i. The 2023 Syndicate Loan

106.  On or about December 5, 2023, five project companies, wholly-owned by
the Indian Energy Company through a subsidiary (“the 2023 Project Companies™), which were
established to develop certain of the Indian Energy Company’s renewable-energy projects, raised
a total of $1.36 billion in a United States dollar-denominated senior secured debt facility (the
“2023 Syndicate Loan”) from international branches of a group of global financial institutions
(the “2023 Lenders™). The 2023 Project Companies were developing some of the solar projects
for the corrupt Manufacturing Linked Project described above.

107.  In connection with the 2023 Syndicate Loan, the 2023 Project Companies
entered into a facility agreement with the 2023 Lenders (the “2023 Facility Agreement™). The
2023 Facility Agreement contained false assurances about the Indian Energy Company’s anti-

bribery practices and policies, similar to those in the 2021 Facility Agreement described above.
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108. In or about and between November and December 2023, the defendants
GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN authorized the 2023
Syndicate Loan. Specifically, GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and JAAIN each
approved a formal “Note for approval” authorizing the terms of the 2023 Syndicate Loan, which
stated that a breach of anti-corruption covenants would constitute a “Major Event of Default.”

109. To access the 2023 Syndicate Loan funds, the 2023 Project Companies
issued utilization requests to Financial Institution #2, which served as the “agent” bank.
Financial Institution #2 collected loan funds from the 2023 Lenders in a bank account at the New
York branch of Financial Institution #2 and subsequently wired the funds to another financial
institution for onward remittance to the 2023 Project Companies.

ii. The 2024 144A Bond

110.  On or about March 12, 2024, three special purpose vehicles (the “2024
Project Companies”)—each a wholly-owned subsidiary of a joint venture equally owned by the
Indian Energy Company and another energy company—issued $409 million in senior secured
notes due 2042 (the “2024 144A Bond”). The Indian Energy Company had management control
over the joint venture and the 2024 Project Companies. The 2024 144A Bond was marketed and
offered to QIBs in the United States pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. In
connection with the 2024 144A Bond, potential investors electronically received an offering
circular (“the 2024 Bond Circular”), a document that included information about, among other
things, the Conglomerate, the Indian Energy Company, the 2024 Project Companies, the 2024

144A Bond, identified risk factors, the 2024 Project Companies’ principal shareholders, the
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Manufacturing Linked Project and a description of the Indian Energy Company’s approximate
21 gigawatt portfolio, eight gigawatts of which was the corrupt Manufacturing Linked Project.

111. The 2024 Bond Circular contained false and misleading assurances about,
among other things, the Indian Energy Company’s “corporate governance” and touted
“maintaining transparency and compliance in every aspect of [the company’s] operations.”
Additionally, the 2024 Project Companies entered into a subscription agreement with the joint
bookrunners (the “2024 Joint Bookrunners™) for the 2024 144A Bond (the “2024 Subscription
Agreement”). The 2024 Subscription Agreement included false and misleading representations
regarding the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery and anti-corruption practices, similar to the
2021 Subscription Agreement described above.

112.  Moreover, the 2024 Project Companies provided written answers to a
management due diligence questionnaire similar to the one used in connection with the 2021
144A Bond in advance of the issuance of the 2024 144A Bond. The answers contained false and
misleading representations about the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices.

113.  Numerous wires, such as electronic messages and financial wires, passed
within and through the United States, including through the Eastern District of New York, in
connection with the 2024 144A Bond. For example, salespeople employed by the 2024 Joint
Bookrunners and located in New York City sent and received electronic messages in connection
with marketing the bond. Ultimately, approximately one quarter of the $750 million 2024 144A

Bond was allocated to United States-based investors.
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D. The False Statements in the Indian Energy Company Annual Reports

114. Each year, from at least 2021 through 2024, the Indian Energy Company
publicly released integrated annual reports (the “Reports”). As described above, the defendants
GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN served as executives and
directors of the Indian Energy Company during this time. The Reports included false and
misleading statements regarding the Indian Energy Company’s anti-bribery practices.

115.  For example, the 2020 through 2023 Reports falsely stated that the Indian
Energy Company had a “zero tolerance™ policy for bribery and corruption, which policy was
reviewed by its Board of Directors, when in fact defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R.
ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, all of whom were members of the Indian Energy Company’s
Board of Directors, were personally engaged in the Bribery Scheme.

116.  In or about July 2024, the Indian Energy Company publicly released its
integrated annual report for the 2023 through 2024 fiscal year (the “2023-2024 Report™), which
also included false and misleading statements regarding the Indian Energy Company’s anti-
bribery practices. The 2023-2024 Report repeatedly expressed a commitment to “zero-
tolerance” for bribery and corruption, including stating that the company’s “Code of Conduct
and Policy Commitment” included “Anti-Bribery & Anti-Corruption” commitments, namely
that: “We maintain a zero-tolerance stance towards all forms of bribery and corruption, whether
in government or government dealings. We shall cooperate with the governmental authorities in
efforts to eliminate all forms of bribery, fraud, and corruption. Our employees, contractors and
business partners are expected to refuse any request/any offer for a bribe or kickback and report

such instances immediately to the concerned authorities within the organisation.”
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E. The False Statements Relating to the United States Government’s Investigation

117.  In furtherance of the Fraud Scheme, in connection with the publication of
a news article regarding the United States government’s investigation of the Bribery Scheme, the
defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI made of caused other Conglomerate
personnel to make false and misleading statements about the Indian Energy Company’s
awareness of the United States government’s investigation and the Indian Energy Company’s
anti-bribery practices, including in: (i) public statements to the media and market; (ii) public
statements to Indian stock exchanges; and (iii) private communications with financial
institutions.

118.  Specifically, on or about March 15, 2024, a news organization published
an article titled “US Probing Indian Billionaire Gautam Adani and His Group Over Potential
Bribery,” which, among other things, reported that the United States government was
investigating “whether an Adani entity, or people linked to the company, were involved in
paying officials in India for favorable treatment on an energy project . . . .” (the “2024 News
Article”). As described above, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI and SAGAR R. ADANI
were aware of the FBI Investigation and the Grand Jury Investigation, including because of the
service of a grand jury subpoena and execution of a search warrant for electronic devices on
SAGAR R. ADANI that permitted seizure of evidence of criminality by GAUTAM S. ADANI,
SAGAR R. ADANI and the defendant VNEET S. JAAIN, among others. Despite GAUTAM 8.
ADANI’s and SAGAR R. ADANI’s knowledge of the investigations, and despite their
orchestration of the Bribery Scheme, the 2024 News Article contained a quote from the

Conglomerate that “[w]e are not aware of any investigation against our Chairman [GAUTAM S.

39



ADANI]” and that “[a]s a business group that operates with the highest standards of governance,
we are subject to and fully compliant with anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws in India and
other countries.”

119.  On or about March 17, 2024, Individual #2, the head of corporate finance
for the Conglomerate, sent an email to an employee of a financial institution (“Financial
Institution #3”), which was both a lender for the 2021 Syndicate Loan and a joint bookrunner for
the 2024 144A Bond, copying the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI, and writing that that the 2024
News Article was “baseless,” “malicious,” “defamatory” and that the Conglomerate “operates
with the highest standards of governance,” and is “subject to and fully compliant with anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws in India and other countries.” On or about the same day,
Individual #2 sent more than a dozen emails to other financial institutions and investors with
similar or identical false statements, copying SAGAR R. ADANI.

120.  On or about March 19, 2024, Individual #2 emailed employees of
Financial Institution #2, Financial Institution #3 and Financial Institution #4 letters that the
Indian Energy Company had sent to the National Stock Exchange of India and BSE Limited,
both Indian stock exchanges. The letters falsely stated, among other things, that the Indian
Energy Company “has not received any notice from the Department of Justice of U.S. in respect
of the allegation referred to in the [2024 News Article]” and that the Indian Energy Company
was “aware of an investigation” into potential violations of United States anti-corruption laws by
a “third party.” Also included in the email were written responses to questions posed by the
financial institutions about the subject matter of the 2024 News Article. The written responses

falsely claimed that the Conglomerate and the Indian Energy Company had not received notice
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of the United States government’s investigation and included other false and misleading
statements about the Bribery Scheme and the Indian Energy Company’s and the Conglomerate’s
knowledge and awareness of the United States government’s investigation.

121.  On or about March 20, 2024, employees of Financial Institution #3
participated in a due diligence call with outside legal counsel for the Conglomerate, during
which call counsel further reiterated the false statements described above pertaining to the 2024
News Article. During the call, employees of Financial Institution #3 asked whether the Indian
Energy Company had knowledge of inquiries or investigati'ons into the alleged bribery and
corruption and specifically inquired as to whether language in the 2024 Bond Circular indicating
that the Indian Energy Company was “subject to or exposed to present inquiries and
investigations under the anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws of other countries” was intended to
disclose facts about a United States government investigation into the Bribery Scheme. In
response, counsel for the Conglomerate made the following false and misleading statements,
among others: (i) risk factor disclosures are “generally drafted widely”; (ii) the Indian Energy
Company was aware of an investigation relating to a third party, but was unaware of the nature
of that investigation or whether it impacted the Indian Energy Companys; (iii) the Indian Energy
Company had included the disclosure because it was in the same industry as the third party under
investigation and had joined/adjacent land parcels; (iv) the Indian Energy Company had not
received notice or communication from the DOJ with respect to an investigation into the Indian
Energy Company; and (v) the DOJ had not sought to interview any company personnel.

122.  On or about July 25, 2024, employees of Financial Institution #3 had a

follow-up call with Individual #2 regarding the 2024 News Article and the 2024 Bond Circular.
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During the call, Individual #2 falsely stated, among other things, that: (i) no entity or individual
within the Conglomerate had been approached by any United States authority in connection with
any investigation into the Conglomerate or its affiliates; (ii) the Conglomerate was not aware of
any such investigation; (iii) the Conglomerate was not aware of any misconduct; and (iv) the
2024 News Article was “behind them.” Individual #2 indicated that the Conglomerate was not
willing to provide further written representations about the same topic.

123.  These false statements concealed both the United States government’s
investigation and the Bribery Scheme from investors and financial institutions, all to ensure the
Conglomerate’s and the Indian Energy Company’s continued access to capital in the United
States and elsewhere, in furtherance of the Fraud Scheme.

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy to Violate the FCPA)

124.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 123 are realleged and
incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

125.  In or about and between 2020 and 2024, both dates being approximate and
inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere and out of the jurisdiction of
any particular State or district, the defendants RANJIT GUPTA, CYRIL CABANES,
SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, together with
Co-Conspirator #1, Co-Conspirator #2 and others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to
commit one or more offenses against the United States, to wit:

(a) being an officer, director, employee and agent of an issuer, to make
use of the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance

of an offer, payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of any money, offer, gift,
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promise to give and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a foreign official, to a
foreign political party and official thereof, and to a person, while knowing that all or a portion of
such money and thing of value would be offered, given and promised, directly and indirectly, to
a foreign official and to a foreign political party and official thereof, for purposes of:
(i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official, foreign political party and official
thereof in his, her or its official capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign official, foreign political
party and official thereof, to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official
and party; (iii) securing any improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official, foreign
political party and official thereof, to use his, her or its influence with a foreign government and
agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions of such
government and agencies and instrumentalities, in order to assist the U.S. Issuer in obtaining and
retaining business for and with, and directing business to the Indian Energy Company, the Indian
Energy Company’s subsidiaries, the U.S. Issuer, the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary, subsidiaries of the
U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary, the Canadian Investor, the Canadian Investor’s Subsidiary and others,
contrary to Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-1; and

(b)  while in the territory of the United States, corruptly to make use of
the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and to do any act in
furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of any
money, offer, gift, promise to give and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a
foreign official, to a foreign political party and official thereof, and to a person, while knowing
that all or a portion of such money and thing of value would be offered, given and promised to a

foreign official and to a foreign political party and official thereof, for purposes of:
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(i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official, foreign political party and official
thereof in his, her or its official capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign official, foreign political
party and official thereof to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official
and party; (iii) securing any improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official, foreign
political party and official thereof to use his, her or its influence with a foreign government and
agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions of such
government and agencies and instrumentalities, in order to assist CABANES, SAURABH
AGARWAL, Co-Conspirator #1 and others in obtaining and retaining business for and with, and
directing business to the Indian Energy Company, the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiaries, the
U.S. Issuer, the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary, subsidiaries of the U.S. Issuer’s Subsidiary, the
Canadian Investor, the Canadian Investor’s Subsidiary and others, contrary to Title 15, United
States Code, Section 78dd-3.
126.  In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants RANJIT GUPTA, CYRIL
CABANES, SAURABH AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL,
together with others, committed and caused the commission of, among others, the following:
OVERT ACTS
(a) On or about November 24, 2020, GUPTA exchanged electronic
messages with the defendant SAGAR R. ADANI regarding efforts to convince states to purchase
power under the Manufacturing Linked Project, as a part of which GUPTA wrote, “the

advantage we have is that the discoms are being motivated.”

44



(b) On or about March 30, 2021, GUPTA sent an electronic message
to SAGAR R. ADANI asking, “any progress on our PSAs ?7?”

(¢)  Onorabout April 29, 2022, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 met with the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN in India, during which meeting they discussed the Bribery Scheme.

(d) On or about May 6, 2022, CABANES, while in the United States,
exchanged electronic messages with Co-Conspirator #1 about the Bribery Scheme, as a part of
which CABANES asked Co-Conspirator #1 if there was “a commercially doable deal.”

(e) On or about May 6, 2022, SAURABH AGARWAL exchanged
electronic messages with Co-Conspirator #1 about the Bribery Scheme, as a part of which
SAURABH AGARWAL asked, “when do you think [RUPESH AGARWAL] is completing
analysis?”

() On or about May 12, 2022, SAURABH AGARWAL, while in the
United States, exchanged electronic messages with Co-Conspirator #1, as a part of which Co-
Conspirator #1 informed SAURABH AGARWAL that RUPESH AGARWAL had a meeting
with the defendant VNEET S. JAAIN that same day and “Views exchanged. No resolution. Ball
with [JAAIN] to review for next [meeting].” SAURABH AGARWAL responded with a
thumbs-up emoji and “K.”

(g  Onorabout May 17, 2022, GUPTA sent an electronic message to
SAURABH AGARWAL that stated, among other things, “Just wanted to let you know that since
[Co-Conspirator #2] & i [sic] are not part of [the U.S. Issuer] any more, Adani would like to take

up discussions related to the SECI Manufacturing [Linked Project] directly with you. We are
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always available to help with the successful execution of this prestigious ppa for which, as you
already know, close coordination with Adani will be required.”

(h)  On or about May 28, 2022, SAURABH AGARWAL, while in the
United States, had a call with the defendant GAUTAM S. ADANI about the Bribery Scheme.

() On or about May 31, 2022, Co-Conspirator #1 exchanged
electronic messages with CABANES, as a part of which Co-Conspirator #1 told CABANES that
RUPESH AGARWAL had a “BAD” meeting with the defendants GATAUM S. ADANI,
SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN and that RUPESH AGARWAL and MALHOTRA
were “fleshing out our options.”

()] On or about May 31, 2022, in response to the message referred to
above in paragraph 126(i), CABANES sent an electronic message to Co-Conspirator #1 asking,
“[s]o we have a potential deal on the table?”

&) On or about June 13, 2022, RUPESH AGARWAL used his
personal email account to send a PowerPoint titled “1 SLIDE.pptx” that outlined a proposal to
satisfy a portion of the corrupt payment to the Indian Energy Company by returning the 2.3 GW
PPAs to SECI for ultimate “re-allocation” to the Indian Energy Company.

) On or about June 14, 2022, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-
Conspirator #1 met with the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R. ADANI and VNEET
S. JAAIN in India, during which meeting RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 agreed
that the U.S. Issuer and/or its subsidiaries would return the 2.3 GW PPAs to SECI to facilitate

the Indian Energy Company’s subsidiary’s acquisition of the valuable 2.3 GW PPAs and, in
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addition, that the U.S. Issuer and/or its subsidiaries would pay the Indian Energy Company,
directly or indirectly, 550 million INR (approximately $7 million).

(m)  On or about June 23, 2022, CABANES sent an electronic message
to Co-Conspirator #1, who was then located in the United States, about the return of the 2.3 GW
PPAs to SECI, stating “Hi [Co-Conspirator #1], what’s the plan with regards to the board
decision on the PPAs?”

(n)  On or about September 30, 2022, CABANES, SAURABH
AGARWAL, MALHOTRA, RUPESH AGARWAL and Co-Conspirator #1 had a virtual
meeting, during which meeting they agreed to withhold information and provide false
information related to the Bribery Scheme to investigators and the U.S. Issuer’s Boards of
Directors.

(0) On or about March 29, 2023 and on or about May 18, 2023, Co-
Conspirator #1 met with representatives of the United States government in Brooklyn, New York
and made false statements about the Bribery Scheme.

(p)  Onor about June 28, 2023, CABANES met with representatives of
the United States government in Brooklyn, New York and made false statements about the
Bribery Scheme.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, 3238 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWO
(Securities Fraud Conspiracy)

127.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 123 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.
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128.  In or about and between 2021 through the present, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere and out of the
jurisdiction of any particular State or district, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R.
ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to
use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, contrary to Rule 10b-5 of
the Rules and Regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, Title 17,
Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (i) employing one or more devices,
schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) making one or more untrue statements of material fact and
omitting to state one or more material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engaging in one
or more acts, practices and courses of business which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit
upon one or more investors and potential investors in the 2021 144A Bond and 2024 144A Bond,
in connection with the purchase and sale of investments in the 2021 144A Bond and 2024 144A
Bond, directly and indirectly, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and
the mails, contrary to Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78fF.

129.  In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R.
ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, together with others, did commit and cause the commission of,,

among others, the following;:
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OVERT ACTS

(a) On or about August 26, 2021, the Management Committee of the
Indian Energy Company, which included SAGAR R. ADANI and JAAIN, passed a resolution
authorizing the Indian Energy Company to issue securities in the amount of $750 million.

(b)  Inorabout August 2021, SAGAR R. ADANI participated in a
recorded roadshow presentation marketing the 2021 144A Bond, which recording was replayed
for investors, including United States-based investors.

© In or about November 2021, GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGARR.
ADANI and JAAIN each approved a formal “Note for Approval” authorizing the Indian Energy
Company to make use of the 2021 144A Bond proceeds and pass any necessary Board of
Directors resolutions.

(d) On or about December 27, 2022, JAAIN executed a Compliance
Certificate on behalf of the Indian Energy Company in connection with the 2021 144A Bond.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, 3238 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THREE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy)

130. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 123 are realleged and
incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

131.  In or about and between 2021 through the present, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere and out of the
jurisdiction of any particular State or district, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R.
ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire

to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud current and prospective lenders and investors in
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financial transactions, including the 2021 Syndicate Loan, 2021 144A Bond, 2023 Syndicate
Loan and 2024 144A Bond, and to obtain money and property from them by means of one or
more materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and for the purpose
of executing such scheme and artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds,
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, 3238 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FOUR
(Securities Fraud — the 2021 144A Bond)

132.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 123 are realleged and
incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

133.  In or about and between 2021 through the present, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere and out of the
jurisdiction of any particular State or district, the defendants GAUTAM S. ADANI, SAGAR R.
ADANI and VNEET S. JAAIN, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to
use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, contrary to Rule 10b-5 of
the Rules and Regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, Title 17,
Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (i) employing one or more devices,
schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) making one or more untrue statements of material fact and
omitting to state one or more material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engaging in one
or more acts, practices and courses of business which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit

upon one or more investors and potential investors in the 2021 144A Bond, in connection with
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the purchase and sale of investments in the 2021 144A Bond, directly and indirectly, by use of
means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails.

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 2, 3238 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FIVE
(Conspiracy to Obstruct Justice)

134.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 123 are realleged and
incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

135.  In or about and between 2022 and the present, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere and out of the
jurisdiction of any particular State or district, the defendants CYRIL CABANES, SAURABH
AGARWAL, DEEPAK MALHOTRA and RUPESH AGARWAL, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire to corruptly alter, destroy, mutilate, and conceal a record,
document, and other object with intent to impair the object’s integrity and availability for use in
an official proceeding and obstruct, influence and impede official proceedings, to wit: the Grand
Ju_ry Investigation, the FBI Investigation and the SEC Investigation, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1512(c)(1) and (2).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(k), 3238 and 3551 et seq.)
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CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS ONE, TWO, FOUR, AND FIVE

136. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in Counts
One, Two, Four and Five that, upon their conviction of any of such offenses, the government will
seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and
Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), which require any person convicted of such
offenses to forfeit any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained
directly or indirectly as a result of such offenses.
137.  If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendants:
(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or
(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to
seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendants up to the value of the above forfeitable
property.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States Code,

Section 853(p), Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))

52



CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT THREE

138. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendants charged in Count
Three that, upon their conviction of such offense, the government will seek forfeiture in
accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A), which requires any person
convicted of such offense, to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds
obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such offense.
139. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendants:
(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or
(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as

incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1), to seek forfeiture of any other
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property of the defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture
allegation. »
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(2)(A) and 982(b)(1); Title 21, United

States Code, Section 853(p))

A TRUE BILL

FOREPER}ON

Braon Peace
BREON PEACE
United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York

Chief, Frav:ld Section
Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
-against-
GAUTAM ADANI and SAGAR ADANI,

Defendants.

Page 1 of 39 PagelD #: 1

COMPLAINT

1:24 Civ. 8080

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), for its Complaint against

Defendants Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani, alleges as follows:

SUMMARY

1. In 2021, two senior executives of Adani Green Energy Ltd. (“Adani Green”)—

Gautam Adani, Adani Green’s founder and controlling shareholder, and Sagar Adani, Adani

Green’s Executive Director (collectively, “Defendants”)—engaged in a bribery scheme

involving the equivalent of hundreds of millions of dollars to obtain contracts that benefitted
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Adani Green, while, at the same time, falsely touting the company’s compliance with anti-
bribery principles and laws in connection with a $750 million bond offering (the “Offering”).

2. Gautam Adani founded Adani Green and Defendants are part of a four-person
management team that controls it. For years, Defendants positioned Adani Green to investors
and the public as a leader among its peers and within India in principles of good corporate
governance, highlighting Adani Green’s purportedly rigorous anti-bribery and anti-corruption
principles and policies, and seeking to appeal to investors who valued governance factors.

3. In September 2021, Defendants leveraged that narrative in the Offering to sell
$750 million of Adani Green corporate bonds (“Notes”), including more than $175 million in
Notes to investors in the United States.

4. In connection with the Offering, Adani Green told purchasers of the Notes that
none of Adani Green’s directors or officers, including Defendants themselves, had paid or
promised to pay bribes to government officials or attempted to unduly influence those officials.
Adani Green and Defendants also emphasized to underwriters and potential investors that Adani
Green had implemented robust anti-bribery and anti-corruption processes and that Adani Green
was a leader in India in good corporate governance.

5. None of this was true. In the months and weeks before making these
representations in connection with the Offering, Defendants were personally involved in paying
or promising the equivalent of hundreds of millions of dollars in bribes to Indian state
government officials to induce Indian state governments to enter into contracts necessary for
Adani Green to develop India’s largest solar power plant project, from which Adani Green stood

to earn billions of dollars.
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6. A second company involved in that power plant project, Azure Global Power
Limited (“Azure”), agreed to pay a portion of those bribes and Defendants were also personally
involved in collecting payment from Azure.

7. Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani lied to purchasers of Adani Green’s Notes about
Adani Green’s and their own involvement in a complex and high value bribery scheme. Those
lies, made in connection with the offer and sale of Notes to investors in the United States,
violated the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws.

VIOLATIONS

8. By virtue of the foregoing conduct and as alleged herein, Gautam Adani and
Sagar Adani each violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”)
[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)], Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C.
§ 78j(b)], and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. They each also aided and abetted
Adani Green’s violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)(2), and Exchange Act Section 10(b),
and Rule 10b-5(b) thereunder.

9. Unless Defendants are restrained and enjoined, they will engage in the acts,
practices, transactions, and courses of business set forth in this Complaint or in acts, practices,
transactions, and courses of business of similar type and object.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND RELIEF SOUGHT

10. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by
Securities Act Sections 20(b) and 20(d) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and (d)], and Exchange Act Section
21(d) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)].

11. The Commission seeks a final judgment: (a) permanently enjoining Defendants
from violating the federal securities laws this Complaint alleges they have violated; (b) ordering

Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Securities Act Section 20(d) [15 U.S.C.
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§ 77t(d)] and Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)]; (c) permanently
prohibiting Defendants from serving as an officer or director of any company that has a class of
securities registered under Exchange Act Section 12 [15 U.S.C. § 78l] or that is required to file
reports under Exchange Act Section 15(d) [15 U.S.C. § 780(d)], pursuant to Securities Act
Section 20(e) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)] and Exchange Act Section 21(d) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)]; and
(d) ordering any other and further relief the Court may deem just and proper.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under Securities Act Section 22(a)
[15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Exchange Act Section 27 [15 U.S.C. § 78aa].

13.  Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails in connection with the transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business alleged herein.

14. Venue lies in this District under Securities Act Section 22(a) [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)]
and Exchange Act Section 27 [15 U.S.C. § 78aa] because certain of the transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint occurred within this District,
including that the Notes purchased by United States investors were settled and cleared, and

ownership of the Notes was transferred, in this District.

DEFENDANTS

15. Gautam Adani, age 62, is a citizen of India, and the founder of both Adani
Group and Adani Green. Since 2015, Gautam Adani has served on Adani Green’s Board of
Directors and as a member of its four-person Management Committee. He is also one of Adani

Green’s two “Promoters,” as defined by the Securities Board of India (“SEBI”), including
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because he founded Adani Green, and because he and his family members own a majority of
Adani Green'’s shares and he controls the company, directly and through a family trust.

16. Sagar Adani, age 30, is a citizen of India, and the Executive Director of Adani
Green’s Board of Directors and the Chairman of Adani Green’s four-person Management
Committee, positions in which he has served since October 2018. He is also Gautam Adani’s
nephew.

ADDITIONAL RELEVANT ENTITIES AND PERSONS

17.  Adani Group (or the “Group”) is a privately held multinational conglomerate
headquartered in Ahmedabad, India, with numerous entities throughout India and in, among
other places, Australia, Indonesia, Mauritius, Panama, Singapore, and the United Arab Emirates.
Gautam Adani formed Adani Group in 1988 as a commodity trading firm and subsequently
expanded it to own and operate airports, shipping ports, and railways; to produce and distribute
power and energy through mining and thermal and renewable energy production; and to be
India’s largest trader of coal. Adani Group’s holdings currently have a market capitalization of
more than $200 billion.

18.  Adani Green (or the “Issuer”) is a public limited company formed by Gautam
Adani and Rajesh Adani in 2015 under the laws of India, with a principal place of business in
Ahmedabad, to be the renewable energy arm of Adani Group. Adani Green, including through
its subsidiaries, develops, builds, owns, operates, and maintains a portfolio of large solar power
projects and wind farm projects.

19.  Rajesh Adani has worked for both Adani Group and Adani Green since their
formation. Since at least 2015, he has led Adani Group’s operations with responsibility for its
business development efforts, and he has served on Adani Green’s Board of Directors and been a

member of its four-person Management Committee. He is Gautam Adani’s brother, Sagar
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Adani’s father, and one of Adani Green’s two “Promoters,” as defined by the SEBI, including
because he founded Adani Green, and because he and his family own a majority of Adani
Green’s shares and control the company, directly and through a family trust. He also serves or
has served on the Board of Directors of at least twelve other Adani Group companies including
Adani Group’s flagship company, Adani Enterprises Limited.

20.  Vneet Jaain (“Jaain”) has worked for Adani Group for more than 18 years,
served as Adani Green’s Chief Executive Officer between July 2020 and May 2023, and is one
of the four members of Adani Green’s Management Committee.

21. Azure is a limited company formed under the laws of Mauritius, majority-owned
by two Canadian pension funds, that produces and sells solar power in India. Azure’s common
stock previously publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange until it was delisted in
November 2023. Azure has since suspended its reporting as a public company.

22. Solar Energy Corporation of India (“SECI”) is a public sector entity and is the
arm of Indian central government responsible for implementing Indian central government
programs related to renewable energy, including funding large solar projects like those Adani
Green and Azure build and operate.

FACTS
I GAUTAM ADANI FORMED BOTH ADANI GROUP AND ADANI GREEN.

23. Gautam Adani formed Adani Group in 1988 as a commodity trading firm.
Subsequently, he expanded Adani Group into other sectors, including owning and operating
airports, shipping ports, railways, building and operating means of power production, including
from mining and thermal and renewable sources, and energy transmission. During that time,

Adani Group also became India’s largest trader of coal.
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24.  In 2014, the Indian central government announced a goal of achieving 175
gigawatts (“GW”) of renewable energy production capacity in India, including at least 100 GW
of solar energy production capacity by 2022. At the time, renewable energy accounted for
approximately 17 percent of India’s energy production capacity. The Indian central government
has publicly announced that it is seeking to more than double that number.

25. The Indian central government also previously instituted Renewable Energy
Purchase Obligations that require Indian state-owned energy distribution companies (generally
referred to as “DISCOMSs”), which are responsible for buying power and transmitting it to
consumers within their respective regions, to buy and distribute to consumers certain minimum
amounts of energy from renewable sources.

26.  InJanuary 2015, Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani formed Adani Green to be a
part of the Adani Group and to spearhead Adani Group’s renewable energy business, and each
has since served on Adani Green’s Board of Directors. That year, Sagar Adani, Gautam Adani’s
nephew and Rajesh Adani’s son, also began working for Adani Green.

27. Adani Green develops, builds, owns, operates, and maintains utility scale grid
connected solar and wind farms. It earns revenue by selling electricity to Indian central
government agencies and also to DISCOMs, typically under long-term fixed-price Power
Purchase Agreements (or “PPAs”) that set the price (or “tariff”) that the purchaser (or “oft-
taker”) will pay for power for the duration of the contract.

28. In 2018, at the age of 24, Sagar Adani was appointed as Executive Director of
Adani Green’s Board of Directors and Chairman of Adani Green’s Management Committee.

29. As Executive Director, Sagar Adani has been responsible for “leading the Adani

Group’s foray into renewable energy” and “achieving the Group’s vision,” “backed by his sound
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understanding of new processes, systems, and macroeconomic issues.” According to Adani
Green, he is also responsible for reviewing and implementing Adani Green’s ethics policies,
including its anti-bribery policy.

30.  Adani Green’s strategic and fundraising decisions are made by its four-person
Management Committee which includes, in addition to Sagar Adani as its Chairman, Gautam
Adani, Rajesh Adani, and Vneet Jaain. Those decisions are then implemented by Adani Green’s
other management and business divisions.

31.  Adani Green has repeatedly and publicly acknowledged that all aspects of its
business and operations heavily rely on its “Promoter Group,” i.e., Gautam Adani and Rajesh
Adani, including with respect to, among other things, identifying strategic opportunities,
obtaining government or statutory permissions necessary to acquire and build on land, building
and developing business relationships, and attracting and retaining talent.

32.  Between its formation in January 2015 and December 2017, Adani Green was
privately held, primarily by Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani through their family trust.

33. In December 2017, Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani caused Adani Green to
become a publicly traded company and, in June 2018, its shares began trading on the BSE (f/k/a
Bombay Stock Exchange) and the National Stock Exchange of India.

34, Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani, together with their family, have continued to be
Adani Green’s majority owners. To that end, as part of its initial public offering, Adani Green
disclosed that Adani Group’s flagship company, Adani Enterprises Limited, was Adani Green’s
parent company, and that the S.B. Adani Family Trust, a trust controlled by Gautam Adani and

Rajesh Adani, was Adani Green’s “Ultimate Controlling Entity.”
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35.  Likewise, in the offering documents that underlie Adani Green’s Offering and

Notes at issue in this action, dated in late August and early September 2021, and which are
described in greater detail in paragraphs 101 to 126 infra, Adani Green disclosed that,

Our Promoters [i.e., Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani] and the members of

our Promoter Group own approximately 57.47% of our Equity Share

capital as at June 30, 2021, and therefore exercise significant influence

over our business policies, affairs and all matters requiring shareholders’

approval, including the composition of our Board of Directors, change in

the Company’s name, the approval of mergers, strategic acquisitions, joint

ventures or the sales of substantially all of our assets and the policies for
dividends, lending, investments and capital expenditures.

36. Currently, Adani Green has a market capitalization of more than $30 billion.

I1. ADANI GREEN PORTRAYED ITSELF AS AN ESG LEADER AND
AIMED TO BE THE WORLD’S LARGEST SOLAR POWER PRODUCER.

37. In its annual reports, news releases, and other self-published documents, Adani
Green has positioned itself as a leader in environmentally conscious, socially responsible, and
good corporate governance principles, often referred to as environmental, social, and governance
or “ESG” principles. In this way, Adani Green has sought to differentiate itself from its peers
and other potential investments or issuers in developing countries that might be susceptible to
corruption and bribery issues and to specifically appeal to investors who prioritize ESG
principles or ESG-related investments.

38. Adani Green has also touted its plan to become the world’s largest private
producer of solar power by 2025 and of renewable power by 2030. This effort relies
significantly on programs and economic incentives implemented by SECI (or the Solar Energy
Company of India), an arm of the Indian central government responsible for renewable energy
development. It also depends on Adani Green’s successful implementation of the so-called
Manufacturing Linked Projects, described in paragraphs 47 to 61 infra, which comprise a

substantial part of Adani Green’s intended power generation capacity.
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39.  Inearly 2016, Adani Green had a single power project with power generating
capacity of only 20 megawatts (“MW?”). Over the next three years, Adani Green grew its
business and, by the end of 2018, had entered into long-duration contracts pursuant to which it
intended to expand its renewable power generating capacity to 1,998 MW, or 1.998 GW.!

40.  Adani Green had much larger aspirations. In mid-2019, Adani Green issued an
annual report stating that by 2022 it intended to develop a portfolio of projects that produced a
total of 10 GW of renewable power generating capacity—or five times the size of its portfolio at
the end of 2018—and that it was the “best positioned” company “to tap [the] Indian large
renewable energy opportunity.”

41. At the same time, Adani Green highlighted in investor presentations, news
publications, annual reports, and other self-published documents that it stood out among its peers
as a company committed to good corporate governance and preventing corruption and bribery by
its directors, executives, and employees.

42. For example, in mid-2019, Adani Green publicly announced that it had formed a
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and implemented a Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics Policy for all Board members and senior management, and that it had adopted an Anti-
Bribery Policy consistent with the principles of the World Bank Group and the International
Labour Organisation.

43. On October 7, 2019, Adani Green publicly announced that it was joining the
United Nations Global Compact, supporting the Ten Principles of that Global Compact—which

include detailed guidelines for businesses to support and protect Human Rights, Labor, and

! Based on recent industry estimates of power consumption by Indian citizens, | GW of power
producing capacity is sufficient to meet the annual power consumption of approximately
nine million Indian citizens.
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Environmental Concerns, and to work against Corruption—and making those “principles part of
the strategy, culture and day-to-day operations of our company.”

44.  In or around June 2020, Adani Green issued its “first Integrated Annual Report,”
which highlighted Adani Green’s “[r]obust governance and disclosures,” its anti-bribery and
anti-corruption efforts including its “policy of zero tolerance” for bribery by its employees, and
that its Board members and senior management were trained annually on that policy.

45. Then, in August 2021, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of Adani
Green’s Board of Directors approved and adopted, and Adani Green subsequently made public,
its initial Report on Environmental, Social and Governance Policies, or “ESG Report,” which
touted Adani Green’s anti-corruption bona fides and its purported strong and effective corporate
governance framework. This included representations that:

a. Adani Green has “best-in-class corporate governance practices” and
maintains a “Strong Anti-Corruption Stance,” including due to its “[z]ero
tolerance to bribery and corruption” and an anti-bribery policy that is
regularly reviewed by its Board of Directors and that classifies
“IpJayments or gifts for committing actual or suspected fraudulent

29 ¢c

activities” “as an act of bribery or corruption”;

b. Adani Green’s “Board of Directors is briefed on expected corporate
behavior and the need to maintain a strong anti-corruption mindset in all
company dealings upon appointment’;

C. Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani are “skilled” and “expert” in, and have

“core competencies” that include, “Corporate Governance & ESG,”

including their “[e]xperience in implementing good corporate governance
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practices, reviewing compliance and governance practices for sustainable
growth of the company and protecting stakeholder’s interest”’; and
d. Adani Green’s adherence to “Anti-Corruption & Transparency” principles
is “significant” and “material” to both Adani Green and its stakeholders.
46. Throughout this time, Adani Green also acknowledged repeatedly in its annual

reports, the ESG Report, and other public documents that participation by it or its Board
members or senior management in corrupt activities could result in both financial and non-
financial penalties with adverse impacts on its business and reputation.

III. SECI AWARDED THE MANUFACTURING LINKED PROJECTS TO
ADANI GREEN AND AZURE.

47.  InJune 2019, SECI announced a Request for Selection (“RfS”) seeking bids from
solar power developers for the construction of a solar cell and module manufacturing plant which
would be linked to SECTI’s agreement to purchase power from the developer(s) with the winning
bid(s).

48. Broadly described, SECI sought one or more solar power developers to construct
a plant or plants in India capable of producing domestically solar power component parts (such
as cells, modules, or wafers) and, in exchange for that construction and manufacturing, SECI
would contract to purchase power generating capacity from the solar power developer(s) in an
amount equal to a multiple of the power generating capacity of the solar components
manufactured.

49. For example, if a solar power developer agreed to construct a plant within India
that manufactured solar power component parts capable of generating 500 MW of solar power,

then SECI would agree to buy solar power capacity from that developer equal to a multiple of
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500 MW (e.g., 1,500 MW or 2,000 MW) at a fixed price pursuant to a long-duration Power
Purchase Agreement.

50. The two projects, consisting of building one or more domestic solar component
manufacturing plants and also generating and selling solar power to SECI, are known as the
Manufacturing Linked Projects.

51.  Under an amended RfS, SECI ultimately sought developers to construct a plant or
plants in India capable of domestically manufacturing solar power components generating 3 GW
of power capacity and, in exchange, SECI would buy up to 12 GW of solar power capacity from
the developers (which also might include or necessitate the construction of new solar power
plants)—for a total project capacity for the Manufacturing Linked Projects of 15 GW.

52.  Multiple companies, including Adani Green and Azure, made submissions in
response to the RfS. Ultimately, SECI awarded the Manufacturing Linked Projects jointly to
Adani Green and Azure.

53. Azure was the first to announce that it had won a portion of the RfS. In an
investor presentation on January 16, 2020, Azure disclosed that SECI had selected it to be
awarded a portion of the projects associated with the RfS, and that Azure would cause the
construction of a manufacturing plant or plants to produce solar power components with 1 GW
capacity and, in turn, SECI would contract to buy 4 GWs of solar power capacity from Azure.

54. On June 9, 2020, Adani Green issued a press release titled, “Adani Green Energy
Wins The World’s Largest Solar Award; Leapfrogs Towards Goal Of 25 GW Of Installed
Capacity By 2025 that announced that SECI had selected Adani Green to be awarded a portion

of the projects associated with the RfS, and that Adani Green would build a manufacturing plant
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or plants to produce solar components with 2 GW capacity and, in turn, SECI would contract to
buy 8 GWs of solar power capacity from Adani Green.
55. Specifically, in its June 9, 2020, press release, Adani Green said,

Adani Green Energy Limited (AGEL, NSE: ADANIGREEN) has won the

first of its kind manufacturing linked solar agreement from the Solar

Energy Corporation of India (SECI). As a part of the award, AGEL will

develop 8 GW of solar projects along with a commitment that will see

Adani Solar establish 2 GW of additional solar cell and module

manufacturing capacity. With this win, AGEL will now have 15 GW

capacity under operation, construction or under contract thereby

accelerating its journey towards becoming the world’s largest renewables
company by 2025.

The only person quoted in the press release on behalf of Adani Green was Gautam Adani.

56.  Accordingly, pursuant to the Letters of Award issued by SECI to Adani Green
and Azure documenting their selections as the winners of the RfS bidding process (“Letters of
Award”), Adani Green would be responsible for and stood to benefit from two-thirds of the
Manufacturing Linked Projects, and Azure would be responsible for and stood to benefit from
one-third of the Manufacturing Linked Projects.

57. The Manufacturing Linked Projects immediately became the largest component
of Adani Green’s portfolio, more than doubling the amount of solar power capacity that Adani
Green expected to have under contract to generate and sell.

58.  According to industry analysts, Adani Green was projected to earn billions of
dollars of revenue and more than a billion dollars in profit by selling power capacity to SECI
related to its Letter of Award and Manufacturing Linked Projects. To that point in its corporate
history, Adani Green had earned only approximately $50 million in revenue and had not

recorded a profit.
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59. SECI’s Letters of Award to Adani Green and Azure did not, however, guarantee
that SECI would purchase any power capacity from them or that they would earn any revenue or
profits.

60. At minimum, two additional steps were required. First, SECI needed to enter into
Power Supply Agreements with the DISCOMs (the Indian state energy companies) under which
the DISCOMs would agree to buy energy from SECI at solar power prices consistent with those
SECI had tentatively agreed to pay Adani Green and Azure in the Letters of Award. Second,
after SECI contracted with the DISCOMs, it needed to enter into Power Purchase Agreements
with Adani Green and with Azure pursuant to which SECI would buy power generating capacity
from each of them (which SECI would then resell to the DISCOMs under the Power Supply
Agreements).

61.  Under the terms of the RfS, SECI said it expected to enter into Power Purchase
Agreements with the winning bidders, i.e., Adani Green and Azure, within 90 days of issuing the
Letters of Award. That did not happen. Instead, the Power Purchase Agreements took more
than 18 months and were executed by SECI only after Adani Green’s senior executives, Gautam
Adani and Sagar Adani, undertook a massive bribery scheme to incentivize Indian state
government officials to enter into contracts with SECI to buy energy at above market rates.

IV. GAUTAM ADANI AND SAGAR ADANI PROMISED AND PAID MASSIVE
BRIBES TO INDIAN STATE OFFICIALS.

62. Although SECI had tentatively accepted the price at which Adani Green and
Azure bid to sell power to SECI related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects, when SECI
attempted to contract with Indian state governments to sell energy obtained via that capacity at
prices consistent with the amounts to be paid to Adani Green and Azure, the Indian state

governments refused.
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63. The problem was economics. The price for energy capacity that SECI had
tentatively agreed to pay under the Letters of Award turned out to be too high. So, when SECI
attempted to contract with the Indian state governments and DISCOMs to offload power at prices
consistent with the Letters of Award, the Indian states refused.

64. That refusal was only overcome when Gautam Adani, assisted by Sagar Adani,
personally intervened and, in the aggregate, paid or promised to pay hundreds of millions of
dollars of bribes.

65. In India, each state has a “chief minister” who is the elected head of the state
government and has executive authority over the state.

66.  Within each Indian state, electricity is typically procured and distributed by one or
more state-owned power distribution companies, or DISCOMs. The chief minister of a state
generally appoints one or more directors to oversee the DISCOM.

67. As the head executive of a state, a chief minister can influence the decisions of
publicly owned DISCOMs.

68.  After SECI issued Letters of Award to Adani Green and Azure for the
Manufacturing Linked Projects, and accepted their proposed tariffs as amounts at which SECI
would buy solar power generating capacity from them for the next twenty-five years, SECI
attempted to enter into Power Supply Agreements (or PSAs) to sell solar electricity to Indian
state governments and state DISCOMs at prices consistent with the Letters of Award.

69. The Indian states and DISCOMs, however, initially refused to contract with SECI,
including because aspects of the Indian renewable energy market had shifted and caused

downward pressure on solar energy prices. They were unwilling to buy solar energy from SECI
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at prices consistent with those set forth in the Letters of Award, which were above then-market
rates.

70. This unwillingness of the Indian states and DISCOMs to enter into Power Supply
Agreements prevented SECI from entering into Power Purchase Agreements with Adani Green
and Azure. Without those Power Purchase Agreements, Adani Green and Azure could not
develop and operate the Manufacturing Linked Projects and earn the billions of dollars of
revenue associated with them.

71.  Executives of both Adani Green and Azure, including Sagar Adani, began to
pressure and to propose to pay “incentives” (i.e., bribes) directly to Indian state government
officials to persuade them to cause the Indian state governments or the state-owned DISCOMs to
agree to Power Supply Agreements with SECI at prices favorable to Adani and Azure.

72.  For example, in late 2020 and early 2021, Sagar Adani regularly communicated
with others, including Azure executives, about the need to pressure and “incentivize” (i.e., bribe)
Indian states and his efforts to do so. Among many other communications, in writings to an
Azure executive, he detailed how he had been proposing “incentives” (i.e., bribes) to
“motivate[]” Indian state officials and persuade them to agree to contracts with SECI, and,
subsequently, he told Azure executives that he was substantially increasing those “incentives”
(i.e., bribes).

73. By March 2021, however, it was publicly reported that “[a] major bottleneck that
has been impeding the development of new solar and wind projects is the delay by distribution
companies (discoms) in signing power sale agreements (PSAs) with the Solar Energy Company

of India (SECI)” because SECI “has been struggling to find end buyers (discoms)” as the
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“discoms, anticipating a decline in solar module prices and hence a reduction in future solar
auction tariffs, have been reluctant to sign PPAs/PSAs.”

74. By June 2021—a year after SECI issued a Letter of Award to Adani Green and
fifteen months after Azure had announced that it had been selected for the Manufacturing Linked
Projects—SECI had still not entered into Power Supply Agreements with Indian state
governments related to the Letters of Award and Manufacturing Linked Projects.

75. That month, Azure stated publicly that its potential profits related to the
Manufacturing Linked Projects were at risk, saying,

[SECI] has informed us that so far there has not been adequate response
from the state electricity distribution companies (‘DISCOMs”) for SECI to
be able to sign the Power Sale Agreement (‘PSA’) at this stage even
though we have a [Letter of Award]. SECI has mentioned that they will
be unable to sign PPAs until PSAs have been signed, and they have
committed to inform Azure Power of developments in their efforts with
the DISCOMS. Capital costs, interest rates and foreign exchange rates
have improved since Azure Power won the 4 GW auction in December
2019 which have resulted in lower tariffs in other recent SECI auctions. .
.. We expect a tariff markdown from the price achieved in the auction,
which will facilitate signing of PSAs. We will continue our discussions

with SECI towards signing PPAs in respect of the 4 GW tender and
believe the PPAs to be signed in tranches over a period of time.

76. Soon thereafter, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani increased the pressure on Indian
state government officials. Through their personal involvement and promises to pay or payment
of a total of hundreds of millions of dollars of bribes to them, the Defendants finally obtained
agreements from some DISCOMs to enter into Power Supply Agreements with SECI.

77.  Adani Green executives kept track of the bribes, creating and maintaining
multiple internal records of bribes that had been paid or promised to numerous Indian states and
Indian state officials to induce them to cause the Indian states to buy renewable energy from

SECL
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78. By way of example, according to Adani Green’s internal records, a payment equal
to hundreds of thousands of dollars was paid or promised to government officials in the Indian
state of Odisha to cause Odisha to enter into a Power Supply Agreement with SECI for the
purchase of 500 MW of power.

79. Consistent with Adani Green’s internal records, SECI announced its first Power
Supply Agreement related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects in July 2021, pursuant to which
the Grid Corporation of Odisha agreed to buy 500 MW of power capacity from SECI.

80.  In August 2021, Gautam Adani met personally with the Chief Minister of Andhra
Pradesh about the fact that Andhra Pradesh had not entered into a Power Supply Agreement with
SECI and the “incentives” needed to cause Andhra Pradesh to do so.

81.  Ator in connection with that meeting, Gautam Adani paid or promised a bribe to
Andhra Pradesh government officials to cause the relevant Andhra Pradesh government entities
to enter into Power Supply Agreements with SECI for the purchase of 7,000 MW of power
capacity.

82. The bribe to Andhra Pradesh for this Power Supply Agreement—which was
significantly larger than the Odisha Power Supply Agreement—was greater than that paid to the
Odisha government officials by orders of magnitude. Later statements by Adani Green
executives to executives of Azure, infra paragraphs 131 to 135, indicated that the Andhra
Pradesh bribe payment was approximately $200 million. This was also consistent with Adani
Green’s internal records.

83. Shortly after Gautam Adani’s meeting with Andhra Pradesh’s Chief Minister, and
the payment or promise to pay bribes, communications internal to Adani Green and Azure

reflected that Andhra Pradesh had agreed to buy power from SECI.
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84.  Around the same time, Andhra Pradesh agreed in principle to execute a Power
Supply Agreement with SECI that would directly benefit Adani Green and Azure. And, within
weeks, the Andhra Pradesh government was publicly quoted as saying, “In the Cabinet meeting
held last month, it was decided to accept SECI’s offer. After deliberation, the State decided to
tap 7,000 MW in the first phase.” In other words, the bribes paid or promised worked.

85. Gautam Adani, with Sagar Adani’s assistance, ultimately paid or promised bribes
to government officials in numerous Indian states worth hundreds of millions of dollars to cause
those state governments and their officials to enter into Power Supply Agreements with SECI.
Adani Green'’s internal records documented these payments or promises.

86.  As Gautam Adani would later make clear to senior Azure personnel, infra
paragraphs 131 to 135, their bribery scheme worked. Between July 22 and December 1, 2021,
SECI entered into Power Supply Agreements with DISCOM s in at least four Indian states.
These Power Supply Agreements allowed SECI to enter into Power Purchase Agreements with
Adani Green and Azure implementing the Letters of Award under which those two companies
were expected to earn billions of dollars from the Manufacturing Linked Projects.

87. On December 14, 2021, Adani Green issued a press release titled, “Adani Signs
World’s Largest Green PPA With SECI,” announcing that SECI had finally contracted to buy
nearly 5 GW of power capacity from Adani Green related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects.
The only person quoted in the press release was, again, Gautam Adani, who said, “We are
pleased to have signed the world’s largest PPA with SECI. . .. This agreement keeps us well on

track to our commitment to become the world’s largest renewable player by 2030.”
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88.  Under Adani Green’s Power Purchase Agreement, SECI agreed to purchase solar
power capacity at prices that were well above the market prices set in contemporaneous solar
power auctions in India.

V. DEFENDANTS MISLED INVESTORS ABOUT THEIR BRIBERY SCHEME.

89. At the same time that Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani were implementing a
massive bribery scheme to persuade Indian state governments to enter into Power Supply
Agreements with SECI—and, by so doing, giving Adani Green the ability to proceed with the
largest projects in its portfolio, the Manufacturing Linked Projects—Gautam Adani and Sagar
Adani, through the Offering, were raising hundreds of millions of dollars from investors to
support Adani Green’s business.

90.  Adani Green offered and sold securities based on materially false and misleading
statements that neither the company nor Defendants themselves had been involved in any bribery
of or attempt to bribe government officials and by falsely suggesting that Adani Green was a
leader in anti-corruption and anti-bribery principles with an effective anti-bribery program.

91. The opposite was true. Defendants had been personally and intimately involved
in paying or promising bribes worth hundreds of millions of dollars to secure undue influence
with Indian state government officials and procure contracts between Indian state governments

and SECI that benefitted Adani Green.
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A. Defendants Authorized Adani Green to Offer
and Sell the Notes and Approved the Offering Documents.

92. On August 4, 2021, Adani Green’s Board of Directors passed a resolution
authorizing the Offering and the Notes.

93. On August 26, 2021, the Management Committee, ultimately responsible for
making Adani Green’s strategic and capital markets decisions, also considered whether Adani
Green should issue debt securities to raise or borrow money.

94. That day, the Management Committee passed a resolution authorizing Adani
Green to raise or borrow up to USD $750,000,000 through the issuance of debt securities, i.e.,
the Notes, pursuant to Rule 144A and/or Regulation S of the Securities Act, among other laws,
including “to fund the development of utility scale projects.”

95.  Also on August 26, 2021, the Management Committee authorized Sagar Adani,
among others, “to negotiate, modify, sign, execute, register and deliver any disclosure
documents, information memorandum or offering circular” necessary to issue the Notes.

96. On August 27, 2021, the Management Committee reviewed and approved the
Preliminary Offering Circular for the Notes.

97. Between August 27 and August 31, 2021, Adani Green conducted a road show
during which the Notes were marketed to potential investors, including to investors in the United

States, as “Green Bonds” that would be used to fund “Eligible Green Projects,” including “solar

electricity generation facilities.” During that marketing, Adani Green also highlighted that it had

2Rule 144A [17 C.F.R. § 230.144A] and Regulation S [17 C.F.R. § 230.901] concern
exemptions for the requirement that the offer and sale of securities must be registered with the
SEC. Rule 144A creates a safe harbor exemption from registration for private resales of
restricted securities to institutions that are qualified institutional buyers. Regulation S exempts
from registration offers and sales of securities that occur solely outside of the United States.
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“adopted Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policies” and provided links to the policies for the
potential investors to review.

98. On September 2, 2021, Adani Green sent a letter to the BSE and the National
Stock Exchange of India stating that the Management Committee had approved Adani Green’s
“issuance of USD denominated senior secured notes (‘Notes’) aggregating to US$ 750 million
and has approved the pricing, tenure and other terms of the Notes.” The letter further confirmed
that the Management Committee had “reviewed and approved the offering circular (‘OC’)
including the final pricing term sheets in relation to the issuance of the Notes by the Company,”
i.e., the Final Offering Circular (referred to together with the Preliminary Offering Circular,
supra paragraph 96, as the “Offering Circulars”).

99. Adani Green’s September 2, 2021, letter to the BSE and the National Stock
Exchange of India also stated expressly that the Notes “are being offered and sold . . . within the
United States to persons reasonably believed to be ‘qualified institutional buyers’ (as defined in
Rule 144A under the Securities Act).”

100. At the time the Management Committee authorized the issuance of the Notes and
approved the Offering Circulars, the four members of the Management Committee had
participated in prior securities offerings, including by Adani Green, were familiar with the
disclosures necessary to effect such an offering, and knew or recklessly disregarded that none of
Adani Green, Gautam Adani, or Sagar Adani had disclosed or would disclose to potential
investors in the Notes that a substantial part of Adani Green’s portfolio of solar power projects
and planned sale of energy generated by Adani Green was dependent on and had been obtained

through payments or promises to pay bribes. That is, both Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani
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intended, or recklessly disregarded, that Adani Green would offer and sell the Notes based on a
deceptive portrayal of Adani Green’s core business.

B. Adani Green’s Offering Circulars for the Notes
Contained Materially False and Misleading Statements.

101. In connection with its offer and sale of the Notes and before it sold any Notes,
Adani Green provided the Offering Circulars to potential investors. The two Offering Circulars
are substantially similar.

102. In general, an offering circular for notes, like the Offering Circulars here, is
intended to give potential investors important information about the entity issuing the notes and
the notes offering, to enable those investors to make informed decisions about whether to invest
in the notes. This includes information about the notes issuer’s business operations, financial
statements, management team, and policies and strategic plans. This also includes the specific
terms of the notes, such as rates of interest, maturity date, and repayment schedule.

103.  The Offering Circulars informed potential investors that they could rely on the
information therein to make their investment decision regarding the Notes, including that,

[Adani Green] accepts responsibility for the information contained in this
Offering Circular. . . . [Adani Green], having made all reasonable
inquiries, confirms that this Offering Circular contains or incorporates all
information which is material in the context of the Notes, that the
information contained or incorporated in this Offering Circular is true and
accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the opinions
and intentions expressed in this Offering Circular are honestly held and
that there are no other facts the omission of which would make this

Offering Circular or any of such information or the expression of any such
opinions or intentions misleading.

104. The Offering Circulars then informed investors of several “Risk Factors”
associated with the Notes, which Adani Green urged investors to “carefully consider . . . before

making an investment in the Notes.” Among those Risk Factors, the Offering Circular highlights
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that one potential risk in investing in the 2021 Notes is the possibility that employees “might
take actions that could expose” Adani Green “to liability under anti-bribery laws,” saying,
Lack of transparency, threat of fraud, public sector corruption and other

forms of criminal activity involving government officials increase the risk
for potential liability under anti-bribery laws.

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws that prohibit
improper payments or offers of improper payments to governments and
their officials and political parties for the purpose of obtaining or retaining
business or securing an improper advantage and require the maintenance
of internal controls to prevent such payments. Although we maintain an
anti-bribery compliance program and train our employees in respect of
such matters, our employees might take actions that could expose us to
liability under anti-bribery laws. . . . Any violation of anti-corruption
laws could result in penalties, both financial and non-financial, that could
have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation.

105.  This purported warning to potential investors of a risk to Adani Green that, in the
future, its “employees might take actions that could expose us to liability under anti-bribery
laws” was materially misleading because it falsely suggested that no bribery scheme was then
ongoing and failed to disclose the existing bribery scheme led by Adani Green’s most prominent
leaders, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani.

106. The Offering Circulars made additional false and misleading statements to
potential investors. For example, they described Adani Green’s portfolio of renewable energy
contracts and projects, the largest component of which was the Manufacturing Linked Projects,
and then described how Adani Green obtains such contracts and projects saying, “We win our
PPAs through transparent and competitive tender processes conducted by the central and state
governments of India.”

107.  This statement was also materially false and misleading. As detailed above, e.g.,
supra paragraphs 62 to 87, Adani Green did not “win” the largest Power Purchase Agreement in

its portfolio, with SECI related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects, “through transparent and
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competitive tender processes.” Rather, that PPA was obtained only after bribes worth hundreds
of millions of dollars were paid or promised.

108.  The Offering Circulars also repeatedly disclosed to investors that an “integral”
part of Adani Green’s “philosophy” is its “environmental, social, governance (‘ESG’) policy”
and that Adani Green operates pursuant to an “ESG Framework.” The Offering Circulars
informed potential investors that Adani Green’s major objectives in this respect included “to
align the ESG organization in business with [its] top governance body (Board of the Directors)
of [Adani Green]” and “to integrate Sustainability and ESG (Environmental, Social and
Governance) aspects into the business of [Adani Green] by considering ESG aspects in all
stages” of its business.

109.  The Offering Circulars highlighted to potential investors that, as part of Adani
Green’s commitment to ESG principles, it is a “participant of the United Nations Global
Compact, committing [Adani Green] to supporting the ten principles of the United Nations
Global Compact in human rights, labor, environment and anti-corruption.” Principle 10 of the
United Nations Global Compact, signed by Adani Green and highlighted in connection with the
Offering and the Notes, says that “Businesses should work against corruption in all its forms,
including extortion and bribery.””

110. The Offering Circulars then disclosed to potential investors that a “core” part of
the success of Adani Group—of which Adani Green is a part—is its philosophy of “Growth with

Goodness” and its commitment to ESG principles. To that end, the Offering Circulars say that

3 As explained by the United Nations, “[t]he tenth principle against corruption was adopted in
2004 and commits UN Global Compact participants not only to avoid bribery, extortion and
other forms of corruption, but also to proactively develop policies and concrete programmes to
address corruption internally and within their supply chains.”
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Adani Group, like Adani Green, has also adopted an “ESG Framework™ incorporating the United
Nations Global Compact, described above, as one of its guiding principles.

111.  The Offering Circulars did not merely claim that Adani Green aspired to meet
anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles. Rather, they detailed that Adani Green had
implemented those principles through specific policies and procedures, identified the committees
of its Board of Directors responsible for those policies and procedures, and acknowledged the
harm that Adani Green would suffer if it engaged in bribery or corruption—all of which would
have led a reasonable investor to believe that effective steps were being taken to prevent bribery
and corruption and that no corrupt bribery scheme was then being perpetrated by Adani Green’s
executives or directors.

112. Among other things, the Offering Circulars assured potential investors that Adani

29 ¢c

Green had established “committees and internal systems” “to ensure the integrity of our ESG

performance including . . . creation of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration

29 <c

Committee, [and] Risk Management Committee,” “which oversee our ... anti-corruption and
bribery related matters.” Notably, Sagar Adani is the Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee.

113.  The Offering Circulars then conveyed that Adani Green’s efforts related to
environmental, social responsibility, and good corporate governance principles—which included
Adani Green’s purported efforts with respect to anti-bribery and anti-corruption—should be
meaningful to investors’ investment decisions. Specifically, Adani Green represented that those
efforts had led MSCI, Inc., the U.S.-based investment research firm, to assign Adani Green an

“A” rating in respect of those ESG principles, and also led the Dow Jones Sustainability Index, a

prominent benchmark for investors assessing and measuring companies’ ESG performance, to
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place Adani Green above its peers in India in respect of good corporate governance principles,
ranking it “second-best in ESG benchmarking of Indian Electric Utilities.”

114.  The Offering Circulars’ many statements representing to potential investors that a
core tenet of Adani Green and its Board was preventing bribery and corruption gave any
reasonable investor comfort that none of Adani Green’s executives or directors were then
involved in a corrupt bribery scheme. This was misleading. In fact, months and weeks earlier,
Adani Green’s leadership, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani, had been personally involved in such
a corrupt bribery scheme, a fact that was not disclosed in the Offering Circulars.

115.  Finally, the Offering Circulars emphasized Gautam Adani’s prominent role at
Adani Green, highlighting that one of Adani Green’s “competitive strengths” is the involvement
of its “Promoter Group,” i.e., Gautam Adani and Rajesh Adani, “who founded one of the leading
integrated energy and infrastructure conglomerates in India and has established a long track
record of successfully executing large-scale projects.” The Offering Circulars then further
described how the Promoter Group, and Adani Group, provided Adani Green with a competitive
advantage, saying,

We benefit from the support, vision, resources and experience of Adani
Group, who leads one of India’s largest private sector energy and
infrastructure conglomerates and is committed to the long-term success of
the Group. . .. With over three decades of experience in the energy sector
in India, Adani Group has built long-standing relationships with key
stakeholders, including SECI and DISCOMs, as well as suppliers.
Drawing upon this depth of experience, Adani Group has established a
strong track record of executing large-scale projects, which will benefit us

across all stages of our project development within India’s complex
regulatory framework . . . .

Adani Group also brings to bear financial, as well as operational expertise,
leveraging long-term relationships with financial institutions to provide us
with access to financing in both the domestic and international debt and
capital markets. Capital management is an important pillar of Adani
Group’s development philosophy. The capital management program is
aimed at reducing risk, establishing robust ESG practices and executing
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sound financial policies at each of the portfolio companies. . .. We
believe that the support of our Promoter Group will allow us to hedge on
the reputation and experience of the Adani Group to grow our portfolio.

C. Adani Green’s Subscription Agreement for the Notes
Contained Materially False and Misleading Statements.

116. Also in connection with its offer and sale of the Notes, Adani Green executed a
Subscription Agreement pursuant to which ten financial institutions agreed to act as underwriters
for the Offering. Under the Subscription Agreement, the underwriters agreed to purchase certain
minimum amounts of Notes with a view to offering and selling the Notes to others in connection
with Adani Green’s distribution of its Notes to public investors. The Subscription Agreements
were a necessary part of and enabled Adani Green’s offer and sale of the Notes to investors.

117.  Before the Subscription Agreement was finalized and signed by Adani Green and
the underwriters, multiple drafts were provided to Sagar Adani who, as alleged above supra
paragraph 95, had been authorized by Adani Green’s Management Committee to negotiate,
modify, and finalize documents necessary to effect the Offering, and those drafts included the
false and misleading statements described below.

118. In general, with respect to an offering of notes, a subscription agreement, among
other things, formalizes an investment commitment, details the terms of the offer and sale of the
notes, sets forth the notes issuer’s representations and warranties, and highlights potential risks
associated with an investment in the notes.

119. Here, the Subscription Agreement for the Notes included several materially false
and misleading statements, including concerning the accuracy of the Offering Circulars, the
absence of material transactions not reflected on Adani Group’s balance sheet, that all material
facts concerning Adani Green and the Adani Group had been disclosed, that neither Adani Green

nor the Adani Group (nor any of their directors, officers, or employees) were engaged or would
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engage in bribery, and suggesting to investors the false and misleading impression that both
Adani Green and Adani Group had effective anti-bribery programs. None of this was true.

120.  The Subscription Agreement, in Section 7.1.12, said that the Offering Circulars
were accurate in all respects and that Adani Green had made full and accurate disclosures of all
material facts about its businesses, specifically saying that the Offering Circulars are, “in every
material respect true and accurate and not misleading and all reasonable enquiries have been
made by the Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and
statements” and that “there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the Group, or the Notes the
omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes make any material
statement in” the Offering Circulars “misleading.”

121.  The Subscription Agreement, in Section 7.1.33, also said that Adani Green had
disclosed to the underwriters “all information regarding the financial or business condition or
prospects of the Issuer and the Group which is relevant and material in relationship to the Issuer
and the Group, in the context of the issue, offering and sale of the Notes.”

122. Nowhere did the Subscription Agreement disclose that Gautam Adani and Sagar
Adani had paid or promised to pay bribes to Indian state officials to secure contracts necessary
for Adani Green’s most important development project.

123.  To the contrary, the Subscription Agreement, in Section 7.1.19, stated that Adani
Group—including Adani Green, Gautam Adani, and Sagar Adani—had not engaged in any
undisclosed transactions or arrangements (e.g., bribes or promises to bribe Indian state
government officials) that do not appear on the balance sheets of the Adani Group entities,

saying that “[e]ach of the Disclosure Documents accurately and fully describes, including
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without limitation the section headed ‘Risk Factors’: . . . all off-balance sheet transactions,
arrangements, [and] obligations that are material to the Group.”

124.  Also to the contrary, the Subscription Agreement, in Section 7.1.39, made three
materially false and misleading statements about Adani Group’s and Adani Green’s efforts to
prevent bribery and that their executives had not engaged in paying or promising to pay bribes.
That Section said that:

a. None of Adani Group, Adani Green, or any of their directors or officers
“has taken or will take any action in furtherance of an offer, payment,
promise to pay, or approval of the payment or giving of money, property,
gifts or anything else of value, directly or indirectly, to any ‘government
official’ (including any officer or employee of a government or
government-owned or controlled entity) . . . to influence official action or
secure an improper advantage.”

b. None of Adani Group, Adani Green, or any of their directors or officers
“has taken or will take any action that has resulted or will result in a
violation by the Issuer or any other member of the Group of any
applicable Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws; and the Issuer, each other
member of the Group and their respective directors, officers and, to the
best of the Issuer’s knowledge (after due and careful enquiry), each of the

affiliates . . . of the Issuer has conducted its businesses in compliance with
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applicable Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws, including the Prevention of
Corruption Act, 1988.7*

c. “The Issuer and each other member of the Group has instituted and
maintains and will continue to maintain policies and procedures designed
to promote and achieve compliance with, and prevent violation of, such
laws, and with the representations and warranties contained herein.”

125.  The Subscription Agreement thus falsely informed the underwriters that Adani
Green and those serving as its Directors, including Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani, had not paid
bribes or promised to pay bribes to Indian state officials. It also falsely portrayed Adani Green
as having a rigorous anti-bribery and anti-corruption compliance program that had prevented
payment or promises of such bribes. Neither was true.

126.  As underwriters obtained orders for the Notes from potential investors, they
communicated the status of those orders to Sagar Adani, among other Adani Green personnel,
including the fact that investors in the United States intended to purchase Notes as part of the
Offering.

VI.  U.S.-BASED INVESTORS INVESTED IN THE OFFERING AND OWNERSHIP
OF THE NOTES CHANGED HANDS IN THE UNITED STATES.

127.  On September 8, 2021, pursuant to the Offering Circulars and Subscription
Agreement, Adani Green issued $750,000,000 in Notes. Adani Green sold at least $175 million

of those Notes to investors in the United States.

* In the Subscription Agreement, “Anti-Bribery and Corruption Laws” was defined to mean “the
United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010, the FCPA and the rules and regulations promulgated under
each such law, and any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws and regulations
imposed in other relevant jurisdictions.”
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128.  Adani Green did not register its offer or sale of the Notes under the Securities Act
or with the SEC. Rather, Adani Green’s offer and sale was under exemptions from such
registration, offering and selling Notes within the United States to qualified institutional buyers
in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act and outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S under the Securities Act, see paragraph 94 and footnote 2 above.

129.  Under the terms of the Notes, Offering Circulars, and Subscription Agreement,
with respect to Notes offered and sold to investors in the United States, Adani Green caused the
Notes (or certificates representing all rights reflected in the Notes) to be deposited with the
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and title to the Notes to be registered in the name of Cede
& Co. (“Cede”), as nominee for DTC. Cede and DTC are each located in New York.

130.  As part of this process, and occurring within this District, ownership of and rights
to the Notes was transferred to the investors in the Notes.

VII. AFTER THE OFFERING, DEFENDANTS MET WITH AZURE EXECUTIVES
TO COLLECT ONE-THIRD OF THE BRIBES FROM AZURE.

131.  In 2022, after SECI and many Indian state governments publicly announced they
had entered into Power Supply Agreements related to the Manufacturing Linked Projects—
benefiting both Adani Green and Azure, which were to develop two-thirds and one-third of those
projects, respectively—Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani sought to collect from Azure one-third
of the bribes that had been paid or promised to Indian state government officials to secure those
Power Supply Agreements.

132.  Specifically, between April and June 2022, Gautam Adani and Sagar Adani,
together with Vneet Jaain, met in person in India multiple times with multiple senior Azure
personnel to discuss how—consistent with a prior agreement with Azure—Gautam Adani, with

Sagar Adani’s assistance, had paid or promised bribes to Indian state government officials to
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procure contracts between the Indian states and SECI necessary for the Manufacturing Linked
Projects to move forward.

133.  In those meetings, Gautam Adani recounted, among other things, how, in mid-to-
late 2021, Indian state governments had been reluctant to enter into Power Supply Agreements
with SECI, and how he personally intervened and paid or promised to pay bribes to Indian state
government officials to persuade them to enter into Power Supply Agreements.

134.  Gautam Adani made clear how his efforts had succeeded and discussed with the
Azure executives how, as previously agreed, Azure would pay its one-third share of those bribes.
This included discussion of how Azure could pay its share through corporate transactions
between Azure and Adani Green, which would have the effect of concealing the payment.

135. Among other things, Gautam Adani suggested that Azure could pay some of its
share of the bribes by the Azure senior personnel causing Azure to cede Azure’s rights to its
most valuable aspect of the Manufacturing Linked Projects—Azure’s right to sell 2.3 GW of
power capacity to SECI related to Andhra Pradesh—to Adani Green.

VIII. AZURE CEDED CONTROL OF ITS INTEREST IN A KEY ASPECT OF
THE PROJECT BACK TO SECI FOR ADANI GREEN’S BENEFIT.

136. Following each of the meetings with Gautam Adani, Sagar Adani, and Vneet
Jaain, Azure senior executives met frequently and strategized about various transaction structures
to pay Azure’s one-third share of the bribes that Gautam Adani, with Sagar Adani’s assistance,
had paid or promised to Indian state government officials.

137.  Azure ultimately decided to repay at least a portion of its share of the bribes
through multiple transactions, including by, as Gautam Adani had discussed, ceding to Adani

Green all of Azure’s rights to sell 2.3 GW of power to SECI related to Andhra Pradesh.
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138.  To that end, in December 2022 and February 2023, Azure sent letters to SECI
seeking to withdraw from the Andhra Pradesh portion of the Manufacturing Linked Projects,
which were the largest—and potentially most profitable—part of the projects. The letters
suggested that Azure could not proceed with that part of the projects due to economic reasons—
namely, because Azure believed that a portion of the projects was “unbankable and unviable”
and “untenable,” such that Azure was “unable to proceed.”

139. This was a pretext. The real reason that Azure returned a portion of the Power
Purchase Agreements was so that it could later be awarded to Adani Green as payment for
Azure’s portion of the bribes paid or promised on Azure’s behalf.

140.  The pretext worked. In December 2023, Adani Green publicly announced that it
had signed a Power Purchase Agreement with SECI for the majority of the 2.3 GW portion of the
Azure award that Azure had returned to SECI.

141. The end result of these maneuvers—Azure’s withdrawal from and forfeiture of a
substantial portion of the Manufacturing Linked Projects and Adani Green’s takeover of nearly
all of that portion of the projects—was that Azure transferred significant value to Adani Green,
Gautam Adani, and Sagar Adani in partial satisfaction of Azure’s share of the bribes that Gautam
Adani and Sagar Adani had paid or promised.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)
(Both Defendants)

142.  The SEC re-alleges and incorporates by reference here the allegations in
paragraphs 1 through 141.

143.  Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in the offer or sale of
securities and by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in

interstate commerce or the mails, (1) knowingly or recklessly have employed one or more
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devices, schemes or artifices to defraud, (2) knowingly, recklessly, or negligently have obtained
money or property by means of untrue statements of a material fact or omissions of a material
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading, and/or (3) knowingly, recklessly, or negligently have engaged
in one or more transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as
a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

144. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert,
have violated and, unless enjoined, will again violate Securities Act Section 17(a) [15 U.S.C.
§ 77q(2)].

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder
(Both Defendants)

145. The SEC re-alleges and incorporates by reference here the allegations in
paragraphs 1 through 141.

146. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, in connection with the
purchase or sale of securities and by the use of means or instrumentalities of interstate
commerce, or the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange, knowingly or
recklessly have (i) employed one or more devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud, (ii) made one
or more untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state one or more material facts
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, and/or (iii) engaged in one or more acts, practices, or courses of
business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons.

147. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert,
have violated and, unless enjoined, will again violate Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C.

§ 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)(2)
(Both Defendants)

148. The SEC re-alleges and incorporates by reference here the allegations in
paragraphs 1 through 141.

149.  As alleged above, Adani Green violated Securities Act Section 17(a)(2) [15
U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)].

150. Defendants knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to Adani
Green with respect to its violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)(2) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)].

151. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants are liable pursuant to Securities Act
Section 15(b) [15 U.S.C. § 770(b)] for aiding and abetting Adani Green’s violations of Securities
Act Section 17(a)(2) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)] and, unless enjoined, Defendants will again aid and
abet these violations.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Aiding and Abetting Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5(b)
(Both Defendants)

152. The SEC re-alleges and incorporates by reference here the allegations in
paragraphs 1 through 141.

153. Asalleged above, Adani Green violated Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C.
§ 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5(b) [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder.

154. Defendants knowingly or recklessly provided substantial assistance to Adani
Green with respect to its violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule
10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

155. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants are liable pursuant to Exchange Act

Section 20(e) [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)] for aiding and abetting Adani Green’s violations of Exchange
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Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5(b) [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5(b)] thereunder
and, unless enjoined, Defendants will again aid and abet these violations.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court enter a Final Judgment:
L

Permanently enjoining Defendants and their agents, servants, employees and attorneys
and all persons in active concert or participation with any of them from violating, directly or
indirectly, Securities Act Section 17(a) and Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)
and 78j(b)], and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5];

1I.

Ordering Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties under Securities Act Section 20(d)

[15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Exchange Act Section 21(d)(3) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)];
II1.

Permanently prohibiting each Defendant from serving as an officer or director of any
company that has a class of securities registered under Exchange Act Section 12 [15 U.S.C. §
781] or that is required to file reports under Exchange Act Section 15(d) [15 U.S.C. § 780(d)],
pursuant to Securities Act Section 20(e) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)] and Exchange Act Section 21(d)(2)
[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)]; and

IV.

Granting any other and further relief this Court may deem just and proper.

38



Case 1:24-cv-08080 Document1l Filed 11/20/24 Page 39 of 39 PagelD #: 39

JURY DEMAND

The Commission demands a trial by jury.

Dated: New York, New York
November 20, 2024

/s/ Antonia M. Apps
ANTONIA M. APPS
REGIONAL DIRECTOR
Tejal Shah

Alison Conn

Christopher M. Colorado
Nicholas Karasimas

Stewart Gilson

Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
New York Regional Office
100 Pearl Street, Suite 20-100
New York, NY 10004-2616
(212) 336-9143 (Colorado)
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judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 3(a) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another
civil case merely because the civil case involves identical legal issues, or the same parties.” Rule 3 further provides that

“Presumptively, and subject to the power of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (b), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are still pending
before the court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 1(d)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County? O VYes 21 No

2.) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? D Yes m No
b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? [l VYes O No

c) If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was
received:

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County, or, in an inte%leader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County? es No

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.

Yes D No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?

D Yes (If yes, please explain IZI No

| certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature: _ /S/ Antonia M. Apps

Last Modified: 11/27/2017
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And
Andhra Pradesh Central Power Distribution Corporation limited, a company incorporated

under the Companies Act 2013, having its registered office at Vijayawada, Andhra Pradesh
Fasternn Power Distribution Company Limlited, a comparty incorporaled under (he Companies
Act 1956, having ite registered office at Visakhapatnam, Andhra Pradesh'and Andhra Pradesh
Southern Power Distribution Company Limited, a company lncorporaled under the Cornpenles
Act 936, having ils registered office al Tirupati. Andbra Pradesh (hereinafter collectively referred L0
as “AP Discoms™, which expression shall, unless repugnant Lo the context or meanlng, thereol, be
deemad o ineluda thote TOSPUCTIVQ SUCCASSOTS and parmittad asstpns viz AP Raural Agriculture
Power Supply Company Limited, a Guvernment of Andbica Pradesh Underlaking and a cowpatty
incorporated under the Companies Act 2013, having its registered office at Tadepalli, Guutur

district, Andhra Pradesh as Parties of the second part.

And

Governmeni of Andhra Pradesh represented through Deputy Secretary to Government (Energy)

(hereinafter referred to as “GoAP™) as a Party of the third part.

Buver/SECI, Al Liscoms, Buyiuy Entity and GoAP are individually referred to as ‘Party’ and

collectively referred o as ‘Parties’.

Whereas:

A. Solar Energy Corporation of [ndia Limited (SEC1) has been identified b_y the Govt. of India
as the nodal agency for implementation of MNR E Scheme for Setting up of ISTS connected
Solar Power Projects linked with Manu facturing and shall act as the Intermediary Procurer
under the Guidelines for Ta_riﬂ' Rased Competiive Bidding Process for Procurement of

Power from Grid Connected Solar Power Projects.

B. SECI will sign Power Purchase Agreements (PPAS) with the selected Solar Power
Developers (hereinafter referred to as “SPDs”) for procurement of 7000 MW Solar Power
under 2%, 3& 4* packages or the total capacity of projects selected undar the provisions of
Request for Selection (RfS) issued by RIS No.
SECI/C&P/RFS2GWMANUF ACTURING/P-3/R1/062019 dated 25.06.2019, if it is less

than 7000MW, on a long term basis, as indicated at Sciiedule-1 and Schedule-2 respectively

g Gt by ,&&/ T
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C. SECI tas subrnitted a proposal to Government of Andhira Pradesly vide its'Tetter
SECI/PT/Ménufacturing/Solar/2021 dated 15-9-2021 wherein it has infer-alia stated that the
manufacturing linked PSAs have special incentive from Government of India wherein Govt
ol ludia has granied 1STS chatges waiver and (hus neo such charges would be applicable on
GoATD alongslde otliel Teslures. Thls agisainedl belug based on walvar of ISTS charges, Wils
leiter (Annesure-l) shall becowe Iulsglal patt ol this Agrecisenl (Buyer-Buylng Lidity
PEAY

D. AP Discoms arc presontlydesignated as the Buying Entily to procure the power from the
Buyier to be sold by the Buyer o back to back hasis of the power under the Request for
Beloction (RfS) issued by RIS Nu. SECUC&P/RES/Z2GWMANUFACTURING/P-
3/R1/062019 dated 25.06.2019

E. The Governmeni of Andlwa Fradesh vide GO Ms. 1§ Unérgy (Power-T) dated 15.06.2020
declared its policyto supply unintercupted 9- hours day time power supply to thefarming
commiunity on a sustaindble basis through a separate enfity viz, Andhre Pradesh Green

Energy Corporafion Limiled.

[, The Government of Andhra Pradesh vide GO RT/267/2021/ENEQT-Energy dated
03.11.2021 h_ﬂ's diveeted that the Andhra Pradesh Green Energy Camaratian
Limitedestablished be renamed us AP Rural Agriculture Pawer Supply CompanyLimited
auct upon.operationalization of AP Rurkl Apriculture Power Supply Company T.imitedas a
distiibation licefisee, the presently envisaged supply and distribution of electric_ity to the
farming community shall be taken over and the said company shall be thereafter he the

Buying Entity for the puipdse ‘ofthis Agreemerit in place of AP Discoms;

G. The Andira Pradesh Electricity Regulatéry Commission vide order dated 11.11.2021
passed.in pursunace of the Lr. No. CGM/Projects/VIA/F.SECI-9GW/D.No. 1005/21 dt: 08-
11-2021 of Andhra Pradesh Discains (AP Discoms)has approved the procurement of 7000
MW solar power under the Request far Selection (RfS) issued by RIS WNo.
SECUCLP/RBAGWMANUFACTURING/P-3/R1/062019  dated 25.06.2019 and has
directed, inter-alia, as under:

In view of the foregoing, the Commission is of the considered view that procurementof the

- s 7 ‘c_aQ‘u&'ﬂ// Page3of56
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The Commission hay alsa taken hote of contents of the reference 2nd cired wherein thas
been inter alia stated tha(\the Goveramenl has conceived the proposed plan ofprocurement
mainly to achieve the objects of providing 9 hows daytine free supply o thefupmers
wrthout ticreastng the finascial burden on the State’s DISCOMSs for the next 23 yearsand (o
relieve the DISCOMs of accwnulation of subisidy burdens.

The Copunission las also wuted fron the suid letters cited that the State Governmentwill be
ane of the parties to the tripartite Power Sule Aw eement (PSA) urd that it will tke careof
peryment secud iy tiechunisi exclisively.

Eront the abave, the Gommission is satisfied that the propased purchase of power willnot
Cuuse aiy burden o auy consuter cdlegony ds the piwrchased power Iy meant for
bempsupplied (0 the ugricdiure sector, the coust-af which will be completely borne by the
AP StateGovermment, Kgually, the exisiing DISCOMs will also he freed from supplving
power fromtheir own resources to the agricultirre sector, and eventually the supply activity
will be takenover by the AP Rural Agricultize Power Supply Company (AP RAPSCom).

In the light of the above, the, Commission grants approval of the proposal tu procure 7000
MW supply i thiee tranches as proposed by the AP DISCOMs and perntit them to enterinto

wripartite. PSA whiclt shall hiowever be subject ta the determination of tarlff by
theApprropriate Commission as per the provisions of the Elecuri ity Act, 2003.

The above approval is subject v the following further conditions:

i) The State Government shall ensure thal the trapsptission and distributionnetywork is
aduguately strengtlhaned o cater (o the injection of the proposed power before
thecommeneemet of power Suppily.

ii) The DISCOMs are entitled to clain from the Government of AP, wheeling andother
charges, if any, in supplying the proposed power.

H. 1In teans of the above, AP Discoms and after the assignment, transfer and vesting of the

supply and distribution of electricity to the farming communityto AP Rural Agriculture
Power Supﬁly Conipany, the gaid AP Rural Agriculture Power Supply C6111pm1y shall
undertake the distribution and retail supply of electricity to the farming communityin place
of AP Discors and shall be tho Buying Entity for all intent and purposes under this

Agrcement and shall have alj the rights and obligations of the AP Discoms;’

. Buyingintity, AP Discoms AP Rural Agriculture Power Supply Company, as the case
maybe, has agreed to purchase Solar Power from the Buyer under the Sclieuw and
accordingly, Buyer has agreed to sign Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) with Selar
Power developers(hereinafter referred to as “«§PDs”) for procurement of 7000MWSolar
Power on a loag-term basis, as indicated at Schedule-2. This allocated capacity shall be

used for solar RPO requirement of Buying Entity. SECI shall intimate the same to CTU
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(PGCIL) for open access without any cost as per orders of Ministry of Power . Based on
input from PGCIL and corridor availability, quantity (MW) may be revised.

1. Government of Andhra Pradesh has agreed to scoure the payment of the amounts becoming
due from the Buying Entity to SECI under this Agreement and for the said purpose provide
the approprate paymeout gecunity tnochumem meluding but not fiurted to Letter of Credut
atel Tupaitite Agreanantbetween GoAR, Governuent of Ludia aud Reserve Dauk of budia
to ensure due and timely payment of the amount becoming due to SECL acknowledging
thut SECT shall have the ongoing obligation o puy o the power devalapers for generalion

oudd supply al power,

K. Copy of the PPA(s) shall be submitled to Buving Entity. and GoAPwithin 30 days of the
signing of the PPA(s) and such PP A(s) shall become integral part of this Agreement (Buyer-
Buying Entity PSA).

[ Purmant to the afaresaid abjective, the Partivy we decionue of etering into o Power Sale
Agreement ("PSA") ie a delinitive agreement, regarding purchase of power from the
Praject. Pending execution of the ﬁecessm'y agreements and other relevant dacuinents in
relation to the {ransaction contemplated herein, the payment obligations,Parties wish to
execute this PSA setting out the respective obligations of the Parties and the steps necessary
to complete the transactions contemplated herein.

M. To establish the coinmitment of Buying Eotity to purchase aud Buyer to sale power from
the Project, the Parties have entered into this Agreement.

N. A bidder which has been sclected as successful Bidder based on this RfS can also execcute
the Project through a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) ie. a Project Company especially
incorporuled to exeeuts the project. SECT shall enicr into PT'A with Project Company as per
the tormns and eondilion of RES,

O. Buying Untity, AF Discoms, GoAPackuowledge(s) and acvopl(s) Uit SECI is only zm-
Intermediary Company and is {acilitating the purchase of sale of electricity generated from
the Solar Power Projccts and, therefore, cannol assume independently, any obligation,
financial or otherwise, either to the SPD ér to Buying Entity, (unless otherwise specifically
provided otherwise in the PPA), except on a back to back basis, narmely, that whatever
obligation is enforced by tlie SPD under the PPA against SECI, Buying Entity shall be
bound to fulfil the obligation on a back to back basis towards SECI and similarly, whatever

rights thatBuying Entity may claim under this Agreement against SECL, shall be subject to
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due enforcement of the comesponding rights on a back to back basis by SECI against SPD,

without an independent obligation on the part of SECIL.
‘Now therefore, in consideration of the premises and mutual
andconditions set forth lerein, it is her eby agreed by aud belween the Parties as follows: C
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ARTICLE 1: DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

The tenms used in this Agreement, unless as defined below or repugtiant to the context, shall have

the saie mesning s defined in the Duyer SPD PPA and assipied Lo et by the Llectiicity Act,

2003 and the rles or regulations franmed theve under, including those issued/ framed by the

Approprinte Commission (as defined heteunder), as amended or re-enacted trom time to tume

TACE o Techucly
Act, 2003"

Electtictty Act, 200% wad welude any modificatious. awncndments il
substitution fram time (o lime;

Sale Agreement” or
“‘F,SI "®
"Appiepriate
ommission”

“Agroemenl” or "Power

shall moean this Power Sale Agreemont including its recitals and
Schedules, amended or madificd from time to time in accaidance with
the terms bereols

Unless otherwise stuted, Approprinte Commission shall be llag'hblc
Central Flectricity Regulatory Commission;

“Adjusted Cquity”

Shall have the same meaning as céntnincd in the SECI-SPD IPA

"Bill Dispute Notice"

shall mean the notice issued by a P:my :msmg a Dispute regarding
aManthly Bill or a Supplementary Bill issued: by the other Party;

“Business Day™

shull mean with respect to Buyer and Buying Entity, u day other than
Saturday, Sunday or a statutory haliday, en which the banks remain
open for business in the Stateof Andhra PradeshandDelhi,

“Buying BEntity™

“Buying Lntity”"Means AP Discoms or AP Rural Agriculture Power
Supply Company Limited, as the case may be, which will be an Entity
that is required to procure and supply the solar power ta the farming
community and for such other purposes as maybe specified by the
Govermment of Andhra Pradesh. Buying Entity will fulfil its solar RPO
nndér respective RPO tegulations und intends 1o buy 7000 MW and
17000 MU/year of Solar Power under this RIS,

“Buyer-SPD PPA”

Shall mean the power purchase agreement signed between Buyer and
SPD for procurement of72000MW Solar Power by Buyer from SPD and
annexed hereto as Schedule 2 of this Agreement:

“Capacity Utilisation
Factor” or “CUF”

shall have the same meaning as provided in CERC (Terms and
Condifions for Tatiff determination from Renewable Energy Sources)
Regulations, 2009 as amended from timie to time; However, for
avoidance of any doubt, it is clarified that the CUF shall be

"\>4 w <7 fegtatty F”‘&/‘gé/ & gfe;"ég
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r calculated on the Contracted Capacity; {
In any Contract Year, if ‘X’ MWH of energy hasbeen metered out al the
Delivery Point . for “Y'™MW Project capacity, CUF= (X
MWIhAYMW*8766)) X100%;

“CERC™ shall mean the Central Electricity Regulatory Commiission of India,
constituted under sub  scetion (1) of Section 16 of the Llecuiaity

Act, 200%, o ils stecessals,

“Central Lransmussion | Shall mean the utility notihied by the Central Government underSection

Utthty™ o *Ctu” 38 ol the Llactneity Act 2004,
“Change tn Law” chall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Article & of thisAgreemont, \
& “Conuvercial Opeation | shall ueats the wotual dale of cormmissiouing of the projecl as declared by ‘

Date” the Commissioning Comunittee constituted by the State Nodal Agency
(SNA). In case of part commissioning, COD will be declared only for
that part of project capacity;

“Commissioning” or The Project will be considered as commissioned if all equipment as per
*Project . rated Project Capacity has been installed and energy has flown into grid,
Comrmussioning in line with the Commissioning procedures defined in the

Guidelines/PPA;

“Campetent Court of]| shall mean any cour or tribunal or any similar judicial or quasi- judicial
Law” body in I[ndia that has jurisdiction o adjudicatc upun 1vsues rclating (o
this Agreement;

“Consultation Period” | shall mean the period of sixty (60) days or such other longer pertod as
the Parties may agree, commencing from the date of issuance of a Buyer
Preliminary Default Notice or Buying Entity Preliminary Default Notice
as provided in Agticle 9 of this Agreement, for consultation between the
Partics (o mitigate the cousequence of the relevant eveut having regard
to all the circuunstances;

“Contract Year”’ Shall mean the period beginning from the Effective Date and ending on
fhe immediately succeeding March 31 and thereafter each period of 12
months beginning on April 1 and ending on March 31 provided that:

(1) m the financial yeal ju which the Soheduled Commissioning Date
would occur, the Contract Year shall end on the date immediately
vefore the Scheduled Commissioning Date and a new Contract Year
shall commence once again from the Scheduled Commissioning Date
and end on the immediately suoceeding March 31, and thercafter each

period of twelve (12) months commencing v April | and ending on
March 31. and

(ii) provided further that the last Contract Year of this Agreement shall
end on the last day of the Term of (his Agreement,

- = C /
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"Contracted Capacity"

shall mean7000MW of Solar Power contracted with Buying Entity for
sale of such power by Buyer to Buying Entity at theDelivery Point from
the Solar Power Projectwith a ceiling of 17000Million units of energy per
yeir.

“Dcbt Due”

"Delivery Point”

“Thspute”

“Liug Date”

shall have the same meaning as conlained in the SECI-SPD PPA

shiall iean e point at 220 KV ot above wlete tlie power Nlota the Sota
Fower projeet(s) will ba injocted inte the 158, Metoring shall be done at
this interconnection point whero the power will be jected nto the 1STS
ic the Delivery point For interconnoetion with grid and metering. the
SIPD shall abide Ly the relovait CERC Repulations, Guid Cude, and
Ceutial Gleckloity AuthionitgRegulations ws wiended Qo liwe o line.,

shail mean any dispute or ¢ dilterence of any kind belween Buyer and | the
Buying Entity in connection with or wising out of this Agreement
including but not limited to any issue on the interprelation and scope of

the terms of this Agreement ws provided in Artisle 17 af thisAgreement:

shall mean the thirtieth (30th) duy atter a Monthly Bill or a
.:>u|)plum,i| ary Bill is received and duly acknowledged by Buying Lntity

r, if such day is not a Business Llay, the immediately succeeding
Busmcss Day, by which date such Monthly Bill vt a Supplementary Aiil
is payable by Buying Entity;

“Effective Date”

$hail have the meaning ascribed thereto in Anticle 2.1 of thisAgreement;

“Electricity Laws”

sball mean the Electricity Act, 2003 and the rules and regulations made
thereunder from time to time along with amendments thereto and
replacements thereof and any other Taw pertaining to electricity
including regilatians framed by the Appropriate Commission;

“Cnergy Accounts”

shall mean the regional energy accounts/state elergy accouuls as
specified in the Grid Code issucd by the approptiale ageucy fn eaclt
Meonth (as per their prescribed methodology), including the revisions
and graendments thereof;

- “Event of Default"

shall mean the events as defined in Article 9 of this Agreement;

“Expiry Date”

shall mean the date as on the expiry of 25 years from the SCD or from the
date of full commissioning of the projects, whichever is earlier,

"Force Majeure" or

“Force Majeure Event”

shall have the meaning ascribed thereio in Article 7 of thisAgreement;

“Guidelines: or

“Scheme”

shall mean the Guidelines for Tariff Based Competitive Bidding Process
for Procurement of Power from Grid Connected Solar PVPower Projects
issued by the Ministry of Power on 3¢ August 2017 including its
mncndment(s) corrigendum(s) and clarification(s) (if any) issued by

_
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F “Grid Code”/ “IEGC™| shall mean the Grid Code specified by the Central Comumission under

or “State Grid Code” Clause (h) of. Sub-section (1) 9f Section 79 of the Electricity Act éxlfljor
the State Grid Code as specified by the concerned StateCommussion,
referred under Clause (h) of Sub section (1) of Scetion86 of the
Flectrieity Act 2003, as applicable;

“Incremental Shall mean the amount of receivables, in excess of the amounts which
lhave aheady been chuged e agread o Lo cliurged 1 favowr of the
partics by way of a legally binding agrecment, executed prior to the
Lftcctive Date;

Receivables”

“Iucian Governnetdal | shatl incan the Govermuent of lndix Governnenls of stite(s), whete le
Dower Projects, Duyal and Duying Cutity ste locatad and any winisty
department, board, authority, agency, corporation, commission under the
direct or indirect control of Govenument of India or any of the above
state Government(s) or both, amy political sub-division of any of them
including amy court or Appropriam Commission(s) or tribunal or
judicial or quasi-judicial body in India;

[nsttutnstdality™

"[nterconmnection shall mean the facilities on SPD’s side of the Delivery Poiut for scnding

Facilities” and metering the elecirical output in accordance with this Agreement
and, subject to Article 4, the Metering System required for supply of
power, ;

*“Invoice” or “Bill” shall mean either-a Monthly [nvoice, Manthly Bill or a Supplementary
Invoice/Supplementary Bill by anyof the Parties;

“Late Payment shall have the meaning ascnibed thereto in Aricle  6.3.3 of

Surehire thisAgreement;

“Law" Shall mean in relation to this Agreement, all laws including
Electricity Laws i force i India and any stawte, ordinance,
regulation; notification or ¢ade, rule, or any interpretation of any of
them by an Indian Govermmental Instrutentality and having force of
law and shall further includc without limitation all apptlicable rules,
regulatians, orders, nofifications by an Indian Govermnmental
Tnstrumentality pursuant to or under any of them and sliall include

C without irnitation all mles, regulations, deaigiony ynid orders of lhe
Appropriate Commission, i
“Letter af Credit” ot shatl have the meaning ascribed thereto in Article 6.4 of thisAgreement;
“LICT |
\ “Month" shall mean a period of thirty (30) days from (and excluding) the date of
the event, where applicable, clse a calendar month;
“Open Access” shall have the same meaning as provided in the Electricity Act 2003 as

amended from time to time:
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"Party" and "Parties"”

shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the recital to this Agreement;

“Payment Security

Mechanism”

shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Article 6.4 of thisAgreement;

“Pooling Substation/

Podaling Pout™

Means a point whete more than one Solar Power projects may counect o
# common transmission systenl. Multiple prajocts can bo connoctod to a
pooling substation from where common transmission systei shall Lie
constructed and maintained by the develaper(s) (o get connected to e
{51'S substation, I'he voliage leve! for such eommon line shall be 220 kV
ael above Further, the matecing of the poeled power shall be done al ie
uyecton ooty Le the ISTS substation. Howevar, the voltago leval of
lransmission system of individual projects up to the pooling substation
may be at 331 kV and abave Sub-meters shall be installed at the poaling
substation for metering and forecasting and scheduling of individual
prajects. The losses in the common transmission system up to the
injection point shall he apportioned 16 the individual prajeats for the
purpuse of billing.

“Preliminary Dafault
Notice”

shall have the nwraning  aseribed thereto in Article 9 of this Agreeinent;

“Project” or “Power

Project”

shall meaun the Solar Power generation facility as per Schedule-1 having
separate points of injection into the grid at interconnection/metering point
at ISTS substation or in casc of sharing of transmission lines, by
separatcinjection at pooling point. Each project must alse have separate
control systems and metering.

“Project Capacity”

Shall mean the maximum AC capacity of the Project at the point of
injection on which the Power Sale Agreement has been signed.

5 'f(IB’I;'
“Rebate”
” RLD -C: "

"RP-C"

shall mean the Reserve Bank of India;

shall have the same meaning as ascribed thereto in Atticle 6 3 4 of this
Agreement;

shall mican the relevant Regional Load Dispateh Cenlre established 'under
Sub-section (1) ol Section 27 of the Blectrvily Acl, 2003,

shall mean the relevant Regional Power Comunittee established by the
Government of India for a specific region in accordanice with the
Electricity Act, 2003 for facilitating integrated operation of the power
system in thal region;

leupecs’l|,ule.|n) u.:% 2

shall mean Indian rupees, the lawful currency of India;

‘Szf'lcdu_lcF Shall mean the Date that is mentioned in the SECI-SPD PPA;
Commissioning Date”

'_01, llSCDJ:
"SERC" shall mean the Electricity Regulatory Commission of any State in India

constituted under Section-82 ol the Electricity Act, 2003 or its successors,

o d e\f/ %J
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and includes a Joint Commission constituted under Subsection (1) of
Scction 83 of the Electricity Act 2003;

/ ¢

—_—
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’_“SLDC Charges”

“SECL

shall mean the charges levied by any of the rclcvam SLDCs on Buymg‘
Entity;

shall mean Solar Energy C'omoration of ladia Limuted;

“State |I'ransmrssion
Utility™ or “S10e

“Tart "

"Lt Payraomds™

shall mean the Board of the Govemment company notified by the
respective State Government under Sub-section (1) of Section 39 of the
Act;

Shall have the same meaning as provided far in Article 5 of
thisAgrecment:

Shall e the piyinends (0 be wsde wiclor Montlily s ds telsied oo
Auticle 6 and (the relevant \upjnl(-m(nlmv Rills,

“Termingtion Notice”

"Term of Aglecmcm"

~ B

1 l‘udulg, nmilblu

shall mean  the nntue given hy ecither Parties for termination of
thisApgreement in accordance with Artiele 9 of this Agreement;

shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Adticle 2 of this Agreement;

shaii joean inargin payabic wowards e services provided by SEC( for re-
sale of power fo Buying Utilities under this Agreement, which shall be Re
0.07/kWh tixed for the entire term of the Agreement

Unit Commercial
Operation Date (UCOD)

shall mean the date of issuance of commissioning certificate for the
respective part(s) of the Power Projeet subsequent to the demanstration of
the compliance of commissioning and also start of injection and
scheduling power from the Power Project lo the Delivery Point and
availability/ _ installation of all necessary arrangements/ equipment
including RTU for scheduling of power generated from the Project and
Uransmission ol data ta the concerned authority as per applicable
repulation;

“Week™

shall mean a colendar week commcncmg from 00:00 hours ofMonday,
and ending 4t 24:00 hours of the following Sunday;

“Solar Pawer
Project™

shall mean the solar photovoltaic project that uses sunlight for direct
conversion into electricity and that is being set up by the SPD to provide
Solar Power to SECI;

“Salar Power”

Shall mean power generated from the Solar Power Project;

el /j’t, %/ & WS
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1.2 Interpretation
Save where the contrary is indicated, any reference in this Agreement Lo:

1.2.1 *“Agreemenl” shall be construed as including a reference to its Schedules and/or Appendices
und/o1 Anuesurcs,

12 ¢ An "Article", a "ocital®, a "Schedule” and a “pavagraph / clause” sliall Le cousttued us o
reference to an Article, a Kecital, a Schedule and a paragraph/clause respectively ol this
Agreament;

L2 VA “crare’” means a reference o tet wdbion (10,000 OGN and & “lakh” weans o teleeuce o
one tenth of a mnillion (1.00.000Y:

1.2.4 An “encumbrance” shall be construed as a reference to a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or
other encumbrance securing any obligation of any person or any other type of
preferential arrangement (including, without limitation, title transfer and retention
arrangements) having a similar effect;

1.2.5 “Indebtedness” shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as
surety) for the payment ar repayment of money, whether present or future, actual or
contingent;

1.2.6 A “person" shall be construed as a reference to any person, firm, company, corporation,
society, trust, govermment, state or agency ol a slate or any association or partnership
{whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the above and a
person shall be construed as including a reference o its successors, permitted transferees
and permitted assigns in accordance with their respective interests;

1.2.7 "Rupee”, "Rupees" “Rs.” ar now rupee symbol «“Z mghall denote Indian Rupees, the lawtul
currency of India;

1.2.8 The "winding-up", "dissolution", "insolvency", or "reorganization” of a company or
corporation shall be construed so as to include ‘any equivalent or analogous proceedings
under the Law of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is incorporated or
any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business including the
seeking of liquidation, winding-up, reorganization, dissolution, arrangement, protection or
roliet of debtors;

1.2.9 Words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa:
1.2.10 This Agreement itself or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a

reference to this or to such other agreement or document as it may have been, or may

e
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from fitne to time be, amended, varied, novated, reptaced or supplemented only if agreed

ta between the parties;

12,11 A Law shall be construed as a 1efetence Lo such Law including its -amneudinents o1 Le-
enactiments from time to lime;

1.2.12 A tirue of day sball, save s olhorwlse provided in any agréemont or ‘document be
conslruéd as a reference to Indian Standard [ime;

1.2.13 Different parts of this Agreement arc to be taken us mutually expldnatory and
suppletientat y Lo cuch other sand il thete is uuy iconsistency batweot ot anong the palé
of this Agresment, they shall be interpreted in a harmonious manner so as to give effect
to cach part;

1.2.14 The tables of cantents and any headings or sub-headings in this Agreement have been
inserted for ease of reference only and shall not atfect the interpretation of this
Agreemant;

1.2.15 All interest, if applicable and payable under thia Agreoment, shall accnie fror day to day
and be talculated on the basls of 1 year ol three hundred aud sixty five {365) days;

1.2.16 The words “hereof” or “herein®, if and when used in this Agreement shdll mean a
reference to this Agreement;

1.2.17 The terms “including” or “including without limitation” shal] meari that any list of
examples following such term shall in no way restrict or limit the generality of the word
or provision in respect of which such examples are provided;

1,2.18 All the ternis and expressions in capitalized form not defined herein in this Agresment shall
heve meaning as pravided therein in the RfS documents and PPA

12,18 This Agreement  and other documents like Request for Selection Documents,
Guidelinesincludihg subsequent elarifications, aincndments and, further clarifications in
regard to the Scheme for PPA linked ‘Manufacturing and Power Purchase Agreement

entered by SECI with SPDs shall be read in conjunction -with each other and interpreted in

harmonious mannef. B ({} Q\()
_,\ . J %gﬁcﬁ&ﬂaﬁf A{/E, gy Lo >
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ARTICLE 2: TERM OF AGREEMENT

2.1Effective Date& Conditians Precedent

2.1.1 This Agreement shall come into effect from the date of si gning of this Agreement and such

Al’ l ‘(’

date shall be 1eferred o as the Bffective Date

Notwithstanding the Lllective Date, the coudition procedent ot the enfoteemnent of the
obligations of cither paty against the other under SHCI-SPD PPA shall be that within 60
davs from the date of submission ta the Approprizte Counission. the Buying Tutily (ies)
whiall oblaiiy all wacquinite approvals including, approval of PSA (including adoplion of taill
and trading, wargin) from its State Flectricily Regulatory Cotmission and/ or CERC (as
applicable), on the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement read with the terms
and conditions contained in the Power Sale Agreement entered into between SECI and the
Buying Entity(ies). The Parties agree that in the event, the order of adoption of tariff,

trading margin and the approval of PPA & PSA, as mentioned above is not issucd by the

SERC and/ or CERC (as applicable) within the time specified above, the provisions of

Article 2.1.3 of SECI SPD PPA shall apply Any liability other than [STS charges and
losscs arieing on acconnt of termination ot such PPAs W SECI shall be settled by the

Buying Entity.

2.1 3SECI/Buying Entity as the case may be, shall obtain the order of the Approprate

22

Cominission adopting the tarilf and approving the procurement of the contracted capacity
on the terms and conditions contnined in this agreement catered into between SECI and
Buying Entity road with the terms and conditions contained in the PPA to be antered into
between SECI and the SPD. The Trading Margin shatl bc applicable as per Auticle 5 of
the PSA

Both Parties agree that under SECI- SPD PPA, SECE may be required (o graml au

extension in time as per provisions of the PPA under intimation to Buying Entity

Term of Agreenient

2.2.1 This Agreement subject to Article 2.3 and 2.4 shall be valid for a term from the Effective

A\ g (et ]D"C/ &w/ s (B

Date until the Expiry Date. This Agreement may be extended for a further petiod on
mutually agreed terms and couditions at lcast one bundied eighty (180) days prior to the

Expiry D

A
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2.3 Early Teriniriation
231 This Agreement shiall tenminate befare the Expiry Date:
L. if eitlier SECI or Buying Entity terminatés this Agreement, pursuant to Article 9
of thiz Agreament. or
I I auy ST &DPD A pots Lotaiuatid, the (;a[.a(zi[y wirclen Lhis agresmant shall
autotuatically be reduced but only (o the extent of that particular $ECLSUD PRPA
capucity without any lubility on SHCL
24 Survival
24.1 The expiry or tenmination of this Agresment shall not affect any accrued rights,
obligations and liabilitics of the Parties uuder this Agleswent, fucludiug (he tight to
receive liquidated dumages as per the terms of this Agrcement, nor shall it affect the
survival af any continuing obligations for which this Agreement pravides, either
exprossly or by neceggary implication, which are to survive after the Expiry Date or
termination incloding thase under, Article 7 (Force Majeure), Article 9 (Events of
Defaull and Tenmination), Article 10 (Liability and Indemnification), Article 12
{Governing Law and Dispute Resolution), Article 13 {(Miscellaneous Provisions), and
other Articlgs and ‘Schiedules of this Agreement which expressly or by their nature

survive the Term or termination of this Agrecment shall continue and survive any

expiry or termination of this Agreement. ' y
| Ly ‘P‘L/ % st
P Nn;- \/ / J,%f et Ler \f - \~7
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ARTICLE 3: SUPPLY OF POWER TO BUYING ENTITY
3.1 Obligations of Buying Entify:
5.0 Buying Lutily vudetlakes el il shuall. -

(00 Tuswe off tabe ol the available chapneily (o the Comneteial Opetition Date of the Pioject

(1) Tukwie availablity of the lutercamation facility el ovad allon of power Qo the
CTU/STU interface of Buying Entity’s stute periphery from: the Commercial Operation Date
of the Project.

(¢} be respunsible for poyment of theAndhra Pradeshstate transmission related charges and
applicable RLDC/SLDC Charges; limited to the charges applicable to the Contracted
Capacity of Ruying Entity under this Agreement, as determined by Appropriate
Cormmissionfrom time to time.

(4) Make peyment of the Monthly BillSupplementary Bill by the Duc Dute.

(¢) Open and Jruinliie Payment Seourity Mechanism as pev Article 6.4 for the entire Term of
the Agreement.

(f) Arrange for re‘qpired consent/NOC from §TUsSLDC/toncerned agencicsin the State of
Andhra Pradesh for availing open access/scheduling of the power. within 30 days of
acceptance of such applicaticn from the SI'D.

() Obtain riccgssary approyallad_op‘tion of PSA along withi tariff. trading margin and contracted
capacity.

(h) Fulfil a1l the obligatipis undertaken by Buying Entity under this Agreemenl.

32 Charges

3.2.1.Buying entity shall riot be liable for any payments to be made for any ISTS charges, open
access, CTU scheduling charges (if any) and any other charges from injection/delivery
point to the receiving substation(s) of Buying Entity.

3.2.2 Buyer shall neither be liable for obtaining the open access nor for any payments tc be made
for siach open access 1o the concemed STU/CTU by Buying Entity.

3.2.3 This agreement is based on the waiver of the inter-state transmission charges for the

canveyance of power namely Open Ascess Charges, CTU charggs, scheduling charges

.IQ’Q,/ Page 18 of 5
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{if any) and ary otiver charges from imjection/delivery point o the receivimg substation(s)
of Buying Entity as per Ministry of Power Order No. 23/12/2016 Ré&R. dated23.11.2021
(Annexure-1[read with amendment dated 30.11.202 (Annexure-IT), which shall be part

of this agrecment

3.3 Iosces

2.3.1  As por Miaistry of Power Ordors rofarrad in Articlo 3.2.3, thero shall be no incidenoo of
TRTR lotaes wpplicalle fon sitite lau ol s agrosimoent

The provislons of the Artlels 3.2.3 lutepud to sxepUon/walver ol tansudsston clatpes
shiall apply tnutatls puandis wisgard W thé ttawsinissiol losbes.

- (.
: . s .
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ARTICLE 4: METERING, ENERGY ACCONTING AND SCHEDULING

4.1 Metering

4.1. lThe elering artangements for metefing the electrical energy supplied at the Delivery Point
and Dalwew Point sliall ba as per the pravisions wentilied m the Duyer SPD PPA
1especlively. fhe metenng arcengement shall comply with the nenms of SE (RO CLRC

CEA a8 applicable.

412 Tl etergy: dedails oblawed Lo Luetpy Accountsissied by e WIC of the buywg
am:ly,shdll bo provided 1o Buying Tutity Ly Buyet sloug wilh Mouthily Bill validatiug
lhe. total énergy for which the Monthly Bill is gerierated.

4,1.3  Energy Accounts shall he binding:on both the Parties for billing ;gnd;p,gyinegt purposes.

42 -Energy- Accounting & Scheduling

.4,2:; The séheduling and energy accounting of Solar Power shall be as per the provisions of the
Buyer-SPD PPA and Grid Code. '
4.2.2 The SPD shall be sespousible for deviations made by it from the dispatch schedule and for
any resultant liabilifies on account of charges for deviation as per applicable regulations.
4.2.3. SPDshall be responsible for any deviation related to scheduling and actual generation,
424 No back-down/ eurtailment to be ordered without giving formal/ written instruction to
the SPD ns detailed in Schedule 1. B&ck—down} curtaitment (if any) including

justification of such curtailment/ back-down 10 be made- publm by the concerned Load

s of

Dispatch Centre. - =
G'V o~ QoS T
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ARTICLE 5: APPLICABLE TARIFF
5:1.1 From SCD and subject to the provisioh of the Article 6.7, thig Buying Entity shall pay the
fixed tariff of Rs, 2.42/kWh plus trading margin of Rs. 0.07/ kWh for the entire term of

this agreement.
512 Netusod

5.1.3 Bonelits atr acsount of any reduction in tatill as per provisious of SOCI-SPD PPA, shall be

passed on to the Naying Tntity:

5.1.4 As per provisions of the PPA.. the SPD§ are permitted for full commissioning as well as
part commissioning of the Project even priol 1o the SCD. lu cases of eurly pari-
commissioning, till the achicvement of full commissioning or SCD, whichever is earlier,
the Buying Entitysha‘ll purchase the generation till SCD, at 75% (seventy-five per cent)
of the tariff as mentioned In the Article 5.1.1 plus Trading Margin of Rs 0.07/kWh,
(Seven Paisa per kWh). In case of full commissioning of the Pcaject(s) prior to SCD,
Buying Entityshall purcliase the power at tariff as per article S.1.1 plus Trading Margin
of Rs 0,07/kcWh, (Scven Paisa per kWh).

g 5.1.5. Not Used

5.1.6. Nat used
5.1.7  Subsequent to grant of connectivity, in casé there is a delay in grantfoperationalization
of LTA by the CTU and/or there-is a delay in readiness of the ISTS substation at the
Delivery Poiit, including readiress of the power evachation and transimission
infrnstruoture of the ISTS network until SCD of the Project, and it is established that:
(i) The SPD has céniplied with the complete application formalities as per RfS,
(i) The:SPD has adhered to theapplicable Procedure in this regard as notified *
by the CERC/CTU, and
(iii) The delay in grant of connectivity/LTA by the GTU and/or delay in readiness of the
ISTS substation at tlie Delivery Point, including reéadiness: of the power evacuation
and transmission infrastructure of the ISTS network, is a factor attributable to the

CTU/transmission licenisee grid is béyond the gotitrol of the SPD;

The above shall be treated as delays beyond the control of the SPD and SCD shail

be extended for such Projects vpto 15 days subsequent to the readiness of the

o f (et {)LJ% | pesenyorss
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Delivery Point and power evatualion irifrastructure and/or operationalization of

LTA. Decision on requisile extension on accounl of the @bove factor shall be taken

by SECI, .
1 /,4@2@1”/( %V S‘[ Q)L) 6%96
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ARTICLE 6: BILLING AND PAYMENT

6.1General
6.1.1 From UCOD/COD of the Project, Buying Entity shiall pay to Buyer the monthly Tarifl
Payihents, on or before the Due Date, in accordance with Tariff s specifled in Article .
AL Larilt Payments by Huymg Entity shall be in Indian Rupees.
6.2 Delivery and Content of Monthly Bills .
621 luvor shall isaue to Buying Futity a sipued Monthly Bitl on the 1% Dusiness Day of the
wopll
622 The Monthly Bill prepared as detailed in Schedule-3 of the PSA, shall include the
following;
1) Monthly bill nay be raised buséd on the provisional REA
ii) The final adjustments it any may be done on the basis of the final REA aloup with
iii) Taxes, Duties, Levies etc. as applicable.
Final billing may be done based on published REA.
6.3 Payment of Monthly Bills
6.3.1 Buying Entity shall pay the amount payablc under the Monthly Bill on the Due Date to
such account of Buyer, as shatl have been previously notified to Buying Butity in

accordance with Article 6.3.2 below.

6.3.2. Buyer shall open a bank account at New Delhi (“Buyer’s Desighated Account”) tor all
Tariff Payments to be made by Buying Fatity to Buyer, and notify Buying Entity of the
details of such account at least ninety (90) Days before the dispatch of the first Monthly
Bill. Buying Entity shall also designate a bank account atAndhra Pradesh(the "Buying
Entity’s Designated Account") fut payments to be made by Buyer to Buying Entity, if
any, and notify Buyer of the details of such account ninety (90) Days before the dispatch
of the first Monthly Bill. Buyer and Buying Entity shall instruct their respective bankers
to make all payments under this Agreement to Buying Entity’ Desigrated Account or

Buyer’s Designated Accountas the case may be, and shall notify either Party of such

\ instructions on the same day.
\ YV : G
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0.3.3 Late Payment Surcharge
In the event of payment of a Monthly Bill by the Buying Entity beyond 30 days of its due
date, a Lale Payinent Surcharge (LPS) shall be payable by the Buying Entity to SECI on
the outstanding payment, at the base rate of Lale Payment Surcharge applicable for the

period for the first month of default. “[3ase rate of Late Payment Surcharge” means the
murginal cost of funds based lending rate for one year of the State DBank of India, as
applicable on the st Aprl of the financial year mr which the period lies, plus five peicent
(500 bLps) aud i the absonoe of wargival cost of funds based lending tate, uny othe
artangeinont (ot substtwes i, whiel the Central Goverminent may, by notlteation, m the
Oftticial Gazette, specify: 1he Late Payment Surcharge shall be claimed by SECT through
the Supplementary Bill. Late Payment Surcharge shall be payable on the outstanding
Poyrient beyond 30 doys of its duc datc at the basc ratc of Late Paymont Surcharge
applicable for the periad for the first month nf defanlt The rate of Late Payment
Surcharge for the successive months of default shall increase by 0.5 percent (50 bps) for
every month of delay provided that the Late Payment Surcharge shall not be more than 3
percent higher than the base rate at any time:

(a) Provided that the rate at which Late Payment Surcharge shall be payable shall not be

lhigher than 1.25% per month at auy liiue for puichase of power.

(b)Provided further that, if a distribution licensee has any payment including Late Payment
Surcharge outstanding against a bill after the expiry of seven months from the 30 days
beyond Due Date of the bill, it shall be debdired fiom procuring power from a power
exchange or grant of short-term open access till such bill is paid;

() All paymetits by Duying Tutityly Buyer [u1 power procured from it shall Le fust
adjusted towards Late Paymeut Surcharge and thereafier, towards monthly charges,
starting from the longest overdue bill.

(d) Tt the period of delault hes in two or more financial years, the base rate of Latc
Payment Surcharge shall be calculated sepavately for the periods falling in different
years, The Late Payment Surcharge shall be claimed by Buyerthrough the
Supplementary Bill.

N
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6.3.4 Rebate
For pa.yment of any Bill including supplementary:bill on or before Due Date, the Rebate
shall be paid by Buyer to the Buying Entily in the following manrier;
a) A Rebate of 2 % shall be payable to Buying Entity for the payments made within a

poriod of five (3) days of the preventation of I3ill through ¢ mail.

) Any payments made aftet five (5) days of the date of preseulation of bill throwglio
muatil up (o the due date sholl be allowad o rebate of | %

¢1 Na Rebute shall be pavable on the Kills other than onargy invatee, rased on
accauut ol Chonge in Law reliting (o axes. dutics, coss ote and Late Payment

Surcharge.

6.4 Praymeut Securlty Mechunlsm

Al Luiter of Credii T.C).

6.4.0 Govemment of Andhra Pradesh on behalf of Buying Entity shall provide to Buyer, in
respect of payment ot its Montlly Bills, an uneondilionil, revalving and irrevocable
letter of credit which is to be negotiated 'only on default conditions (“Letter of Credit™),
opened and maintained by Government of Andhra Pradesh, which may be drawn upon
by Buycr in accordance with this Article. Buying Entity shall provide Buyer draft of the
Letter of Credit proposed 1o be provided to Buyer (wo (2) months befare the

Seheduled Commissioning Date.

6.4.2 Not later than one (1) Month before the Start of Supply, (Gavernmeiit of Andhra Pracdesh
shall through a scheduled bank at Andhra Pradesh (Vijayawada)open a Letter of
Credit in favour of Buyer, to be made operative at least 15 duys prior to the Due Date of
its fust Monthly Bill under this Agreement. The Latter of Credit shall have a tern of
twelve (12) Months and shall be reviewed every 6 months, in the month of January and

July and revised w.e.f. April and Sept. for an amount equal to:

i) for the first Contract Year, equal to 110% of the estimated average monthly billing;
ii) for each subsequent Contract Year, equal to 110% of the average of the monthly

TariffPayments of the previous Contract, Year.

6.4.3  Provided that Buyer shall not draw upon such Leétter of Credit prior to the 30 days beyond

. itsDue Date of the relevant Monthly Bill. . - N
) s M 4/ ; (<@} Qo @ %6?.
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6.4.4 Provided further that if at any time, such Letter of Credit amount falls short of the amount
specified in Article 6.4.2 due to any reason whatsoever, Government of Andhra Pradesh
on behalf of Buying Entity shall restore such shortfall within.seven (7) days.

6.4.5 Government of Andhra Pradesh on behalf of Buying Enlity shall cause Lhe scheduled bank
1sswng the Letter of Credit to intimateBuyer, in writing regarding establishing of such
inevocabile Letter of Credil

6.4.6 Government ol Andhra Pradesh on behalf of Buying Entity shall ensure that the Letter of

Credit shall be ronawed priau to s expury

6.4/ All costs relating to openmng, mamtenance of the Letter of Credit shall be borne by

Government of Andlira Pradesh on behdlf of Buying Entity.

6.4.8 If Buying Entity fails to pay a Monthly Bill or part thereof within and including30 days
beyond its Due Date, then, subject to Article 6.4.%3 and 6.6.2, Buyer may draw upon the
Letter of Credit, and accordingly the bank shall pay without any reférence or instructions
from Govermnment of Andhra Pradesh and or Buying Entity, an amount equal to such
Monthly Bill or part thereef, by presenting to the scheduled bank issuing the Letter of
Credit, the following documents:
i) acopy ot the Monthly Hill which has remairied unpaid by Buying Eulity;
ii) a certificate from Buyer to the effect that the bill at item (i) above, or specified
part thereof, is in accordance with the Agreement and has remained unpaid after

30 days beyondthe Duc Date;
B. State Government Guarantee

The Buying Entity shall extend thc State Government Guarantee, in a legally enforceable
form, such that there is adequate security, both in terms of payment of energy charges and
tetiiiuation cumpensation if any [for the purpose of this clause, the Tri-Partite Agresment
(TPA) signed between Reserve Bank of India, Central Governiment and State Government
shall qualify as Statc Government Guarantee covering the security for payment of energy
charges). The Buyer shall ensure that upon invoking this guarantec, it shall at once, pass on
the samc to the SPD(3), to the extent the payments to the SPD(s) in terms of the PPA are due.
Provided that in cases where the Buying Entity is neither covered by Tri-Partite Agreement
(TPA) nor is able to provide the State Government Guarantee, the Birying Entity shall pay to

& ; X (’1,7@,»@/@/ {7 Pa%ﬁEScfSﬁﬁxP ‘PE:
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SECI an additional risk premium of Rs 0.10/kWh, which shall be credited to the paymerit
seeurity fund maintained by the SECL ‘

C.Payment Sceurity Fund
in addition to provisions eontaingd in Aclicte 6 4 (A)and 6 4 (1) Above, the Giovernment of
Andhra Pradest/ Buying Lntitymay. ulso chioose Lo provide Payment Seeurity FFunef, not later
than the cemmencement of supply of Power to the Buying Entity under this Agreement.
wlioh slull Us suitable to sappot Favinonl of gl loast 3 (three) months’ Lilling of ali the

Projects tied up with such fund.

6.5 Third Party Sales by Buyer
6.5.1 Nutwithstanding anyhing to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Buyer shall be
cntitled to but not obliged to regulate power supply of Solar Power of BuyingEntity in
case of Default in making payment by the 3% day of the Due Date by Buying Entity.

6.5.2 Buyer shall issue the Matice for Regulation of Power Supply on the date abeve and
shallgive a notice of 15 days to start the regulation on the 16" day.

6.5.3 Regulation of Power Supply would be on pro rata basis i.e., in the ratic of amount due
and unpaid to total amount due against the relevant Mcnthly Bill.

€.5.4 Inorder to avoid any doubts, it is illustrated that:
In the evelt of a bill atruunting to 8. 25 Crore ix napaid o the extent of Rs 10 Crore,
Buyer would hiave a tight lu regulate and sell Buying Dutity’s allocationof the power Lo
third pattics & the-extent of 40% (i.e. 10/25x100).

6.5.5 Buyer/SPD shall have the ight to divert the Solar Power or part thereof and sell it to any
third purty vaniely; .

i) Any consumer; subject to applicable Law; or
it) Any licensee under the Act;
Biiyer shall request the concerned SLDC/RLDC to divert such power to third party as it
may consider appropriafe.
6.5.6 Provided that such sale of power to third party shall not absolve Governmerit 6f Andhra
Pradesh/ Buying Enfity from its obligation to pay in full to Buyer for the Solar Power as

per Schedule-3 of this Agreeiment and any other outstanding payment liability of Buying

o~ {
\ Entity as per this Agreement. '-\_. K.Q\f S
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6.5.7 The amo.u_uf::c;ﬂlm;d from the diversion and sale of power to third patty over and above the
trading ma{r’g,f-‘_ip, open agcess charges and cosj‘s{l_{LDC./S-LDC etc. shall be adjusted first
adjusted agai l{st the pending liability of Buying Entity & auy otlier costs and the deficit il
any shall bo made good by Duymg ntity,

6.5.8 Sales todiryithird paity shall cease and regulir supply of electricity Buying Entity shall
conmence-ntd be restored within seven (£) duys from the date of clenring all outstanding

alies paysliles (o Bayer (on the Solat Powar widu (s Agrasmsut.

6.5.9 Further, the lmbihty of Buying Entxty to make the Tariff Payments to Buyer as per Energy
Accounts bhd.“ stuit fiom the day of such réstoration of supply of power and shall continue
“for 'such:periods: wherein such :power was made available by SPD for usage by Buying
Entity.

6.6 Disputed Bill

6.6.1 It Buying Entity does not dl:sputl. u Monthly Bill ruised by the other Party within fiftecn
(15) days of receiving such Bdl shall be taken as conclusive.

6.6.2 If Buying Entity disputes the amournt :paygib]é; under a Monthly Bill it shall pay 50% of the
inveice amount and it shall within fifiéen (15) days of receiving such Bill, issue a no_tice.
(the "Bill Dispute Notice") to the invoicing Party setting out:

i) thedetails ol e iii_spulc‘gl ajriount;

iii) all written material in support orlw claim

6.6.3 1f the Buyer agrees to the elaiim raised in the Bill Dispute Notice issued pursuant ta Article
6.6.2, the Buyer shiall make appropriate adjustinent In the next Moathly Bill. Insuch a
case excess amount shall be refunded along with interest at the same raie as Late

Payiment Surcharge, which shall be applied from the date on which such excess payment

wis imade by Buving Entity and np to and including the date on which such pavmem ha.u

been received us vofund. ) C,L,. o Q % c.\-I’S
\ g ] &7”‘7"'"’1%
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6.6.4 If the Buyer does not agrec to the claim raised in the Bill Dispute Notice issued pursuant to
Article 6.6.2, it shdli, within fifteen (15) days of receiving the Bill Dispute Notice,
furnish a notice (Dill Disagreement Notice) to the disputing Party providing:

1) reasons for its disagreement;
i) ils estunate of what the coteclatmount should bie, and

ii1) all written malatial in support ot its counter claim.

4

6.6.5 Upou tecept of thie il Disaeeinent Mottes by Duyiig Loty under Aiticle 6.6.4,
authorized 1epesentativels) on u duecto ol e hoaid of duectors/ wember of boad ol
Duying Entity and Buyer shall meer and make best endeavours to amicably resolve such

dispute within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the Bill Disagreement Notice.

G.6.6 If thi Parties do not amicably resolve the Dispute within fifteen (15) days of receipt otihill

Disagreenent Notice pusuant to Article 0.0.4, the matler shall be refermed to Dupiie

resalution in accordance with Article 12.
6.6.7 Ior the avoidance of doubt, it s clarified that despile a Dispute rcgarding an Invoice, Buying
Entity shall, without prejudice ta its tight to Dispute, be under an obligation 10 make

payment, of 50% of the invoice amount in the Monthly Bill.

6.7 Quarterly and Annual Reconciliation

6.7.1 The Purties acknowledge that all payments madeagainst Monthly Bille shall be subject to
quarlerly teconciliation within 30 days of e end of the quinter of each Coutiuct Yew
and annual reconciliation at the end of cach Contract Year within 30 days thereof to take
into account the Energy Accounts, Tariff adjustiment payments, Tariff Rebate, Late

Payment Surcharge, or any other reasonable circumstance provided under this

Agreement.

6.7.2 The Paities, therefore, agree that as soon as all such data in respect of any quarter of @
Contract Year or a full Contract Year as the case may be has been finally veritied and
adjusted, Buying Entity dnd Buyer shall jointly sign such reconciliation statement.
Aftersigning of a reconciliation statement, the Buyer shall make appropriate adjustments

in the [ollowing Monthly Bill, with Surcharge/Interest, as appl:cablc Late Pavmcnt

(o
\F;“_“,, j )ﬂ/ﬁc’[ﬁijb@% {lrf/, Page%b cf:lfmset %’0@
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Surcharge/ interest shall be payable in such a case from the date on which such payment
had been made Lo the invoicing Party ot the date on which any payment was originally
due, as may be applicable. Any Dispute with regard to the above reconcilintion shall be

dealt with in accordance with the provisions of Article 12.

6.8 Renowable purchase obligation

6.8.1 Buymg Entity may identify the energy procured from the Delivery Point to meet its
renewablc purchase obligations (as mandated by the Appropriate Commission). Provided
that the renewable purchase abligation of Ruying Eatity shall be considered Lo be met by
Buying Entity only if there is no payment default for such energy procured by Buying
Entity and a certificate to such effect is provided by Buyer ta Buying Entity.

6.8.2 Buyer shall provide such certificate identifying the quantumn of solar energy supplicd by
Buyer and being met by Buying Entity for each year within thirty (30) days after the end
of such year.

6.8.3 Criteria for Generation

6.8.3 a.
Subsequent to commissioning of the Project, Buying Entity, in any Contract Year, shall
not be gbliged to purchase -any. additional energy from the Buyer/ SPDs beyond 17000
Million kWh (MUs) from the Solar Power Project, The above limits shall be
considered op pro-rata basis with 1espect to the wdividugl projects cotrunissioned until
camumissioning of the entire Project capaciry allocated under this Agreement. farther,
for the first ycar of operation, the above limits shall be considered on pro-rata basis.

6.8.3b 1f for any Contruct Year subsequent (o the cmmnissic;ning of allocated Project capacity, it
is found that the SPD has not been able to generate minimum energy of 13137 Million
KWh (MUs) till (e end of 10 ycars from the SCD and 12363 Million kWh (MUs) for
the rest of the Term of the Agreement on account of 1easons solely nttributable ta. the
SPD, the noncompliance by the SPD shall make the SPD liable to pay the compensation
and shall duly pay such compensation to the Buyer to enable the Buyer o remit the
amount to the Buying Entity. The above limits shall be considered on pro-rata basis with
respect to the individual projects commissioned until commissioning of the entire Project
capacity allocated under this Agreement. For the fust year of operatian of the Project, the
annual CUF shall be calculated for the cornplete year after COD of the Project.

s, ,;Q-.e_f.»f/'éf' Page 30 af56
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Subsaquently, the annual CUF shall be caleulated every year from 1st April of the year
to 31st March next year, The lower limit will, however be relaxable by Buyer to the
extent of grid non-availability for cvacuation which is beyond the control of the Solar
Power Developer The amount of such compensation shall be as determined by the
Appropniale Commission/Authority, and such compensation shall ensure the Buying
Fatity is offset for all potential costs associated with law generation and supply af power
under the DSA | lowever. the minimum campensation payable to e Duyet by the SO
Ghiddl Lie 25% (wenty=live percent) of the cost of this shotuhll in energy terms, calealated
at the PPA tari [T, which stiall in turn, be remitied to the Buying Fntity

1t slall peliedule thy power ovar the moths wea continel yeat ten sueh wannot hal
aver all subual delivety shall not exeeed 17000 MU ut dedivery poiuts towlly ws per the
terms and conditions stipulated in RIS /PSAs [ PlAs, a8 the case may be

SPD will intimate the expected monthly dispatch sohedule, 30 days prioy to the start of a
Contract Year for supply of power to SECTBuying Entity Such scheduls will not be
higher than 17000 MUs/ atnum (i c. the macimum snnual offtake committed by Buying
Entity)., SPDs shall be able o revise tiis schedule nol mare tan ojee ina Quarter during
the Contract Year, Such revised schedule too shall be aligned to Buying Eatity maximum
offtake commitment of (7000 MUs/ annum. Buying Entity’s minimum monthly ofMake
commitment shall tot be lower than the dispatoh/ revised dispatch schedule intimated by
the SPDs. Any energy beyond maximum offtake commitment of Buying Enlily will be
permitted to the SPDs to sale 1o outside, i.c. uny 3rd party, APDISCOMs /Govt of AP has
to give monthly NoC to SECI/SPDs well in advanes, towards sale of any excess chergy
outside this PSA to any 3rd party.

The minimum generation obligatior of the $PDs shall be on annual basis.

6.8.4 Not used.

6.2.5 The compensation as per Article 6.8.3 shall be applicd to lhe amount of shortfall in
generation during the year. However, this compensation shall not be applicable in events
of Force Majeure identified under this Agrsement affecting supply of Solar Power by
Buyer/SPD.

6.9 Payment of Supplementary Bill

6.9.1 Buyer/Buying Entity may raise a "Supplementary Bill" for payment on account of:

i) Change in Law as provided in Article 8, or ’
2 e ol
&n‘ J f@w‘é‘/ g Qo Tos
oM

Page 31 of 56




100

BUYER-BUYING ENTITY PSA

1) Pertaining to open access and scheduling related charges if any, for
transmission of the power, as determined by CERC from time to time or
iiiyPayment under Articla 6.10 and. other chargos, if any.

and such Supplementary Bill shall be paid by the other Party.

6.9.2 Buyer/Buyiug Enlity shall rewnit all awmounts due under a Supplementary Bill rased by the
Buyer/Ruying Futity to the Ruyer’s/Kuying Eatity’s Diasignated Account by the Lwue
Date:

6 9V [n the event of defay m payment of a Supplementary Bill by either Party within thirty (30)
days beyond its Due Date, a Late Paymient Surcharge shall be payable at the same terms

applicable to the Monthly Bill in Article 6.3.3.

6.10. Offtake constraints due to Transmission Infrastructure /Grid Unavailability &

Generation compensation for Off-take constraints

6.10. Generation Compensation in offtake constraint due to Trapsmission Infrastructurenot
complete/ ready (Transmission constraint): After the Scheduled Commissioning

Date, subjoct to the submission of dorumentary evidences froin the Competent

Authority, if the plant is ready in all respects incliding the dedicated transmission
line to be established by the SPD to connect to the grid but the nccessary power
evacuation/ transmission infrastiucture -is not ready, for reasons not attributable to
the SPD, lcading to offtake constraint, the géncralion compensation shall Le
restricted to the following and there shall be no other claim, directly or indirectly
aganst SECL:

" Transmission Provision for Generation Compensation —|
Constraint

If the Project is ready but | a.The normative CUE of 19% (nineleen per cent) of
the  necessarty  power committed CUF, whichever is lower, for the period of
evacuation/uansossion grid unaviilability, shall be taken for the purpose of
infrastructure is not calculation of generation loss. Corresponding to this
ready, leading to offtake gencration loss, the excess

constraint peneration by the SPD in the succceding 3 (thies)

Pt Dy Lo ofes
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Contract Years, shall be procured by SECI at the PPA
tariff s as to offset this loss.

b.If the transmission delay is directly attributable to the
organization building the transmission network and
aome penalty is itmposed on him, then a part of that
penalty may be utilized by SECL for compensating the

generation loss.

However, it 1s elanfied that it the project is ready for commissioning prior to the
Scheduled Comniissioning Date, hut the offiake is constrined because of
inadequate/incomplete power evacuation infrastructure, no compensation shall be

permissible.

Backdown

6.10.1 fi:_:_u_zrzgl_i’{},l_:_ Compensation in offlake consiraints due (o Grid Unavailsbility: During ‘the
operation of the Praject, there can be some perlods where the Project can generate power
but due to temporary transmission unavailability the power is-not evacuated, for reasons
not atfribitable to the SPD. In such cases the generation compensation shall be addressed
in following manner:

Duration of Grid unavailability Pravision for Generatig
Compensation -

Grid tnavailabilily in 4@ conlractyear as | Generation Loss = [(dverage Generation
defined in the PPA: (only period from 8 | per hour during the Contract Year) x
a0 6 pro 1o be counted): ~ | (mumber of hours of grid unavailability

dyring the Confract Yéar)]

Where, Average Generation per hour
during the Contract Year (kWh) = Total
generation in the Contract Year (kWh) +

Total hours of generation in the

Contract Year.
0" & 0P S
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6102

The excess generation by the SPD egual to this generation loss shall be procured by the
Buyirig Lntity &t _tiii;,?fS‘AﬁzﬁfT’sfd as to offset this loss in the succeeding 3 (three) Contract
Years. (Gontract Year, shall be as defined tn the PPAL)

Oftike coustaity due o Dackdowi. e SP'D and (he Buymg Lubly shall [ollow the

forecasting and seheduling proeess as per the regulations i tlus regard by the Appraprate
Coimrission The Goveryeicut of Tudia, as pet Clause 5 2(u) of the Tndian Tlecticity Curied
Code (IKGE), 1.\r(1y'ikl£1s for strtus of “must-run’” Lo solur power projects Accordingly, no
sola puwer plant; duly S:(ll(!l!llﬁﬁl‘&lll@di shiould be ditacted o back down by 2 Discony Load
Dispalch Cculr(.(LDC) .Iil cast such evenlualily of Backdown arises, including non-
dispateh of :power 'd'ug,-v;.tp}txonecompliancc with “Order No. 23/22/2019-R&R dated
28.06:2019 ofiMinistry of Power regerding Opening and maintaining of adequate Letter of
Credit -(L-C) as -Payrﬁt;;vlj‘:Sécuﬁty Mechanism under Power Purchase Agreements by

1

D'iw_trihilﬁpn Licengess tand any clarifications or amendment thereto, except for the cases

where the Backdown is on account of events like consideration of gnd secutily or safuty of
any equipment or persannel ar other such conditions, the Buying Entity shall pay to the

8D, a Minimum Generativn Compengation, from the Procurer, in the manner detailed

bélow.
Duration of Backdown Provision for Generation Compensation
[ours of Backdown during a Generation Compensation = 100% of [(Average
monthly billing eyele. Generation per houy during the man’th) X (number of

‘backidmuu hours during the month)] X PCA f({ri)‘]‘

Where, Average Generaliou per houlr during U month
(kWh) = Total generation in the month (KWh) + Total
hours of generation in the month
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The Generation Compensation shall be claimed as part of thie energy bill for the successive
montli after receipt of Regional Energy Accounts (REAY SEA/ JMR. No Trading Margin

shall be applicable on the Generation Compensation as provided in Ariicle 6.10.2 only,

ARTICLE J: FORCE MAJEURE
7.1 Definitions

7.1.1 Provisions of Force Majeuie provided in SECI-SPD PPA shall mutatis-matandis apply w this
Agreement and all associated obligations and liabilities shall be implemonted on back to back
basis. Further, in case Force Majeure provisions detailed hereunder are in conflict with SECI-

SPD PPA provisions, the provisigns detailed in the SECI-SPD PPA shall prevail:

7.2 Affected Party

7.2.1 An affected Party means Buyer or thc Buying Entity whose performance has been

adversely affected by an event of Force Majeure.

7.3.1 A ‘Force Majeure’ (FM) would mean one or more of the following acts, events or
circumstances or a combination of acts, ‘svents or circunistanoos or the consequonco(s)
thereof as specified bélow, that wholly ‘or paitly prevents or unavoidably delays the
performance by the Party (the Affected Party) of its obligations under the relevant this ’
Agreemerit, but orily if and to the extent thaf such everits or circurstances are not within
the reasenable control, directly or .indirectly, of the Affected Party and could not have
been avoided if the Affected Party had taken reasonable care or coriiplied with Prudent
Utility Practices:

7.3.1.1 Categorization of Force Majeure Events

7.3.1.1.1 Natural Force Majeure Evyent ¢
\ 5, h— & WS
- p ey ' BLV &
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a) Act of God, including, but not limited to lightuing, drought, fire and explosion
(te the extenl originating from a source external to the site), earthquake, volcanic
etuplion, landslide, flood, cyclone, Lyphoon ot lotmado if it is declared/ notified by
the competent state/ central authority/ agency (as applicable), or verified to the

sulislaetion of Proguion,

Y adioaclive conlainination o jonising  radiation otigivating  rom a soutce in
Licha ot tesultmp [om anothet Foree Megiewe Lveul mmentioned above exaluding,
circumstances where the source ot cause of contamination or radiation 1s brought or
has been brought into or ncar thc Power Project by the Affected Party or those

employed or engaged by the Affected Party;

¢) the discovery of geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological
teiaius vn the Ploject land that could not reasonably have been cxpected to be

discovered through an ingpeetion of the Project land; or

d) any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the events as specified
under Article 7.3.1.1.1 (a), 7.3.1.1.1 (b) and 7.3.1.1.1 (c).

7.3.1.1.2 Non-Natural Force Majeure Event

a) oy act of war (whether declarcd or undeclared), invasion, aymed conflict or act of
foreign enemy, blockade, embargo, revolution, riot, insurrcction, terrorist or military

action

b) nunation/state-wide strike, lockout, boycotts or other industrial disputes which are not
dircetly and solely attributable to the actions of the Affected Party. but does not

include strike or labour unrest limited to the Affected Party or its contractors;

¢) nationalisation or any comipulsory acquisition by any Indian Governmental

Instrumentality/ State Govemment in national interest or expropriation of any

material Project assets or rights of the Generator, as a result of which the Generator (- -~

' 4 Coans ST
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or its shareholders are deprived (wholly or partly) of their rights or entitlements
uider the Power Purchase Agreement. Provided that such action does not constitute
remedies or sanctions lawfully ‘excised, by the Procurer or any other Government
Authonty as a vesult of any breach of any of the Applicable Laws or the Applicable

Certuds by the Geuerator or the Generaton telated pactics

@) actiqn of a Government Authority having Material Adverse Effect including but not
lauited to changa in law. ouly il consequances theraol caanol be dealt with ander el
in acaardance with the provisions of Article 12 of this Agreement; any unlawful or
unautharised ar without jurisdiction revocation of, or refusal, or tailure Lo rencw or
grant withotit valid cause, any Permits of the Generatar or any of the clearance,
licence, authorization (o be obtained by the Contractors to perform thoir respaclive
obligations under the relevant PPA; pravided that such delay, madification, deuial,
refusal or revocation did not result from the Generator's or any Contractors inability
or failure to comply with any condition relating to grant, maintenance or renewil of

such I'ermits or clearance, licence, authorization, as the casc may be

7.3.1.1.3 Other Force Majeure Event

a) Aneveit of force majeure identified under Buyer-SPD PPA thereby affecling
supply of power by SPD.
b) An event of force majeure affecting the concerned STU/CTU, as the casc
1udy be, thetely alfecting (he evacuation of power Totn (e Delivery Poiuts
by Buying Entity;

7.4 Force Majeure Exclusions

7.4.1 Force Majeure shall not include (i)' any event or circuinstance which is Withih the
reasonable Gontrol of the Parties and (ii) the following conditions, except to the extent

that thiey are ¢oitsequences of an event of Force Majeure:

a. Non-perfonmance resulting from nowhdl wear and tear typically experienced in

power generation materials and equipment;

, _ (.
b. Strikes at the facilities of the Affected Party: \ _ ( Rt cé[‘ﬁ;
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¢c. Insufficiency of finances or funds or the agreement becoming onerous to perform;
and
d. Non-performance caused by, or connected with, the Affected Part y's:
i Negligent or intontional aots, orTors ot omissions;
i Eailure to caraply with an Indian Law: or
iii. Breach of, or default under this Agreement

¢. Exclusions as identified under SGCL-SPD PPA

7.5 Notification of Force Muajenre Event

75 1 The Affected Party shall give notice to the other Party of any event of Force Majeure as
soon as reasonably practicable, but not later than seven (7) days after the date on which
such Party knew or should reasonably have known of the commencement of the event of
Force Majeure. If an event of Force Majeure results in a breakdown of cormununications
rendering it unreasondble to give notice within the applicable time limit specified hereiu,
then thé Party claiming Force Majeurc shall give such notice as soon as reasonably

practicable after reinstatement of communications, but not later than one (1) day after

such reinstatement.

Provided that such nofice shall be a pre-condition to the Affected Paity’s entitlement to
claim relief under this Agreement. Such notice shall include full particulars of the event
of Force Majeure, its effécts on the Party claiming relief and the remedial measures
proposed. ‘The Atfected Party shall give the other Party regular (and not less than
mounthly) reports on the progress of those remedial measures and such other information

as the other Party may reasonably request about the Force Majeure Event.

7.5.2 The Affected Party shall give notice to the other Party of (i) the cessation of the relevant
event of Force Majeure; and (ii) the cessation of the effects of such event of Force
Majeure an the peilousance of its rights ot obligations under this Agreement, as sonn as

practicable after becoming aware of each of these cessations,

7.6 Dty in Pegform and Duty lo Mitigate

Do 7 I %L’f/ %/ foast s
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7.6.1 To the extent not prévented by a Force Majeure Event pursuant to Article 7.3, the Affected
Party shall continue to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement. The Affected
Party shall use its reasonabfe efforts to mitigate the effect of any Force Majeure Event as

st as pacticable
7.7 dvailuble Reliaf for a Firce Myjeure Event
7T Subject to this Arlicle 7

(a) No Party shall be e brsgeh of itk obligations putsuant o this Agteatneit oxoept
Lo the extent that the performance of ils obligations was prevented, hindered o
delayed duc to a Force Majeure Event,

{h) Tivery Party shall be eatitled to claim relief in relation to a Force Majeure
Lvent in vegard to its obligations as specified under this Agreement;

©) For avoidance ol doubi, neither Parly's vbligativn W make payments of inoney
due and payable prior to occurrence of Force Majeure events under this
Agreement shall be suspended or excused due to the occurrence of a Force
Majeure Event in respect of such Party.

(d) Provided that no payments shall be made by either Party affected by a Force
Majeure Lvent for the period of such event on account of its inability to perform

its obligations due to such Force Majeure Event;

J féjffé?‘?ﬁaﬁ?&g}é// PF(____,_. ({({;/ (((;\, 4\_,_&% .
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ARTICLE 8: CITANGE IN LAW
8.1 Definitiony
In thus Article &, the {ollowing terms shall have the following meanings:

8.1.1 "Change in Law™ means the occurrence of any of the following events after the date, which
is the Bid Submission Date resulting into any additional recurring/ nonrecurring
expenditure by SPD or any income to SPD:

- the enactment, coming into ellect, adoption, promulgation, amendment,
modification or repeal (without re-enactment or consolidation) in India, of any
Law, including rules and regulations framed pursuant to such Law;

+ a change in the interpretation or application of any Law by any lndian
Governmental Instrumentality having the legal power to interpret or apply such
Law, or any Competent Court of Law;

- the imposition of a requirement for obtaining any Consents, Clearances and
Permits which was not required earlier;

« a change in the terms and coaditions prescribed for obtaining any Consents,
Clearances and Pennits o1 the iuclusion of auy new lenus of conditious o1
obtaining such Consents, Clearances and Permits; except duc to any default of
the SPD:

< any change in tax or introduction of any tax made applicable for sale ot power by
Buyer to Buying Entity as per the terms of this Agreement

but shall not include (i) any change in tax on corporate income on account of regulatory
measures by the Appropriate Commission including calculation of Capuacity Utilization

faclor.

8.2 Relief for Change in Law

| VY-
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§.2.1 The aggrieved Party shall be required ta approach the Appropriate Commission for seeking
approval of Change in Law.

& 2 2 The decision of the Appropriate Commission (o acknowledge a Change in Law and the
date from which it will bacome affactive, provida celief for the same, shall bo final and
goveuring ou both the Parties.

ARTICLE 9 EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND TERMINATION
0.1 Bucying Lntity bvend of Default

9.1.1 The occurrence and continuation of any of the following evenils, unless any such cvent
ocours as a result of a Force Majeure Event shall constitute a Duying Entity Event of
Dyefauit:

{m Any amouni, subject to Article 6.0 remains outstanding beyend a perind of ninety (90)
days after the Due Date and Buyel is unabic o recover the amount cutstunding from
Buying Eutity Huwough the Letter of Credit; o

(i) Buying Entity fails to off-take power from the Delivery Point for 2 continuous period of
72 hours with a maximum cumulative period of60 (sixty) days in a Contract Yecar.

(iii)  if (a) Buying Entlily becomes voluntarily or inveluntarily the subject of any bankruptcy
or insolvency or windimg up proceedings and such proccedings remain uncontested for a
period of thirty (30) days, or (b) any ‘winding up or bankruptcy or irisolvency order is
passed against the Buying Entity, or (¢) the Buying Entity goes into liquidation or
dissolution or has a recerver ar any similar officer appointed over all or substantially all
of ite assets or afficial liquidator is appointed to manage its affairs, pursuant fo Law,
Pruvidcq that a dissolution or liquidation of Buying Entity will not be a Buying Entity
Bvent of Default if such dissolution or liquidation is for the purpose of a merger,
consolidation or reorganization and where the resulting company retains
creditworthiness similar to the Buying Entity and expressly assurnes all obligations of
the Buying Entity under this Agreenient and is in a position to perform them; or

(iv)  Buying Entity repudiates this Agreement and does not rectify such breach within a
periad of thirty (30) days from a notice from Buyer in this regard; or

v) except where due to any Buyer’s failure to comply with its material obli gations, Buying
Entity is in breach of any of its material obligations pursuaiit to this Agreement, and such

=
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imaterial breach is not rectified by Buying Entity within thirty (30) days of receipt of first
notice in this regard given by Buyer.
(vi)  occurreice of any other event which is specified in this Agreement to be a material

breaely/ default of Buying Lntity.

97?2 SFCI Event of Default

9 21 he oceanence aid contmuation of auy of tie (ollowing cveuls. unless wny such

event accurs as a result of a Force Majeure Event, shall constitute a SECI's Event of

Default:

(i) SLCI fails to supply power to the Delivery Points for a continuous period of onc
year.

(i) if (a) the SECI becomes voluntarily or involuntarily the subject of any bankruptey
or insolvency or winding up proceedings and such proceedings remain uncontested
for a period of thirty (30) days, or (b) any winding up or bankruptcy uf insolveney
order is passed against the SECI, or (c) the SECI goes into liguidation or dissolution
or has a recciver or any similar officer appointed over all ot substantially all of its
assets or official iiquidator is appointed to manage its affairs, pursuant to Law,
Provided that a dissolution or liquidation of the SECI will not be a SECI's Event of
Default if such dissolution or liquidation is for the purpose of a merger,
consolidation or reorganization and where the resulting company retains
creditworthiness similar to the SECH and expressly assumes all abligations of the
SECI under this Agreement and is ina position to perform them; or

(iti) SECI repudiates this Agreement and does not rectify such breach within a period of

thirty (30) days from a notice from SECI in this regard; or

(iv) cxcept where duc to any SECI's failure to comply with its niaterial obligations, the
SECI is in breach of any of its material obligations pursuant to this Agreement, and
such material breach is not rectified by the SECT within thirly (30) days of receipt
of first notice in this regard given by the Buying Entity.

(v) occurrence of any other event which is specified in this Agrecment to be a material

breach/ default of the SECL.
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9.3 Procedure for Event of Default )

9.3.1 Upon the occurrence and continuation of any BEvent of Default under Article 9.1 & 9.3, the
Party affectéd by such occwrence shall have the right Lo deliver the notice to the other
Paty, Slating ils intantion @ tenninate (his Agreetent (Preliminay Delault Notlce).
which shall speetly 1w reasonnble detail, the eireumstances giving rise to the issue of such
notice.

@ 1 7 Fallowing the iscue of Preliminary Defuult solice, the Consultation Penod of sty (60}
days or suel longer periodd ag the Parties may . agiree chall apply wad U shall be (he
responsibility of the Parties to discusy as o what sfeps sholl have to be takon with a view
to mitigale the consequences ol the relevant Bvent of Liefault having regard to all the
circumstances.

933 During the Consultation Period, the Partics shall. save as atherwise provided in this

Agreement. continue Lo perform their rospactive obligations under this Agrecment.

U7l

9.3.4 Within a period of seven (7) days following the expiry of the Consuliation Period unles
the Partws shall have otherwise agreed o the contrary or the Event of Default giving rise
1o the Consultation Period shall have ceased to exist or shall have been  remedied, the
Parfy may lerminate this Agreement by giving a written Termination Notice of thirty
(30) days to the other Party.
9.3.5 Subject (o the occurrence and continuation of detault by as contained under Article9.1.1 or

Article 9.2.1 and expiry of time period as per Article 9.3.4,

¥.4.5.1 Subjoct to tha prior conseut ol U 8ECL, the Duying Entity shall novate its part nfthe PSA
w any third paity, including ils Allates within the petiod of 210 days beyoud the petiod

as per Article 9.3.4,
8357 In the event the aforesaid nuvation is not acceptable to SECI, or it no offer of novation is
made by the defaulting Buying Entity within the stipulated period as per Article 93.5.1,
. theén SECI may terminate the PSA and at its discretion require the defaulting Buying Entity
to either (i) takeover the Project assets by making a payment of the tenmination
compensation equivalent to the amount of the debt due and the | 10% (one hundred and ten
per cent) of the Adjusted Equity less [nsurance Cover, if any as detailed in the Buyer-SFD
PPA or, (ii) pay to the SPD/SECI(as applicable), damages, equivalent to 6 (six) months, or

balance PPA period whichever is less, of charges for its contracted capacity, with the
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Project assets being retained by the SPD. In such event, any damages/ charges payable to

the STU/ CTU for the connectivity of the Project shall be bore by the Buying Fatity

9.4 Termination due to Force Majeure
94 11 e Towee Majeute Fyveut o its effeets continue o be present beyand a petiod of twelve
(12) oy, anylaly shall Lave the tight o cause enaination of the Agreeinenl lu
such an event this Agreement shall terminate on the date of such Termination Notice

without auy Qurllior Hability (o the Pattios Dot the date of sucl lormiinatiott,

9.5 Termination of back to back agreenents
In case of termination of Buyer-SPD PPA, this Agreement shall automatically terminate
but only to the extent of that particular Buyer-SPD PPA. Provided that in case of such
termination, any pending monetary liabilities of either Party shall survive the termination

of this Agreement.
9.0 Speciflc Performance of the Agreement

9.6.1 The Parties acknowledge thal a breach of lhe obligations contained hercin would result in
injuries. The parties hereby also agree that this Agreement is specifically enforceable at
the instance of any Party to this agreement.

9.6.2 Subject to Applicable Law and as granted by the court of appropriate jurisdiction, each of
the Party acknowledge that the other parties shall be entitled to seek specific performance
of thiis Agreerent in the event of a breach of the obligations or the tenns and conditions
contained herein.

9.6.3 Further, Parties herehy agree that nofhing mentioned herein under this Agreement shall be
taken to mean or construe that any penalty or damages shall be adequate compensation
for the breach of the obligations or the terms & conditions contained herein,

:m a»®
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ARTICLE 10: LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

10.1 Indemnity

10.1.1 Buying Lntity shall indemuify, dofend and hold Buyer/S D harmless against:

a)

1)

duy and all third paty cluims wpuinst Duye/SI'D for aoy loss of ot daiage Lo
propetty of such thitd patty, vt deatte o gy to such thitd prily, atising out of &
Lusach by the Duying PutityoCauy of its abligatious uuder this Agreeinent, wnd

auy and all losses, datnages, costs aud oxpenses including Llegal costs, tnes, peualties
and interest nctually suffered or incurred by Buyer/SPD Grom thivd pacty clalme
arising by reason of a breach by the Buyiig Entityol afy of its obligations under this
Agreement, (provided that this Article 10 shall not apply to such breaches by tlie
Buying Entity, for which speoific remedics huve been provided for under this

Agreement).

10.1.2 Buyer shall cause the SPD to indemnity, detend and hold Buying Entity harmliess against;

a)

b)

any and all third party claims against Buying Entity, for any loss of or damage to
property of such third party, or death or injury to such third party, arising out of a
breach by SPD of any of their obligations under this Agreement; and

any and all losses, damages, costs and expenses inchuding legal costs, fines, penalties
and interest (‘Indennifiable Losses’) actually suffered or incurred by Buying Entity
from third patty claims arising by tensod of a breach by SPI) of any of its
obligations Buyer shall incorporate apprapriate covenants in the PPA for the above
obligations of SPD. In so far as iind‘cmnify‘ to Buying Entity is concerned, SPD shall

be the indemnifying party and:-not Buyer.

10.2 Procedure for claiming Indeninity

10.2.1 Third party claims

a. Where the Indempnified Party is entitled to indemnification from the Indemnifying Party

pursuant to Article 10.1.1(a) or 10.1.2 (a), the Indemnified Patty shall promptly notify

the Indemnifyifig Patty of such c¢laim refemed to in Article 10.1.1¢2) or 10.1.2(a) in

respect of which it is entitled to be indemnified. Such notice shall be: given as soon} as
S
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10.3

10.3.1

reasonably practicable after the lndexmfiﬁ_ed Party becomes aware of such claim. The
Indemnifying Party shall be liable to setile the indemnification claim within thirty (30)

days of receipt of the above notice. Provided however that, if:

1} the Parties chioose (o refer the dispute 1 accordance withActiele 12 3 and
i) the claim amount is not required to be paid/ deposited to such thivd party

pending the resolution of the Dispute

the Indemnifying Party shall become liable to pay the claim amount to the Indemnified
Purly ot to llie thitd pasty, as the case uay be, promptly following the resolution of the

Dispute, if such Dispute is not settled in favour of the Indemnified Party.

The Indemmnified Party may contest the claim for which it 1s entitled to be Indemnified
under Article 10.1.1(a) of 10.1.2(a) and the Indemnifying Party shall reimburse to the
Indemnified Party all reasenable costs and expenses incured by the Indemnified party.
However, such Indemnified Party shall not settlc or comprorise such claim without tirst
getting the consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably

withheld or delayed.

An lndemnifying Party may, at its own expensc, assume control of the defence of any
proceedings brought against the Indemnified Party if it acknowledges its obligation to
indemmnify such Indemnified Party, gives such Inderanified Party prompt notice of its
intention to assume contral of the defence, and employs an independent legal counscl at

its own cost that is reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party.

Indemnifiable Losses

Where an [ndemnified Party is entitled to Indemnifiable Losses from the Indemnifying
Party pursuant to Article 10.1.1(b) ov 10.1.2 (b), the Indemnified Party shall promptly
notify the Indemnifying Party of the Indemnifiable Losses actually incurred by the
Indemnified Party. The Indemnifiable Losses shall be reimbursed by the Indemnifying
Party within thirty (30) days of receipt of the notice seeking Indemnifiable Lasses by the
\j f i,%m?ﬁrﬂ%/ | /k{;// ?_:—- A
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Indemnified Party. In case of non-payment of such losses after a valid notice under this
Article 10.3, such event shall constitute a payment default under Article 9.

10.4 Limitation on Liability

1041 FExeepl as expressly provided in this Agreement, neither Buving Entity nor Buyer/SPD
not ite/ ol respeclive  olfiuets, ditsctus, ageuts, omployees o alliliates (o1 their
oflicers, directots, ageots o ctuployees), shall be liable ou 1esponsible o the other Parly
oty allthiates, oflicers duectons, agent, cluployess, wiccensons o petiudled wssigns o
their wespective insimers fon incidental, indunect o1 cousequential damages, connecied
with or vesulting from performancc or non-perlormance of this  Agreement, or
anything donc in connection herewith, including claims in the nature of tost revenues,
income or profits {other than payments expressly required and properly due ider this
Agreement), any increased expense of, reduction in or loss of power generation ol
equipmen! used therefore, {rvespective of wheiher such claims are based upon breach of
warmanty, tort {inclnding negligence, whether of Buying Entity{ies), the SPD or others),
strict linbility, contract, bveach of statutory duty, operation of law or otherwise. The
Parties acknowledge and accept that the SECI is an Intermediary Company to purchase
and resell the electricity to the Buying Entity te enable Buying Entity to fulfill the
Renswable Purchase Obligations {RPO) as per provisions ol this Apreement and,
therefore, the performance of the obligatious of the SECI ander this Agreement shall be
subjcct to the ability of the SECI Lo enforce the corresponding obligations under PPA on
back-to-back basis. Further, any liability other than ISTS charges and losses arising out
of PPA shall be passed on to the Buying Entity under this Agreement on back-to-back
basis.

10.4.2 Buyer/SPD shall have no recourse against any officer, ditector or shareholder of Buying
Euiity or any Affiliate of Buying Entity or any of its officers, directors or shareholders
for su¢h claims excluded under this Article. Buying Entity shall have no recourse against
any officer, director or sharcholder of Buyer or SPD, or any affiliate of Buyer or any of

its officers, directors or shareholders for such claims excluded under this Article
: Q»—v\g %/)\
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10.5

Dty 1q Mitigaie

10.5.1 The Parties shall endeavour to take all reasonable steps go as mitigate any logs or damage

which has occurred under this Article 10.

ARTICLE 11: ASSIGNMENTS AND CHARGES

11.1

11.2
L12.1

AAscignnients

The patties acknowldge thal in tenns of the provisions of this agreecment self, there
will be assigninent, tansler and vesting of the uglus and obligations of Al Discows to
AP Rural Agriculture Power Supply Company Limited(APRAPSCOM)i.c. the Buying
Cntity will get transferred from AP Discoms lo AP Ruial Agricultuie Power Supply

Company Limited, as mentioned hereinabove.

Subject to'the ahave, this Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of
the Parties and their Tespective successors and permitted assigns. ‘This Agreement shall

not be ‘assigned by any Party other than by mutual consent between thie Parties to be

evidenced . -in writing.Except the assignment in favour of APRAPSCOM for other -

assignment the above clause is applicable

Provided that, such consent shall not be withheld if Buyer seeks to transfer to any
affiliate all of its fghts and obligations under this Agrecment.

Provided further that any successor(s) or permitted assign(s) identified after mutual
agrecmient between the Parties may be required to cxecute a new agreement on the samc

terms and conditions as are included in this Agreement.

Permitted Charges
Neither Party shall create or permit to subsist any encumbrance over all or any of its
rights and benefits under this Agreement. -
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ARTICLE (2: GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
12.1 Gaverning Law

1 Tas Apsanent shall be governed by and constined e aceardance with thie Laws of
India. Any legal proceedings In respect of any matters; claims or disputes arising out of
or in conncclion with this Agreement shall be under the jurisdiction of appropriate courts
in Delhi.

121 Amicable Ssttlement and Dispute Resolution

12.2.1 Amicable Setilenent

i Auy Party is cntitled to raise any claim, dispute or difference of whatever nature arising
under, out of or in contiection with this Agreement (“Dispute”) by giving a written
notice (Dispute Notice) to the other Party, which shall contain:

6] a description of the Dispute;
(i the grounds for suéh Dispute; and

(iit)y  all written material in support of'its clajm.

il The other Party shall, within thirty (30) days of issue of Dispute Notice issued under
Article 12.2.0 (i), fumish:
0] counter-claim and defentes, if ary, regarding the Dispute; and

(ii) all written material in'support.of its defences and counter-claiim. ~

iii. Within thirty (30) days of issue of Dispute Nofice by any Party pursuant to
Article12.2.1(i) if the otter Party does not furhish any counter claim or defence under
Article 12.2.1(ii) or thirty (30) days from the date of furnishing counter claims or
defence by the other Party, both the Pditles ta the Dispiite shall mieet to settle such
Dispute amicably. If the-Parties fail to resolve the Dispute amicably within thirty (30)
days from the later of the dates mentioned in this Article 12.2.1(jii), the Dispute shall be

refetred for dispute resolution in accordance with Article'12.3. ¢ r\§
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12.3 Dispute Resolution
12.3.1 Dispute Resolution by the Appropriate Commission

1. Where any Dispule (i) arises from a claim made by any Party for any change in
ordetermination of the ‘Fariff or any mattor related to “Tantft or claims made by auy.
Partywluel partly or wholly relale Lo auny climnge mtlie Lan(l ot dhiterination of any of
suchelnims could result in chiange i the Tarlff, or (i) relates to gay raaiter agreed Lo
hareferred to the Appropriate Commission, such Dispuie ghill be submitted to
adjudicatonby the Appropriate Commission. Appeal against the decisions ot the
AppioptiateC ormission shidl beomde wrtly us per e provisions of the Fleetcity Act,
2003, asamended from time to time.

ii. obligations of Buying Entity under this Agreernent towards Buyer shall not be affected
in any manner by reasen of inter-se disputes amongst Buying Entity.
i Buyer shall be entitled to co-opt the SPDas a supporting party in such proceedings

before the Appropriate Commission.

12.3.2 Not Used

12.4 Parties to Perform Obligations
12.4.1Notwithstanding the existence ot any Dispute and dilfeicnce referred  to  the
Appropriate Commission as provided in Article 12.3 and save as the Appropriate
Commission may otherwise direct by a final or interim order, the Parties hereto shall

continue to perform their respective obligations (which are not in dispute) under this

d preement . ( Q< o
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ARTICLE 13: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
13.1 Anmendment
{3.1.1 This Agreement may only be amended or supplemented by a writfen agreement between

tle Partics.

13.2 Third Parly Beaefleiaries
(v 2 1 Dl Agreenient s sulely G the beneQU of the Partios sl thell tespoeh vo sLecessoly unel
permitted assigns and shall not be construcd as creating any duly, staudaid ol cale ot any

liability to, atiy person not a party to this Agreement.

13.3 Waiver

—
L]
Lt
—

Na waiver hy cither Party of any default or breach by the other Patty in the performance
of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be cffective unless in writing duly

execuled by an authorised representative of suoh Party:

13.3.2 Neither the failure by either Party to insist on any occasion upon the performance of the
terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement nor time or other indulgence granted
by one Party to the other Parlies shall act as a waiver of such breach or acceptance olany
vaifation or the rélinquishment of any such o giit or any other fight under this Agreement,

whiclt shall remain in full force and effect.

13.4 Confidentiality
13.4.1 The Parlies undedalke 1o hald in confidence this Agreement and not to disclose the ters
and conditions of the traiisaction contemplated liereby to third parties, except:

a) to their professional advisors;

b) to their officers, coritractors, employees, agents or Tepreésentatives, financiers, who
need to have access to such information for the proper performance of their
activities; or

¢) disclosures required under Law

without the prior writteri consent of the other Partjes. c AL % %@D
g Y '
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13.5

Severability

13.5.1 The invalidity or unenforceability, for any reason, of any part of this Agreement shall not

1.6
(REON

prejudice  or affeel lhe validity or enforceability of (he remainder of this
Agreoment, unless the part held wwvahd or unenforceable (s fundamental to this

Agreement.

Notices

All notices o1 other communications which are requited to be given wicler  this
Agreement shal! be in writing and in the English language and shall be addressed to the
Officer designated for the purpose by respective parties with the address, phone number,
Email Id.Each of the parties shall provide the above details to the other parties at the time
of the signing of this Agreement and the sate shall be attached to this Agreement duly

signed by the Parties.

13.6.2A11 notices or communications given by facsimile shall be confirmed by sending a copy of

the same via post office in an envelope properly addressed to the appropriate Party for
delivery by registered mail. All notices shall be deerned validly delivered upon receipt
evidenced by an acknowledgement of the recipient, unless the Party delivering the notice
can prove in case of delivery through the registered post that the recipient refused to

acknowledge the reeeipt of the notice despite efforts of the postal authoritics.

13.6.3 Any Party may by noticc of at lcast fiftcen (15) days to the ather Party change the address

13.7

and/or addresses to which such notices and communications to it are to be delivered or

mailed.

Language

13.7.1 All agreements, comespondence and communications between the Parlies relating this

Agreement and all other documentation to be prepared and supplied under the
Agreement shall be written in English, and the Agreement shall be construed and

interpreted in accordance with English language.

13.7.2 If any of the agreements,correspundeuce, communications or documents are prepared in

any language other than Hnghsh, the English translation of such agreements,

correspondence, communications or documents shall prevail in matters ofirnerpret:ni{m_a
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13.8 Restriction of Shareholders / Ovwners’ Liability
13.8.1 Parties expressly ngrec and acknowledge that nonc of the sharcholders of the Partics
hercto shail be liable to the other Parties for any of the contractual obligations of the
concerned Party under this Agreement.  Further, the (inancial liabilities of the
shareholder/s of each Party to this Agreement shall be r(zslrictcd to the oxtent provided
in the Tndian Companies Adt, 1956/7013
130 Laves and Dudes
Lve | Duytug Gty shiadl bear and promptly pey all stwulony tuses, duties, levies dud cess,
assessed/ levied ou Buying Bulily, contiactors ol thein elployees, that are required (o be
paid by Buying Entity as per the Law in relation to the exeeution of the Agreement
13.9.2 Buyer shall be indemnilied and held harmless by Buying Bntity agaiust any clairas that
may be made against Buyer in relation to the matters set out in Article 13.9.1.
13.6.2 Buyer shall not be liable for any payment of, taxes, dutics, lovies, cess whatsaever for
discharging any obligation of Buying Entity by Buyer an behialf of Buying Entity ot its
personnel,

13.10 Ne Consequential or Indirect Losses

13.10.1The liability of Buying Entity, GoAP and SECIshall be limited to that explicitly provided
in this Agreement.
Provided that notwithstandifig anything contained in this Agreement, under no event
shall Buyer or Buying Entity ¢laim from one another ahy indirect or consequential losses

or damages,

13.11 Order of priority in. application
In case of incongisténcies between the agreement(s) executed between the Parties,
applicableLaw including rules and regulations framed thereunder, the order of priotity as

between them shal! be the order in which they are placed belaw:

i. applicable Law, niles and regulations framed thergunder;
ii. the Grid Code; and
iii.the terms and conditions of this Agreement rcad along with SECI-SPD PPA;

13.12 Independent Entity

C
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13.12.1 Buying Entity/Buyer shall be an independent entity performing its obligations pursuaint

to the Agreement.
13.12.2 Subject to the provisions of the Agrecment, cach of the Parties shall be solely
responsible for the manner in which the respective obligations under this Agreement arc
(o be petfonned. All etnployees and tepresentatives of Buyig Entity e connection with w
the performance of the Agreement shall be under the complete control of Buving Enlil\? % :
arel shall nor be (}g:mnrd to be e uployess: aepresentatives, of Huyel angl nothingds ¥
. ‘;‘,;i“_;’i}?“!‘x'f«f“" xp_-,Ll_'lr,;:u!\:p.lmmrmul (T I af;tnit‘-._'ri;ﬁ[1l‘t'frl_‘_;i:ct_.iul':'r_i»n.:'t awandud by Thayig l'!ullv';

il 2 oy L sl baens Jprl e ]..: ": :;
_cﬂm.@hﬁihb_nfﬁ.‘uth:{‘._cﬂtf'ulmtc dity couifuctual clafionsbiy butween auy suclh auployces, £ >4
Ay B0 shp e ERVHL . ' - TR
i Blfestiitatives or contractors and Buyer. FE I TE
13.13 Compliance with Linw % é‘
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Despile anything contained in this Agreement but without projudice o this Article, if any.] ";"l"‘ i”" o

- ] . : . ; - < LA

provision of this Agrccment shall be in deviation or inconsistent with or repugnant tox> § = =8 z

SR

the provisions contained in the Electricity Act, 2003, or any rules and regulations made
there under, such pravision af this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to the

extenl required to bring it into cempliance with the aforesaid relevant provisions as

amended from time to time.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have caused the Agreement to be executed through their

duly authorized representatives as of the date and place set forth above.

Fui and on behalf of [Far and on For und on Forand on For and on
| [SEGI] behalf of behalf of behalf of hehalf of -

(—ﬂ‘m B [Andhra |Andhra [Government

N A Pradesh {Andhra Pradesh ol Andhra
- (Central Power|Pradesh ISouthern Pradesh]
TN i’ . Distrib ution |Eastern PoweriPower
g ﬂ‘g r% Corporation  |Distribution  [Distribution
Eﬁg ii “% . Limited] Company (Company

: % : § Limijted| Limited] = .?é
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Signature with seal S“ignature " Signature Signature Signature
with seal with seal with seal with seal
Wilness: Witness: Wilness: Wilness: Witness:

\f.»“‘.’/"' 4 1 W K e Iaf""L ?. Ko, or N

L. L. 1. I
Genenal Manager/ Legal Gpue
Fenenn s ‘&l Matindres
O/o. CGM / Power Plirhse, 0/g] CGM ﬁ:::m"js;lr/ v
A‘}flP(CleyntS udha,  APPEC/ Vidyyy gonas >
jayawsda- 520(004. . 'I“Y*Wldu:%zz:ﬁg:“’
2. : 1

IHS [ 1ain

e e e eI B0S R BES St =R (e Jiige

{rmtensy w10 ADS) )/ (et 7 e may)
(Fandg xmng
sva

e oy ey ey 13 7 O SR 3 OR31
ROy e 3k o) g TD ge 1a SRR BOX I K

, s
C‘&M& g feresetk @"*’”‘ W




BUYER-BUYING ENTITY PSA

124

SCHEDULE 1: LIST OF LOAs ISSUED TO SPDs

[Shall be provided to Buying Entity within 3QDays of signing of PPA with SPD]

3 SCHEDUE 3: AMOUNT REALISATION FOR SALE OF SOLAR POWER

Applicable
Applicable T o
sl - Project Buying Entity Tarifl as pec ’ Elx'xllt)ri‘s A;g
o SPD Name Capacity Share (MW) SEC-SPD including
- (VW) as por PSA ITA tadhg
(R8/k W) i oL
margin
) S (Re/kWI).
Adani Green
Encrgy Four 6000 4667 242 2.49
Limited
Azure Power India 3000 2333 2.42 2.49
Private Limited
‘rotul T 7000
2 SCHEDULE 2: BUYER-SPD PPA

(i) The billing to Buying Entity shall be done by Buyer for realisation of amount for Solar

Power.

(1) The payments to be made by Buying Entity to Buyer for the Solar Power in a Monthly
Invoice shall camprise of amounts Lo be realized for Solar Power.

(iii) The Bills shall be raised by Buyer on Buying Entity as mentioned in clause 6.2

o [eoet P’E,M M*/
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F;JR E‘FE (A Government of India Enterprise)
vdTw Hivd ~ g mml &
No. SECI/PT/Manufacturing/Solar/2021/ September 15, 2021

DOr. Srikant Nagulapalli, IAS
Principal Secretary, Energy
Amravati, Andhra Pradesh

Subr Procurement of Salar Power under SECI's Manufacturing linked Solidr Scheme
Ref.: SECGHPT/Manufacturing/Solar/2020/ dated 24 July, 2020

Sir,

We have been very appreciative of Andlra Pradesh's commitment in adoption of new and renewable
sources of energy. It has used linovatlve methods to Integrate rencwable energy In its power mix to
ensure sustainability and utilisation of compatitive means available to integrate low cost sclutions.

lhe innovative maodel pramoted by GaAP (o dlilives renewable energy, with a view to achieve
sustainahle agricuiture growth while lowering cost of cuilivation by providing day-time power supply
10 farmers ai compeiitive prices, is nolewuiliy, This indeed will go a long way in uplifing the fiving

standards of (apnars, withoul increasing financial burden on the State DISCOMs. We have taken
note of the recent tender floaled by GoAP for 6400 MW of Salar Power with 50% Capacity Green
Shoe Option. As per the avallable information in public domain, few of the bidders have offered a
tariff of Rs. 2.49/kWh in the 1ender of GoAPR.

We wish to submit the following praposition for your acceptance:

1. SECI in pursuit of the cause of promoting renewable energy had recently worked under the
auspices of GOI's "Atma Nirbhar Bharat Abhiyan” by auctioning Manufacturing Linked Solar
Tender in Nov 2019. Basis, the tendering, awards were placed between Dec 2019 to June
2020 by 3ECI, wherein 12 GW of 1515 Connectsd Solar Projects were awarded in 4
Tranches of 3 GW each Commerclal Operatlon of Tranche-| Projects Is expected by Sep'
2023 and thereafter subsequent Tranche — I, Il & [V in Sep'2024, Sep'2025 and Sep’2026,
respectively. The lender shall entail aetting up of 3 GW pa capacity of manufacturing facilities
in the Country.

)

Qul ol ke above Solar project capacities, Tranche -| capacities have been offered to various
utilities and they have shown their willingness to purchase the same and PSAs are expected
to be finalised in due course. Postwhich SECI is in position to offer 9,000 MW capacity under
Tranche Ii, lli & iV i.e. 3000 MW each, {o be set up by Sep 2024, Sep 2025 and Sep 2026,
respectively.

3. The developers, who have been issued Latter of Award (LoA) have suo-moto offered
9GW under Tranche-ll, Il & IV under this scheme at a tariff of Rs. 2.49 / kWh including
SECI's trading margin, considering reduction of solar tariff in the recent tenders for
solar projects conducted nationwide and considering bulk capacity being offered.
Accordingly, offer is being made to Andhra Pradesh for the above bulk quantity that

has been offered by these developers b\ fu:‘\:: ‘é‘i

\ / CJJ n. KL&(’"
- o (et 7
E‘\L&‘r‘ﬂ“‘" / / (()Ve/,_/ e F‘age 1of2
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4. The Manufacturing linked PSAs would have following features:

1) Similar Tariff: SEbl offers this power at Rs. 2.49/kWh (inclusive applicable SEC!'s Trading
Margin) in line with the suc-moto offer of the developers who have been issued Letter of
Awzrd (LoA) under this scheme.

o) Agricultural Subsidy Savings: With this Tariff, the procurement may save substantial
amount In terms of reduction In agriculture subsidy uvel the P'SA lenure ol 2b years.

o ISTS Waiver: As a special incentive, Government of India hes granted 1415 charges
walver Lo solar prafecls sel up tnder Solar Manufacluriig tentes tor esnilire 286 yoars of PPA
life, maspective of sl cormmisstoning dale, thus o suclh chigiyges would be applicable an
GoAP.

o Park Infrastructure Available for Alternative Use: As the fand shall be procured by the
Solar Project developer, it frees up around 9, 000 MW solar park infrastructure being set up
by AP Govt, which can be used gainfully for future developments / projects.

o Better Integration of Solar Power: Given the phased commissioning of solar projects i.e.

- 3000 MW in each year from 2024, 2025 and 2028, it will help AP DISCOMs and STU to

methadically integrate this power in the power mix of the AP State, thereby reducing the
integration and balancing cost which AP Govi. had envisaged in their Tender.

Accordingly, it is our request to Government of AP to avail the entire 8,000 MW Solar capacity to be
set up during yeara 2024, 2026 and 2026 in tranches of 3000 MW each

We at SECI believe that Manufacturing Linked 9,000 MW solar power would be apt and befitting
alternative to GeAP's recent Tender and it would achieve all Its stated objectives including costs &
would be econurically cheaper. Besides, Al* will be supporting to the nation for development of
indigenous manufacluring under “Atina Nitblial Blalat Abliiyan”.

We logk forward to your tavorahle consideration and an early confiimation of the above offer

This issues with the approval of competent authority. (‘ i\) e < Qc_
) Thanking you,
Youre falthiully,

- \/} f Lﬁ(’,ﬁ_ﬂf.ﬂfﬁ/ ‘

., 3 &‘- cl.:;\
5.0 .202!
(Atulya Kumar Naik)
General Manager (PT)
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ANNEXURE 71%7

No. 23/12/2016-R&R
Government of [ndia
Ministry of Power

Shram Shakti Bhawan, Rafi Marg,

ard

New Delhi, 23" November, 2021

ORDER

Subject: Waiver of inter-state transmission charges on transmission of tho ecleetricity
sonerated (rom solae aud wind sotrees of energy wnder Para 6.:4(6) of the Cavdf Policy,
2016.

1.0 In exercise of the powers conlerred under section 3(3) of Clecuicity Act, 2003, the
Central Government notified the revised Tarift Policy on 28.01.2016.

2.0 In aceordanee with the Para 6.4(67 of the Twrill Policy 2006, Ministry ol Power issued
Order No. 23/12/2016-R&R dated 30.09.2016 on waiver of inler-stale ransmission
charges on transmission of 1he electricity generated ltom solar and wind sources of
energy. This order was amended vide orders dated 14.06.2017, 13.02.2018, 06,11.2019,
(15.08.2020, 15.01.2021 and 21.06.2021.

3.0 With a view to encourage faster capacity addition based on solar or wind energy sourees,
in supersession of aforesaid orders and in accordance with para 6.4 (6) of the Tariff
Policy. 2016 and sub-tule 12 of rule 5 of the Electricity (Transmission Syster1 Planning,
Development and Recovery ol Inter-State Transmission Charges) Rules, 2021, ihe
following are notified:

-3
f—

For the solar, wind, Tydro PSP and BESS Projects commissioned upto 30.06.2025, the
waiver of inter-state transmission charges shall be applicable for the following:

(i) Solar or wind energy generation set up by any person/entity. The power generated
from such sources can he self consumed or sold to any enfity either through
competitive bidding, Power Exchange or through bilateral agreement.

(ii) Electricity from solar and/or wind sources used by Hydro Pumped Storage Plant
(PSP) and Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) projects and subject to the
following conditions:

(a) atleast 51% of the annual electricity requirement for pumping of water in
the Hydro Pumped Storage Plant is met by use of electricity generated
from solar and/or wind power plants.

(b) atleast 51% the annual electricity requirement for charging of the Battery
Energy Storage System is met by use of electricity generated ﬁom solar

(?_\y{q»@: \a;d!?gd power 1:!11125 {O_L) L/H / (\J QD% cr[%
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Electricity generated / supplied from such Hydro PSP and BESS power plants as
mentioned in (ii) above.

For trading of electricity generated/supplied [rom solar. wind and sources
mentioned in (if) and (iii) above, in Green Term Ahead Market (GTAM) and
Green Day Ahead Market (GDAM) are upto 30.06.2025.

For Green Hydrogen production plants commissioned upto 30.06.2025. ie
Hydrogen produced using the electricity produced from solar, wind and sources
mentioned in @) and (i) abouve This waivel shall be applicable fov a periad ot 8
years [town the date of connnissioning ol suchi ydrogeu plaut.

Lot the powet genetated Lo solar aud witid enerpy as per RU bundling scheme
issued by Ministey of Power on 16.11.2021. Provided thal the evaeuation ol this
solar audfor wind power is being wade Tom the main substation ol the
Thermal/Hydio power plant and this dogs not lead to any additional cost in
augmentation of transmission system.

Further, no transmission charges for use of Inter State Transmission System
(ISTS) shall be levied, when solar and/or wind power from power plant situated ul
one Thermal/Hydro Generating Station is supplying to procurers of another
Generating Station, of the same Generating Company, loc_atecl at a different
location.

3.2 In order to have long term visibility and certainty to the renewable power generation. it is
also provided that ISTS charges shall be levied for the solar, wind, Hydro PSP and BESS
Projects commissioned atter 30.06.2025. gradually as per following trajectory:

S.No. Period of Commissioning Inter-State Transmission Charges
1 01.07.2025 (0 30.06.2026 25 % of the applicable ISTS charges
2 01.07.2026 to 30.06.2027 50% of the applicable ISTS charges
3 01.07.2027 10 30.06.2023 75% of the applicable ISTS charges
4 From 01.07.2028 100% of the applicable ISTS charges

4.0 The waiver shall be applicable, for a period of 25 years for solar, wind and Hydro PSP or
for a period of 12 years for BESS or for a period subsequently notified for future projects
by the Central Government, from the date of commissioning of the power plant.

-

1t is also clarified that waiver is allowed for Inter-state transmission charges only and not
losses. However, it is clarified that waiver of losses shall be applicable for the projects
p

whose bidding was completed upto 15.01.2021.
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6.0 This order shall be applied prospectively i.e. from the date of issue of order.

7.0 This issues with the approval of Minister for Power and NRE.

(Ghanshyam Prasad)
Joint Secretary to the GGovt. of India
Tel: 2371 0389

To
Secretary, CERC, New Delhi.

Copy to:

1. Secretary, MNRE, New Delhi.

2. Chairperson, Cential Electricity Authority, New Deihi.

3. Secretary in charge, Power/Energy Dept., State Governments/UTs.

4. Secretary, State Electricity. Regulatory Commissions/Joint Electricity Regulatory

Commissions.

Copy for information to:
PS to Minister for Power and NRE, APS (o MoSP.

Joint Secretaries/Chiel Engineer/Economic Adviser, Ministry of Power.
St. PPS (0 Secretaty (Power), PPS (0 AS (SKGR), IT'S w AS (VKD), 81. IS 1o JS

(R&R) )
g et

= b =
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ANNEXURE -t

—

Na.23/12/2016-R&R
Government of india
Ministry of Power

wedek
Shisin Shakti Bhiawan, New Dolhi,
Uated, the 30" November, 2021
ORBER
Subject; Waiver of inter-state transiiission charges oo (ransmission of

the electricity gene

froth soldfand

ind sources of anergy under Para 6.4
(§) of the Tatiff Peliay, 2016- Addendum regarding.

In continuation to the Ministry of Power Order No 22/12/2016-R&R dated
28.11,2021 and in supersession of order dated 26.11.2021 regarding, the waiver of
inter-state tanseiission Gharges on transmission ot the eleetricity generated from
saler and wind sotitges of ensray, | Am direcied 10 cornvey thiat the following para wilt
bie added after para 3.1 (i), of the: Order dated 23.11 .2021: =

(viiy for any solar, wind and sourees mentioned in para 3.1 (iiy and (fi) of
e Chder dated 28012021, wiich s aligitile for waiver of inter-state
transroission chatdes and is hiavifig its scheduled date of commissioning on or
bofore 40t Jarie 2025 is grarted extension of time from the: commissioning
by Miristry uf New and Repkwable Erergy aftor careful considerafion, on

gccount of Fores Majeure g for desley wir the paft of the transmigsion peavide
in providing the fransmission even aftef having taken the requisite steps in
time; or on account of défays o e partof ary Government Agency, and the
power plant 5 gommissiored before the extended date; it will get berefit: of
waiver of inter-state: transmission charges on the transmiission of slectricity
gerierated by sech power plant as i the said plarit had been commissioned em
or befare 30th June 2025;

Provided also fhat whete & Reriewable Energy generation ¢apacity
which s ehglble for ISTS waiver in terms of the extant ofders, is grarited

extension in ©AD by the competent authority, the commieneement and the

Qs o ety D’t/ %/ § ok
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period of the LTA shall alsg get extended accordingly, and it will be deemed
that the: perind of ISTS waiver is extended by the said periag.

2 | am further directed to convey that the following para shall be added after

prarer 3 2 of the Qrdor daled 23 711202

A3 1818 charges shall be waived far Solar PV power plants eommissionead
uonder BECE Tendst for manfaetiing finked capadly schietie (S Ma
SECUHCHPMRIS/Z2GW  Manufacturing/P W/R1/062019 dated 25.06.2019) for
salo to ontitios having RPO, trrespactive of whethw: this pawar is within RPO

ot nat.
3, This issuaes with the appraval of Compeatent Acitharity.
(f‘hﬂnsh}fam Prasady

Jhlrt Sedretary to tha Govt of Indja
Tels 01142371 0389

Ta
Senratury, GERC, New Dalhi
Gopy to:
1. Secretary, MNRE, 'N'.ew el
£. Chalrpersan, Ceritral Eleeiricity Atthority, New Delhi,
3, Secrelury iri charge, Power/Energy Dept., State GovermmentsiUTs.

4. Segretary, State Electricity Regulatory Gomniissionsilaint Eleoiricity
Regulatory Commissions.

Copy for infermatien to:

1. PSto Minister for Fower and NRE; ARS to MoSF.
2. Joint Secretaries/Ghief Baglneer/Esprbmic Adviser, Ministry of Power.
3, Si. PPY 15 Secretaty (Fower), PPS ta AS (SKGR), PPS to A8 (VKD), $r. PPS

SR \«) f(,/[_,ﬂuﬂ"g{ lD*t_/ i// QJ
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: Solar Energy Corporation of India Ltd.
wpiEtn  SUN FOREVER (A Government of India Enterprise) 2

EIE T - TFS Tl oo

Date: November 12, 2021

TO WHOM SO EVER IT MAY CONCERN

I, C. Kannan, Director (Financa), Solur Fnetgy Corporation of hidla tholted, New Dalhl do
heteby authorse Shrl Alalys Kwinar Nalk, General Managet {Powaer Irading & Counnercial)
to sigh Power $ale Agreement (PSA) of 7000 MW Solar Power wlth APDISCOMs / APPCC on

long term hasis

The signature of Shri Atulya Kumar Naik is hereby attested below.

{

C. Eanuan)
Dlrector (Firiance) =

e L LT LTS PR LY ER L TR

(Sighiature of Atutya Kurnar Naik)

i rater : 6 4 Hovel, Qe-d, TER Frafaa @ie -2, Regd. Office : 6th Floor, Plate-B, NBCC Ofiice Block Tower-
o freag TR, 75 [Ewi-110023 East Kidwai Nagar, New Delhi-110025

gATH/Phone : (011) 24666200/201, £—Aal/Email : corporate@sem co.in, ATUTS T/ Website: www.seci.co.in
W3ATSTA/CIN : U40106DL2011G0I1225263




Enclosure 5:

Newspaper clip of
Sri Balineni Srinivas Reddy’s
statement
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